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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To our stockholders:
You are cordially invited to attend the 2020 annual meeting of stockholders (‘‘annual meeting’’) of
Pinterest, Inc., a Delaware corporation (‘‘Pinterest’’ or the ‘‘company’’). The annual meeting will be held
exclusively online at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/PINS2020 on Thursday, May 21, 2020,
at 8:30 a.m. Pacific Time, for the following purposes:
1.

To elect the three Class I nominees for director named in the accompanying proxy statement to hold
office until the 2023 annual meeting and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified,
or until their office is otherwise vacated.

2.

To ratify the audit committee’s selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year 2020.

3.

To approve, on an advisory basis, the frequency of future advisory votes to approve our named
executive officers’ compensation.

4.

To conduct any other business properly brought before the annual meeting.

These proposals, as well as instructions for accessing the virtual annual meeting, are more fully described
in the accompanying proxy statement. The record date for the annual meeting is March 25, 2020.
Only stockholders of record at the close of business on that date may vote at the annual meeting or any
adjournment thereof.
By Order of the Board of Directors
/s/ Christine Flores
Christine Flores
General Counsel & Corporate Secretary
San Francisco, California
April 9, 2020
Important notice regarding the availability of proxy materials for Pinterest’s 2020 annual meeting
of stockholders: The notice, proxy statement and annual report are available at www.proxyvote.com.
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PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE 2020
ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To Be Held at 8:30 a.m. Pacific Time on Thursday, May 21, 2020
This proxy statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of your proxy by our board of directors
(‘‘board’’) to vote at the 2020 annual meeting of stockholders (‘‘annual meeting’’), including at any
adjournments or postponements of the annual meeting. This proxy statement contains information to be
voted on at the annual meeting and certain other information required by Securities and Exchange
Commission (‘‘SEC’’) rules. In accordance with SEC rules, we are making our proxy materials available at
www.proxyvote.com with an option to request a printed set be mailed to you. We expect to begin mailing
a notice of internet availability of proxy materials on April 9, 2020, to all stockholders of record entitled to
vote at the annual meeting. The notice contains instructions for viewing the proxy materials and voting
online and requesting a printed set of proxy materials.
You are cordially invited to attend the annual meeting on Thursday, May 21, 2020, at 8:30 a.m. Pacific Time,
which we are holding exclusively online via live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/PINS2020.
Whether or not you expect to attend the annual meeting, please vote online, as instructed in these materials,
as promptly as possible in order to ensure your representation at the annual meeting. Even if you have voted
by proxy, you may still vote at the virtual annual meeting by following the instructions under ‘‘Voting and Annual
Meeting Information’’.
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PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS
Our board is currently comprised of eight members. In accordance with our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation, our board is divided into three staggered classes of directors. At the annual
meeting, three Class I directors will be elected for a three-year term. Each director’s term continues until
the election and qualification of his or her successor, or until their office is otherwise vacated. Each of the
nominees standing for election at the annual meeting currently serves as a director. Two of the three
director nominees were elected by our stockholders prior to our initial public offering in April 2019 (‘‘IPO’’)
pursuant to the provisions of a voting agreement entered into by certain stockholders that terminated
upon the completion of our IPO. In February 2020, our board appointed Gokul Rajaram as a Class I
director until the annual meeting and nominated him for election at the annual meeting. Mr. Rajaram was
recommended by Benjamin Silbermann.
Upon recommendation by our nominating and corporate governance committee (which we refer to
throughout this proxy statement as the governance committee), the board has nominated Jeffrey Jordan,
Jeremy Levine and Gokul Rajaram for election for a term of three years (through the 2023 annual
meeting) and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified, or until their office is otherwise
vacated.
THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR EACH DIRECTOR NOMINEE
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Corporate Governance
Our Board of Directors
Our board is comprised of eight directors, divided into three classes. Each class consists, as nearly as
possible, of one-third of the total number of directors, and each class has a three-year term. The following
table provides summary information about each director, including the three nominees for election at the
annual meeting.

Name

Class Age

Director
Term
since Expires in

Principal
Occupation

Other
Public
Company
Boards

Our Committee
Membership

Jeffrey Jordan

I

61

2011

2020

Managing
Partner,
Andreessen
Horowitz

Leslie Kilgore

III

54

2019

2022

Former Chief
Committee
Inc.; Compensation
Marketing Officer, Netflix,
(member);
Audit
Medallia, Inc. Committee (member)
Netflix, Inc.

Jeremy Levine

I

46

2011

2020

Partner,
Bessemer
Venture Partners

Shopify Inc.

Governance Committee
(chair)

Gokul Rajaram

I

45

2020

2020

Caviar Lead,
DoorDash Inc.

The Trade
Desk Inc.

Governance Committee
(member)

Mondelez
International,
Inc.; United Audit Committee (chair)
Technologies
Corporation

None

Governance Committee
(member)

Fredric
Reynolds

II

69

2017

2021

Former EVP &
CFO, CBS
Corporation

Evan Sharp

II

37

2019

2021

Co-Founder,
Chief Design &
Creative Officer,
Pinterest, Inc.

None

None

None

Benjamin
Silbermann

III

37

2011

2022

Co-Founder,
Chairman,
President & CEO, None
Pinterest, Inc.

Michelle
Wilson*

II

57

2016

2021

Former SVP &
Compensation Committee
Inc.;
General Counsel, Okta,
(chair); Audit Committee
Zendesk
Inc.
Amazon.com, Inc.
(member)

•

Lead Independent Director

Board Diversity
Our board is composed of a diverse group of individuals, with varied experience and skills relevant to our
company. Many of the directors have senior leadership experience at major U.S. and international
companies. In these positions, they have also gained experience in areas, such as management, financial
planning, public company governance, sales and marketing and international business. Many of our
directors have experience serving on boards and board committees of other public companies, and have
an understanding of corporate governance practices and trends and different business processes,
challenges and strategies. Further, our directors also have other experience that makes them valuable
members of the board, including experience in established or growing technology companies.
The diversity, skills and experiences of our directors as described below, provide us with a diverse range
of perspectives and judgment necessary to guide our strategies and monitor their execution.
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The following charts reflect the age, gender and independence of the members of our board:
Age

Gender Diversity

Director Independence

2
Non-independent

2
Women

2
61-00
4
35-50

6
Men

2
51-60

6
Indepentent

The following reflects the experience and expertise of the members of our board:
Governance

Finance

6

5

Management

Sales and Marketing

6

3

Technology sector

Global companies

8
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Class I Director Nominees for Election at the 2020 Annual Meeting

Jeffrey Jordan
Managing Partner, Andreessen Horowitz
Director since 2011
Jeffrey Jordan has served at Andreessen Horowitz, a
venture capital firm, since 2011 and most recently as
a Managing Partner. Previously, Mr. Jordan served
as President and Chief Executive Officer of
OpenTable, Inc., an online restaurant reservation
service company, from 2007 to 2011. He served as
President of PayPal, Inc., an internet-based payment
system company then owned by internet retail
company eBay Inc., from 2004 to 2006, and as
Senior Vice President and General Manager of eBay
North America from 1999 to 2004. He also served as
Chief Financial Officer of Hollywood Entertainment, a
video rental company and as President of its
subsidiary, Reel.com. Previously, Mr. Jordan served
in various capacities at The Walt Disney Company,
an entertainment company, for eight years, most
recently as Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of The Disney Store Worldwide.
Prior to that, he worked for the Boston Consulting
Group, Inc., a management consulting firm.
Mr. Jordan currently serves on the board of several
private companies and previously served on the
board of OpenTable, Inc. from 2007 to 2013.

Our committees Governance Committee
(member)
Other current public boards None
Education Master of Business Administration,
Stanford University Graduate School of Business;
Bachelor of Arts, Amherst College
Relevant experience Extensive experience as a
venture capitalist and as an officer and director of
technology companies
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Jeremy Levine
Partner, Bessemer Venture Partners
Director since 2011
Jeremy Levine has served as a partner at
Bessemer Venture Partners, a venture capital firm,
since 2001, where his investment experience
includes entrepreneurial startups and high growth
companies including consumer internet, consumer
software and business software and services.
Prior to joining Bessemer, Mr. Levine was Vice
President of Operations at Dash.com Inc., an
internet software publisher, from 1999 to 2001.
Prior to Dash, Mr. Levine was an Associate at AEA
Investors, a management buyout firm, where he
specialized in consumer products and light
industries, from 1997 to 1999. Previously,
Mr. Levine was with McKinsey & Company, a
management consultant firm, as a management
consultant from 1995 to 1997. Mr. Levine
previously served on the board of directors of
MINDBODY Inc. from 2010 to 2017 and Yelp from
2005 to 2019.

Our committees Governance Committee
(chair)
Other current public boards Shopify, Inc.
(member of nominating and governance
committee)
Education Bachelor of Science, Duke University
Relevant experience Extensive experience with
technology companies, serving on the boards of
directors of public and private companies, and
experience as a venture capitalist

Gokul Rajaram
Caviar Lead, DoorDash, Inc.
Director since 2020
Gokul Rajaram has served as the Caviar Lead at
DoorDash, a food ordering service, since
November 2019. Previously, from 2013 to 2019,
Mr. Rajaram led several product development
teams at Square, Inc. a financial technology
company, most recently as the Caviar Lead. Prior
to Square, Inc., Mr. Rajaram served as Product
Director of Ads at Facebook, Inc., a social media
company, from 2010 to 2013. Previously,
Mr. Rajaram was Product Management Director
for Google AdSense, an online advertising
company. He previously served on the board of
RetailmeNot, Inc. and currently serves on the
board of Course Hero, Inc., which is a private
company.

Our committees Governance Committee
(member)
Other current public boards The Trade Desk
Inc. (member of compensation committee and
nominating and corporate governance committee)
Education Master of Computer Science,
University of Texas; Master of Business
Administration, The Massachusetts Institute of
Technology; Bachelor of Computer Science, Indian
Institute of Technology, Kanpur
Relevant experience Extensive experience with
product development and as an officer and
director of technology companies, including public
companies
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Class II Directors Continuing in Office Until the 2021 Annual Meeting

Fredric Reynolds
Former Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer, CBS Corporation
Director since 2017
Fredric Reynolds served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of CBS
Corporation, a mass media company, from 2006 to
2009. From 2001 to 2005, he served as President
and Chief Executive Officer of Viacom Television
Stations Group and as Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Viacom Inc., a mass
media company, from 2000 to 2001. He also
served as Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Westinghouse Electric
Corporation, a predecessor of CBS Corporation.
Prior to that, Mr. Reynolds held several positions
at PepsiCo, a food and beverage corporation, for
twelve years, including Chief Financial Officer or
Financial Officer at Pizza Hut, Pepsi Cola
International, Kentucky Fried Chicken Worldwide
and Frito Lay. Mr. Reynolds served on the board of
AOL, Inc. from 2009 to 2015 and on the board of
Hess Corporation from 2013 to 2019.

Our committees Audit Committee (Chair)
Other current public boards Mondelez
International, Inc. (chair of audit committee);
United Technologies Corporation (chair of audit
committee)
Education Bachelor in Business Administration,
University of Miami; Certified Public Accountant
Relevant experience Extensive financial,
leadership and media expertise, management
experience in a broad range of companies and
serving on the board of public companies

Evan Sharp
Co-Founder and Chief Design and Creative Officer,
Pinterest
Director since 2019
Evan Sharp is a Co-Founder of Pinterest and
serves as our Chief Design & Creative Officer. He
has overseen the creative, product and design
teams at Pinterest since 2011. He was previously
a product designer at Facebook, a social media
company, from 2010 to 2011.

Our committees None
Other current public boards None
Education Bachelor of Arts in History, University
of Chicago
Relevant experience Deep knowledge and
understanding of our business as a co-founder
and experience with product development and
design
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Michelle Wilson
Former Senior Vice President and General Counsel,
Amazon.com
Director since 2016
Michelle Wilson worked in various capacities,
including Senior Vice President and General
Counsel, at Amazon.com, Inc. an online retail
company, for 13 years until 2012. Previously,
Ms. Wilson was a partner at Perkins Coie LLP, a
law firm, and served as a member of the firm’s
executive committee. Ms. Wilson has also served
on the board of Stripe, Inc. since 2018.

Our committees Compensation Committee
(chair), Audit Committee (member)
Other current public boards Zendesk Inc.
(chair of nominating and corporate governance
committee and member of audit committee); Okta,
Inc. (chair of nominating and corporate governance
committee and member of compensation committee)
Education Juris Doctorate, University of Chicago;
Bachelor of Business Administration, University of
Washington
Relevant experience Significant experience as
an executive and board member in other technology
companies, as well as deep expertise and
experience in legal, compliance and human
resources

Class III Directors Continuing in Office Until the 2022 Annual Meeting

Leslie Kilgore
Former Chief Marketing Officer, Netflix, Inc.
Director since 2019
Leslie Kilgore served as Chief Marketing Officer of
Netflix, Inc., an online entertainment service, from
2000 to 2012. From 1999 to 2000, she served as
Director of Marketing of Amazon.com, Inc., an
internet retailer. Ms. Kilgore held various positions,
including Brand Manager, at The Proctor &
Gamble Company, a manufacturer and marketer
of consumer products, from 1992 to 1999.
Ms. Kilgore served on the board of LinkedIn
Corporation from 2010 to 2016 where she served
Leslie Kilgore served as Chief Marketing Officer of
Netflix, Inc., an online entertainment service, from
2000 to 2012. From 1999 to 2000, she served as
Director of Marketing of Amazon.com, Inc., an
internet retailer. Ms. Kilgore held various positions,
including Brand Manager, at The Proctor &
Gamble Company, a manufacturer and marketer
of consumer products, from 1992 to 1999.
Ms. Kilgore served on the board of LinkedIn
Corporation from 2010 to 2016 where she served
as the chair of their compensation committee.as
the chair of their compensation committee.

Our committees Audit Committee (member),
Compensation Committee (member)
Other current public boards Netflix, Inc.
(member of audit committee); Medallia, Inc.
(chair of nominating and corporate governance
committee and member of audit committee)
Education Master of Business Administration,
Stanford University Graduate School of Business;
Bachelor of Science, Wharton School of Business
at the University of Pennsylvania
Relevant experience Extensive experience as a
marketing executive with internet retailers and
consumer product companies and experience as a
board member of public and private companies
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Benjamin Silbermann
Co-Founder, Chairman, President and CEO, Pinterest
Director since 2008
Benjamin Silbermann is a Co-Founder of Pinterest Our committees None
and has served as our President and Chief
Executive Officer since 2012. Prior to co-founding
Other current public boards None
Pinterest, Mr. Silbermann worked at Google, a
technology company, from 2006 to 2008.
Education Bachelor of Arts, Yale University
Relevant experience Deep knowledge and
understanding of our company and business as
one of our co-founders and experience with
product development

Board Structure and Role
Our board is comprised of eight directors, divided into three classes. Each class consists, as nearly as
possible, of one-third of the total number of directors, and each class has a three-year term.

Board Leadership Structure
Our Co-Founder, President and CEO, Benjamin Silbermann, currently serves as chairman of the board,
and the board has appointed an independent director, Michelle Wilson, to serve as lead independent
director. Although our bylaws do not require that the positions of chairman and CEO be combined, we
believe that this structure is in the best interest of our company given Mr. Silbermann's deep
understanding of our business and culture, as well as his leadership in shaping and driving the company’s
strategic priorities and business plans. This structure also facilitates a regular flow of information between
management and the board and provides a clear chain of command. Our chairman, amongst other things:
•

presides over meetings of the board;

•

consults with the lead independent director on the agenda for board meetings;

•

consults, as needed, on evaluating and recommending candidates for election to the board; and

•

oversees the activities of the board.

In addition, our corporate governance guidelines provide that one of our independent directors should
serve as our lead independent director at any time when our chief executive officer serves as the
chairman or if the chairman is not otherwise independent. We have structured the lead independent
director role in a manner that reinforces the independence of the board and serves as an effective
balance to a combined chair and CEO. Among other things, the lead independent director:
•

presides over meetings of the board at which the chairman is not present, including executive
sessions of our independent directors;

•

coordinates the activities of the other independent directors, including establishing the agenda
for executive sessions and meetings with other non-management directors;

•

consults with the chairman on the agenda for board meetings, board materials, meeting
calendars and schedules;

•

serves as a liaison between the chairman and independent directors; and

•

performs any additional duties as the board may otherwise determine.
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Board’s Role
Our board oversees management’s performance on behalf of our stockholders. The primary responsibilities of
the board include: reviewing and overseeing the company's strategic direction and objectives; succession
planning for the CEO and key executives; overseeing the company's risk exposure; overseeing the company's
legal and regulatory compliance; monitoring the company's accounting and financial reporting practices and
controls; and evaluating the board's composition, performance and effectiveness.

Board’s Role in Risk Oversight
Our board is responsible for overseeing how we manage risk at Pinterest. This is carried out both at the
full board level and through each of the standing committees. The board and each committee meet
periodically with senior management to review risk oversight matters and periodically receive reports from
management on these matters. The full board is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk
exposure, including determining the nature and level of risk appropriate for the company, and the
committees are responsible for monitoring and assessing risks inherent in their respective oversight
functions as follows:
•

The audit committee oversees our enterprise risk management program and significant
financial risk exposures and certain legal, regulatory and operational risk exposures, including
with respect to information security, data protection and privacy.

•

The compensation committee oversees significant compensation and other employee-related
risk exposures, including risks and exposures associated with leadership assessment,
management succession planning, and executive compensation programs and arrangements,
including incentive plans.

•

The governance committee oversees significant governance risk exposures, including, with
respect to corporate governance, board effectiveness and board succession planning.

Director Independence
At least a majority of our board members, including all members of our audit, compensation and
governance committees are required to be independent under New York Stock Exchange (‘‘NYSE’’) listing
rules. The board, with the assistance of the governance committee, considers all relevant facts and
circumstances when making its independence determinations. A substantial majority of our board – six
out of eight directors – is independent.
The board has affirmatively determined that Mr. Jordan, Ms. Kilgore, Mr. Levine, Mr. Rajaram,
Mr. Reynolds and Ms. Wilson do not have relationships that would interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities as a director and that each of these directors is
‘‘independent’’ as that term is defined under the listing standards of the NYSE. In making these
determinations, the board considered the current and prior relationships that each non-employee director
has with our company and all other facts and circumstances our board deemed relevant in determining
their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director
and the transactions involving them. The board also took into account that Pinterest from time to time
engages in business in the ordinary course with entities where our directors are employed.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
We encourage all our directors to attend and actively participate in all in-person and telephonic meetings
of the board and any committees on which they serve. In 2019, each director attended 75% or more of
the aggregate number of meetings of the board and of the committees on which he or she served during
the period. Directors are also encouraged to attend the annual meeting.
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Board Selection and Evaluation
The governance committee is responsible for, among other things, overseeing succession planning for
directors and ensuring that we have a qualified board to oversee management’s execution of the
company’s strategy and safeguard the long-term interests of stockholders. In this regard, the governance
committee is charged with identifying, evaluating and recommending potential director candidates.
In identifying potential candidates for board membership, the governance committee considers
recommendations from directors, stockholders, management and others, including, from time to time,
executive search firms to assist it in locating qualified candidates. The governance committee does not
distinguish between nominees recommended by stockholders and other nominee recommendations.
Once potential director candidates are identified, the governance committee, with the assistance of
management, undertakes an extensive vetting process that considers each candidate’s background,
independence and fit with the board’s priorities. As part of this vetting process, the governance
committee, as well as other members of the board and the CEO, conducts a series of interviews with the
candidates. If the governance committee determines that a potential candidate meets the needs of the
board and has the desired qualifications, it recommends the candidate’s nomination or appointment to the
full board for consideration.
The governance committee strives to maintain an engaged, independent board with broad and diverse
experience and judgment that is committed to representing the long-term interests of our stockholders.
The governance committee considers a wide range of factors when selecting and recruiting director
candidates, including achieving:
•

an experienced and qualified board. The governance committee seeks directors with a record
of accomplishment in their chosen fields that are relevant to our company and its industry.

•

diversity. The governance committee seeks candidates representing a diversity of occupational
and personal backgrounds, knowledge, skills and viewpoints so that the board provides effective
oversight of the management of the company. The governance committee reviews the board's
effectiveness in balancing these considerations when assessing the composition of the board.

•

board refreshment. We believe that Pinterest benefits from fostering a mix of experienced
directors with a deep understanding of the company and its industry and those who bring fresh
perspectives. We have added four new directors to our board since 2017.

•

ideal board size. We have set the size of the board at eight directors, which currently includes
three Class I directors, three Class II directors and two Class III directors. The board believes
this size works well as it provides a sufficient number of directors on the board to achieve an
appropriate mix of experience and meet its oversight responsibilities, while promoting
accountability and efficiency.

•

personal attributes. We believe that all of our directors should possess the following personal
attributes: high integrity and good judgment, absence of legal or regulatory impediments,
independence of mind and strength of character to effectively represent the best interests of all
stockholders and provide practical insights and diverse perspectives, ability to act in an oversight
capacity, appreciation for the issues confronting a public company, adequate time to devote to
the board and its committees, and willingness to assume broad, fiduciary responsibilities on
behalf of all stockholders.

Stockholder Recommendations of Director Candidates
The governance committee considers director candidates recommended by stockholders. Stockholders
may recommend a candidate by writing to the Corporate Secretary at the company’s address listed on the
first page of this proxy statement, and including all information that our bylaws require for director
nominations.
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Board Evaluation
The lead independent director and the governance committee oversee the performance and annual
self-evaluation process for the board and each standing committee, including conducting surveys of
director observations and suggestions on the effectiveness of the board. The governance committee chair
and lead independent director discuss with the board and may make recommendations to the chairman of
the board on any changes as they deem necessary.

Board Committees
The board is elected by stockholders to oversee management and stockholders’ long-term interests. A
key function of the board is reviewing, approving (where appropriate) and actively monitoring
management’s execution of the company’s long-term strategic goals. The board actively engages on
Pinterest matters throughout the year, including at quarterly board meetings and meetings of each
committee, where they receive updates from key management personnel. The board and committees
also have telephonic board meetings as needed in between their quarterly meetings. Directors also
regularly engage with, and provide counsel to, management through informal calls and meetings.
Our board has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a governance committee,
the composition and responsibilities of each are described below.
The board has determined that each member of each committee is independent and meets the NYSE
and SEC independence standards for serving on such committee, as applicable. The board also has
determined that, in accordance with the SEC and NYSE rules, each member of the audit committee is
financially literate and Mr. Reynolds is an audit committee financial expert. Members serve on these
committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by the board. The board has adopted
written charters for each of the committees, which are available at
https://investor.pinterestinc.com/governance/governance-documents. Each of the committees has
authority to engage legal counsel or other experts or consultants as it deems appropriate to carry out its
responsibilities. The board may establish other committees as it deems necessary or appropriate from
time to time.
Audit Committee
The audit committee is primarily responsible for:
• overseeing the company's financial and
accounting reporting processes, including
disclosure controls, internal audit function,
internal controls and audits of the company's
consolidated financial statements;
• appointing or changing the company's auditors
and reviewing their independence, qualification
and performance;
• overseeing significant financial matters,
including tax planning, financial risk exposure,
dividends and share issuances and
repurchases; and
• overseeing the company's enterprise risk
management program, compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements
and information security, data protection and
privacy.

Current members
Fredric Reynolds (chair)
Leslie Kilgore (member)
Michelle Wilson (member)
Number of meetings held in 2019 5
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Compensation Committee
The compensation committee is primarily responsible
for:
• overseeing the compensation of the company's
directors and employees and related matters,
including matters relating to the attraction,
development and retention of employees;
• evaluating the performance of the executive
officers, including the CEO and determining
their compensation;
• evaluating the post service arrangement and
benefits of the executive officers, including the
CEO; and
• reviewing the operation and structure of the
company's compensation program periodically.

Current members
Michelle Wilson (chair)
Leslie Kilgore (member)
Number of meetings held in 2019 5

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
The governance committee is responsible for:
• evaluating the size, composition, organization
and governance of the board and its
committees;
• assisting the board in identifying and evaluating
candidates qualified to be appointed as a board
member;
• recommending potential candidates to the
board for its approval to propose such
candidates to the stockholders for election to
the board;
• reviewing and recommending to the board the
independence determinations of the directors
as well as recommending to the board the
composition of each committee; and
• reviewing the performance and annual
self-evaluation of the board and each of its
committees.

Current members
Jeremy Levine (chair)
Jeffrey Jordan (member)
Gokul Rajaram (member)
Number of meetings held in 2019

2

Other Governance Practices
Corporate Governance Guidelines
The board has adopted corporate governance guidelines, which you can find on our website
(https://investor.pinterestinc.com/governance/governance-documents), that we believe reflect the board’s
commitment to governance practices that enhance corporate responsibility and accountability. The board
annually reviews these guidelines, along with the charters for the board’s standing committees, so that
our policies and programs continue to reflect good corporate governance practices.

Code of Ethics
We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics applicable to our directors and employees,
including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer and other executive officers and all persons
performing similar functions. A copy of that code is available on our website
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(https://investor.pinterestinc.com/governance/governance-documents). We intend to disclose on our
website any future amendments to, or, material waivers from, the code to the extent applicable to our
executive officers or directors and required to be disclosed.

Stockholder Engagement and Communications with the Board
Members of our investor relations team and our management meet with our stockholders from time to
time to address their questions and concerns about our business and company. We also update our
board on investor feedback, when appropriate.
We also have a process by which stockholders may directly communicate with the board or any of its
directors. Stockholders who wish to communicate with the board may do so by sending written
communications addressed to the Corporate Secretary at the company’s address which can be found on
the first page of this proxy statement. These communications are reviewed by the Corporate Secretary to
determine whether it is appropriate for presentation to the board or such director. The purpose of this
screening is to avoid having the board consider irrelevant or inappropriate communications (such as
advertisements, solicitations, and product inquiries).

No Compensation Committee Interlocks or Insider Participation
None of the members of the compensation committee is currently, or has been at any time, one of our
officers or employees. None of our executive officers currently serve, or have served during the last year,
as a member of a board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more
executive officers serving as a member of our board or compensation committee.

Director Compensation
The compensation committee regularly reviews and assesses the form and amount of compensation
payable to our non-employee directors and, with the assistance of an external compensation consultant,
recommends any appropriate adjustments to the full board for approval. In 2019, in connection with and
effective upon our IPO, the board adopted a non-employee director compensation policy, pursuant to
which our non-employee directors receive the following compensation.
Cash Compensation(1)
Annual retainer
Additional annual retainer for lead director
Additional annual retainers for committee service
Audit Committee
Compensation Committee
Governance Committee

Chair

$ 50,000
$ 20,000
Member

$25,000
$20,000
$10,000

$ 12,500
$ 10,000
$ 5,000

Equity Compensation(2)
Initial grant of RSUs(3)
Annual grant of RSUs(4)

$400,000
$250,000

(1)

Paid in quarterly installments on a prospective basis, pro-rated for directors whose service commences during the year.

(2)

Amounts represent the approximate grant date fair value of RSUs that will be settled in shares of Class A common stock. All
awards granted pursuant to the director compensation policy vest, in addition to the schedules below, upon a change in control
of the company.

(3)

Award vests, subject to the director’s continued service, in equal annual installments on the first three anniversaries of the
director’s commencement of service. Applies only to directors appointed after the IPO which was in April 2019.

(4)

Award vests, subject to the director’s continued service, in full on the earlier of the first anniversary of the grant date or the day
prior to the company’s next annual meeting. The first such annual grant was made upon completion of the IPO in April 2019.

We believe that the cash and equity compensation we provide to our non-employee directors will be
sufficient to defray the cost of out-of-pocket travel expenses in connection with in-person attendance at
and participation in board and committee meetings. As a result, we do not reimburse our non-employee
directors for such out-of-pocket travel expenses.
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Directors who are also employees, Benjamin Silbermann and Evan Sharp, do not receive any additional
compensation for their services as a director.
The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by or paid to our non-employee
directors during 2019.
2019 Director Compensation Table
Name

Fees Earned or Paid in
Cash ($)

Stock Awards
($)(1)

All Other Compensation
($)

Total
($)

Jeffrey Jordan
Leslie Kilgore
Jeremy Levine
Fredric Reynolds
Michelle Wilson

41,250
54,375
45,000
56,250
76,875

249,995
652,153(2)
249,995
249,995
249,995

—
—
—
—
—

291,245
706,528
294,995
306,245
326,870

(1)

(2)

Reported amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of RSUs granted during 2019, as computed in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) Accounting Standards Codification (‘‘ASC’’) Topic 718. See Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2019 annual report on Form 10-K for the assumptions used in calculating
the grant date fair value. The grant date fair value does not necessarily correspond to the actual economic value that may be
realized for these awards. As of December 31, 2019, our non-employee directors had the following RSUs outstanding:
Mr. Jordan (9,671), Ms. Kilgore (30,184), Mr. Levine (9,671), Mr. Reynolds (65,921) and Ms. Wilson (22,171).
In addition to the annual grant received by all directors upon completion of the IPO, Ms. Kilgore received an initial grant of
20,513 RSUs upon her appointment to the board in March 2019.
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PROPOSAL 2: RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The audit committee has sole responsibility for the appointment, compensation and oversight of our
independent registered public accounting firm. At the annual meeting, you are being asked to ratify the
audit committee’s selection of Ernst & Young LLP (‘‘EY’’) to serve as our independent auditor for the year
ending December 31, 2020. EY has served as our independent auditor since 2013. The audit committee
believes that the continued retention of EY as our independent auditor is in the best interests of Pinterest
and its stockholders. Representatives of EY are expected to be present at the annual meeting. They will
have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to
respond to appropriate stockholder questions.
The board, upon recommendation of the audit committee, is submitting the selection of EY to
stockholders for ratification as a matter of good corporate governance. If stockholders do not ratify the
selection of EY, the audit committee will review its future selection of our independent auditor in light of
that result. Even if the selection is ratified, the audit committee may, in its discretion, appoint a new
independent auditor at any time during the year if it determines that such a change would be in the best
interests of the company and its stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR RATIFICATION
OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The following table represents aggregate fees for EY services for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018.
2019
($ in thousands)
Audit fees(1)
Audit-related fees(2)
Tax fees(3)
All other fees(4)
Total fees
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

3,989
398
903
44
5,334

2018
($ in thousands)
1,224
15
75
109
1,423

Consist of fees for services rendered in connection with the annual audit of our consolidated financial statements, the review of
our quarterly condensed consolidated financial statements, the filing of our Registration Statements including on Form S-1 in
connection with our IPO in 2019, services provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings, and consultations on
accounting matters directly related to the audit.
Consist of fees for services rendered in connection with preparation for compliance with section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
Consist of fees for services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning.
Consist of fees for all other services not included in the categories set forth above.
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Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
It is the policy of the audit committee to pre-approve, near the beginning of each fiscal year, all audit and
permissible non-audit services to be provided by the independent auditor during that fiscal year. The audit
committee also may pre-approve particular services during the fiscal year on a case-by-case basis.
The audit committee has delegated to the chair of the audit committee the authority to pre-approve such
specific services on a case-by-case basis for which the aggregated estimated fees do not exceed
$200,000. The audit committee or chair, as applicable, considers whether the provision of any non-audit
services is compatible with maintaining the independence of our independent auditor, and solicits the
input of management and the independent auditor on this issue. In 2019, the audit committee
pre-approved all services provided to the company by EY pursuant to the policies and procedures
described above, and the audit committee determined that all non-audit services provided to the company
by EY were compatible with the maintenance of EY’s independence in the conduct of its auditing
functions.

Audit Committee Report
The audit committee has reviewed and discussed with management the audited financial statements for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. The audit committee has discussed with EY, our independent
registered public accounting firm, the matters required to be discussed by the applicable requirements of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (‘‘PCAOB’’), including Auditing Standard No. 1301,
Communications with Audit Committees, as adopted by the PCAOB, and the SEC. The audit committee
has also received the written disclosures and the letter from EY required by applicable requirements of
the PCAOB regarding the firm’s communications with the audit committee concerning independence and
has discussed with EY the firm’s independence. Based on the foregoing, the audit committee has
recommended to the board that the audited financial statements be included in our 2019 annual report on
Form 10-K.

Members of the Audit Committee
Fredric Reynolds (Chair)
Leslie Kilgore
Michelle Wilson
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PROPOSAL 3: ADVISORY VOTE ON SAY-ON-PAY
FREQUENCY
In accordance with Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we are providing our
stockholders with the opportunity to express their view, on an advisory basis, regarding how often we
should provide our stockholders an opportunity to vote, on an advisory basis, on the compensation of our
named executive officers (commonly known as a say-on-pay vote). Stockholders may specify whether
they prefer such votes to occur every one year, two years or three years, or they may abstain from voting.
The board recommends that the company hold a say-on-pay vote every year.
Because this is an advisory vote, the result is not binding on the board. However, the board will give
careful consideration to the voting results on this proposal and expects to be guided by the alternative that
receives the greatest number of votes, even if that alternative does not receive a majority vote in
accordance with our bylaws. Notwithstanding the board’s recommendation and the outcome of the
stockholder vote, the board may in the future decide to conduct say-on-pay votes on a more or less
frequent basis and may vary its practice based on factors such as discussions with stockholders and the
adoption of material changes to compensation programs. Regardless of the frequency determined by the
board, it is expected that the first say-on-pay vote will be held at the 2021 annual meeting, in accordance
with the transition rules for post-emerging growth companies.
THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE TO HOLD SAY-ON-PAY VOTES EVERY ONE YEAR

Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Introduction
We became a public reporting company in April 2019. As of December 2019, we ceased to be an
emerging growth company and, therefore, this proxy statement includes information with respect to our
executive compensation program, policies, and practices that would not have been required had we been
an emerging growth company, including this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, certain additional
compensation tables as set forth following the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, and an advisory
vote of our stockholders on the preferred frequency of future stockholder advisory votes on the
compensation of our named executive officers, which is included as Proposal 3 in this proxy statement.
Further, our compensation committee was constituted in March 2019 and took its first action in April 2019.
As a result, all compensation-related actions described herein were taken by the full board prior to
establishment of the compensation committee.
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the compensation program for our chief executive
officer, our chief financial officer, and our three other highest paid executive officers (commonly referred to
as ‘‘named executive officers’’ or ‘‘NEOs’’). For 2019, our NEOs were:
•

Benjamin Silbermann, our Co-Founder, President and Chief Executive Officer (our ‘‘CEO’’)

•

Evan Sharp, our Co-Founder and Chief Design and Creative Officer

•

Françoise Brougher, our Chief Operating Officer

•

Christine Flores, our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

•

Todd Morgenfeld, our Chief Financial Officer

Françoise Brougher left the Company effective April 7, 2020 and Todd Morgenfeld, our Chief Financial
Officer, assumed her responsibilities.
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Compensation Philosophy and Program
Objectives. Our executive compensation program is guided by these objectives:
•

Drive achievement of Pinterest’s long-term mission;

•

Motivate team collaboration (company first, individual function second);

•

Attract and retain top talent by compensating competitively based on the executive’s market
value and performance; and

•

Align the interests of our executives with those of our stockholders.

Framework. To achieve these objectives, our executive compensation program has two compensation
elements: base salary and long-term equity incentive compensation. In addition, our NEOs are eligible to
participate in the standard benefit plans offered to our other employees, and are eligible for
post-employment compensation in certain situations as described below. We generally do not provide our
NEOs with perquisites or other personal benefits and do not have any defined benefit pension,
supplemental executive retirement or nonqualified deferred compensation plans.
Pay mix. The majority of our executive compensation is delivered in the form of equity awards. For
details, see ‘‘Summary Compensation Table’’ below. We believe that equity compensation in the form of
restricted stock unit (‘‘RSU’’) awards vesting over at least four years effectively supports all of our
compensation objectives, including achievement of our long-term mission, motivating and paying for team
and company performance, and aligning our executives’ interests with those of our stockholders.
Linking pay with performance. As described above, the majority of our NEOs’ target total direct
compensation is linked to the value of our stock, which will reflect how we create value over the long term.
In addition, executives are eligible to receive periodic grants following the annual review cycle. When
determining the amount of such awards, the compensation committee considers the company’s
performance as measured against financial, operational and strategic objectives as well as each named
executive officer’s individual contribution to that performance.
Governance. We endeavor to maintain sound governance standards through the administration of our
executive compensation program. The following table summarizes our compensation governance policies
and practices.
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What We Do

What We Don't Do

✓

fully independent compensation committee

x

pension and executive retirement plans

✓

independent compensation consultant to the
compensation committee

x

significant perquisites to executive officers

✓

annual review of the compensation program, best
practices and market trends

x

supplemental executive benefits

✓

majority of the compensation tied to stock value

x

employee and director hedging and pledging of our
equity securities

✓

annual review of succession plans for key officers

x

tax gross-ups on change in control payments

✓

‘‘double trigger’’ termination required for vesting in
equity in connection with change in control

x

dividends or equivalents on unvested RSUs

x

vesting in equity upon termination outside of
change in control

The compensation committee, in consultation with its external compensation consultant, will continue to
assess and update our executive compensation program to ensure it best supports Pinterest’s long-term
mission and growth. We have also proposed, in this proxy statement, that our shareholders vote annually,
on an advisory basis, on our executive compensation.

Compensation-Setting Process
The compensation committee reviews our executive compensation program annually to assess whether
our program structure continues to be aligned with our compensation philosophy and program objectives
as described above. In connection with this review, the compensation committee makes any necessary or
appropriate modifications and enhancements to our program and also evaluates and establishes target
total direct compensation opportunities for each of our named executive officers.
The compensation committee’s decision making for our NEOs' compensation is guided by the factors
listed below. The compensation committee does not weigh these factors in any predetermined manner,
and no single factor is determinative in selecting compensation elements and setting compensation
levels. Members of the compensation committee consider all of this information in light of their individual
experience; knowledge of the company, the competitive market, and each named executive officer; and
business judgment. The list of factors that the compensation committee considers include:
•

our executive compensation program objectives;

•

our performance against the financial, operational and strategic objectives established by the
compensation committee and the board;

•

each of our named executive officer’s roles and responsibilities, qualifications, knowledge, skills,
experience, and tenure, including on a relative basis to other similarly situated executives at the
companies in our compensation peer group;

•

the performance of each of our named executive officers, based on a qualitative assessment of
his or her contributions to our overall performance, ability to lead his or her business unit or
function, ability to collaborate across the company and potential to contribute to our long-term
financial, operational and strategic objectives;

•

an analysis of competitive market data (as described below);

•

the unrealized value and other terms of the outstanding unvested equity awards held by each of
our named executive officers; and

•

the recommendations of our CEO with respect to the compensation of our other named
executive officers.
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Competitive positioning. For purposes of comparing our executive compensation against the
competitive market, the compensation committee reviews the compensation levels and practices of a
group of peer companies that are similar to Pinterest in location, industry, size and growth. For 2019,
the compensation peer group consisted of the following companies:
Arista Networks

Grubhub Inc.

Shopify Inc.

TripAdvisor, Inc.

Autodesk, Inc.

LogMeln, Inc.

Snap Inc.

Twitter, Inc.

DocuSign, Inc.

Palo Alto Networks, Inc.

Splunk Inc.

Workday, Inc.

Dropbox, Inc.

RedHat, Inc.

SS&C Technologies, Inc.

Zillow Group, Inc.

GoDaddy Inc.

ServiceNow, Inc.

Tableau Software*

* Tableau Software was acquired by Salesforce.com, Inc. in 2019.

The above compensation peer group for 2019 was approved by the board in December 2018, with input
from our external compensation consultant. The following criteria was used by the board to identify
comparable companies:
•

publicly traded companies, generally headquartered in the United States;

•

similar industry;

•

similar revenue growth and size, within a size range of approximately 0.25 to 6.0 times our last
four quarters’ revenue; and

•

similar market capitalization, within a range of approximately 0.25 to 4.0 times our market
capitalization.

As described above, compensation decisions are not based solely on competitive market data. Rather,
this market data serves as one point of reference, among others, to aid in understanding the competitive
market for executive positions in our industry. The compensation committee reviews our compensation
peer group at least annually and adjusts its composition as warranted, taking into account changes in our
business and that of the companies in the peer group.

Compensation Elements for 2019
Base salaries. Consistent with our compensation philosophy and focus on long-term value creation, base
salaries are not a major portion of the target total direct compensation for our NEOs. For 2019, base
salaries for our NEOs ranged from $197,100 for our CEO to $360,500 for our CFO.The compensation
committee may adjust the base salaries of our NEOs as part of its annual executive compensation review
and in the event of a promotion or significant change in responsibilities. In establishing base salary
amounts and adjustments, the compensation committee generally considers the factors as described
above. For 2019, the base salaries of our NEOs were maintained at their 2018 levels. For more
information, see 2019 Summary Compensation Table.
Long-term equity incentive compensation (RSUs). Consistent with our compensation philosophy and
focus on our long-term mission and value creation, the majority of our NEOs’ target total direct
compensation is delivered in the form of RSU awards vesting over a multi-year period, typically four or
five years. In establishing the amount and terms of these awards, the compensation committee generally
considers the factors described above under the Compensation-Setting Process. NEOs may receive
larger awards upon hire or in connection with a promotion or significant change in responsibilities, and do
not necessarily receive awards every year. For 2019, the board approved equity awards for three NEOs:
•

Benjamin Silbermann and Evan Sharp received RSU awards each with a grant date fair value of
$45.7 million which vest over five years as described under the ‘‘2019 Grants of Plan-Based
Awards Table’’ below. These were special, one-time ‘‘Founder’s’’ awards granted by the board in
advance of our IPO after considering both their past individual performance, expected future
contributions, continued importance to driving the growth of our business and the achievement of
our long-term mission and strategy.
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•

Françoise Brougher received an RSU award with a grant date fair value of $21.4 million which
vests quarterly over five years as described under the ‘‘2019 Grants of Plan-Based Awards
Table’’ below. This award was granted by the board in 2019 after considering her past
performance, expected future contributions and the criticality of her role to Pinterest, and
expected contributions, as well as the total unrealized value of her outstanding equity awards
and their vesting terms relative to our compensation peer group data and other Pinterest
executives.

Benefits. Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in the same employee benefits that are
generally available to all our full-time employees, subject to the satisfaction of certain eligibility
requirements. These benefits include medical and dental insurance, life insurance, short- and long-term
disability insurance and commuter benefits. In addition, we maintain a Section 401(k) savings plan that
provides eligible U.S. employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax-advantaged basis by
deferring eligible compensation up to certain limits as set forth in the Internal Revenue Code. In addition,
we have the ability to make matching and discretionary cash contributions to the Section 401(k) plan,
though we have not done so in 2019. Participants are immediately fully vested in both their own
contributions and any company contributions. In structuring these benefit programs, we seek to provide
an aggregate level of benefits that is comparable to those provided by similarly situated companies.
We do not provide any nonqualified deferred compensation benefits and do not have any defined benefit
pension or supplemental executive retirement plans.
Perquisites and other personal benefits. We do not view perquisites or other personal benefits as
important to achieving our compensation objectives. Accordingly, we maintain a general benefits program
for all employees and do not provide perquisites or other personal benefits to our executive officers
except where we believe it is appropriate to achieve our compensation objectives and to assist our
executive officers in the performance of their duties. During 2019, our named executive officers did not
receive any perquisites or other personal benefits, except for benefits that are generally available to all
our employees and reimbursement (without an associated tax gross-up) of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act
filing fees paid by Mr. Silbermann as a result of his stock ownership in the company.

Post-Employment Compensation Arrangements
What we do. We have entered into executive severance & change in control agreements with each of our
named executive officers. These agreements provide severance payments if the named executive
officer’s employment is terminated without cause as well as ‘‘double-trigger’’ change in control payments
and vesting of equity in the event that the named executive officer’s employment is terminated without
cause or the executive resigns for good reason within a specified period before and after a change in
control of the company. We do not provide any of our named executive officers with a ‘‘gross-up’’ or other
reimbursement payment for any tax liability as a result of the application of Sections 280G or 4999 of the
Code.
Why we do it. We believe that having reasonable and competitive post-employment compensation
arrangements is essential to attracting and retaining highly qualified executives as well as facilitating their
transition from the company when appropriate. These severance payments are designed to provide
reasonable compensation to the executives who leave the company under certain circumstances to
facilitate their transition to new employment. In addition, they are designed to align the interests of our
named executive officers and our stockholders in the event of a potential change in control of the
company by helping our executives maintain focus on pursuing corporate transactions that are in the best
interests of our stockholders regardless of whether those transactions may result in their own job loss.
We seek to mitigate any potential employer liability and avoid future disputes or litigation by requiring a
departing executive to sign a separation and release agreement acceptable to us as a condition to
receiving post-employment compensation.
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The compensation committee does not consider the specific amounts payable under these
post-employment compensation arrangements when establishing the annual compensation of our named
executive officers. We believe, however, that these arrangements are an important component of
competitive compensation packages. For a description of the terms of these agreements, as well as an
estimate of the potential payments payable under these agreements, see ‘‘Potential Payments upon
Termination or Change in Control’’ below.

Roles and Responsibilities
Role of our compensation committee. The compensation committee performs the responsibilities of the
board relating to the compensation of the non-employee members of the board and our executive officers.
The compensation committee has overall responsibility for reviewing our compensation philosophy and
strategy, overseeing our compensation and benefits policies generally, and overseeing and evaluating the
compensation plans, policies, and practices applicable to our CEO as well as our other executive officers.
The compensation committee operates pursuant to a written charter, which is available on our website
(see the first page of this proxy statement).
Role of our chief executive officer. In discharging its responsibilities, the compensation committee
works with members of our management, including our CEO. Management assists the compensation
committee by providing information on corporate and individual performance, market compensation data,
and management’s perspective on compensation matters. The compensation committee solicits and
reviews our CEO’s recommendations with respect to adjustments to base salaries, long-term equity
incentive compensation opportunities, program structures, and other compensation-related matters for
our named executive officers (other than with respect to his own compensation) and considers them as
one factor in determining compensation. Our CEO recuses himself from all discussions and
recommendations regarding his own compensation and is not present when his compensation is
discussed.
Role of our compensation consultant. Pursuant to its charter, the compensation committee has the
authority to retain the services of external compensation advisors, as it determines in its sole discretion,
including compensation consultants and legal, accounting, and other advisors, to assist in the design and
evaluation of our executive compensation program and arrangements and associated pay decisions.
The compensation committee makes all determinations regarding the engagement, fees, and services of
these advisors, and any such advisor reports directly to the compensation committee or the chair of the
committee. For 2019, we engaged Compensia, Inc. after evaluating that firm’s independence pursuant to
applicable SEC and NYSE rules and determining that Compensia’s work did not give rise to any conflict
of interest. Compensia did not provide any services to us other than advice and support with respect to
executive and non-employee director compensation, including: the levels of overall compensation and
each element of compensation for our executives; peer group selection; market trends for executive and
non-employee director compensation; equity compensation; a risk assessment of our compensation
programs; and input on this Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

Other Compensation Policies and Practices
Employment arrangements. Although our named executive officers are employed ‘‘at-will’’ and their
employment can be terminated at any time for any reason with or without cause, we have entered into
employment agreements or offer letters with each of our named executive officers to establish an initial
base salary and eligibility to participate in our employee benefit programs.
Anti-hedging and pledging policies. Under our insider trading policy, our employees, including our
executive officers, and non-employee directors are prohibited from the following transactions: entering
into hedging or monetizing transactions or similar arrangements with respect to our securities, including
collars, equity swaps, exchange funds and forward contracts; holding our securities in a margin account
or pledging our securities as collateral for a loan, unless approved in advance; short selling our securities;
and engaging in any transaction in publicly traded options in our securities, including puts or calls or other
derivative securities.
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Compensation risk considerations. The compensation committee has reviewed our compensation
policies and practices, in consultation with its external compensation consultant, to assess whether they
encourage our employees to take inappropriate risks. After reviewing and assessing our compensation
philosophy, policies, and practices, including the mix of fixed vs. variable and short- vs. long-term
compensation, overall pay and incentive structures, the risk mitigating features built into our programs,
and the independent board oversight of our programs, the compensation committee has determined that
any risks arising from our compensation policies and practices for our employees are not reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on the company as a whole.
Tax deductibility considerations. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally disallows
public companies to take a tax deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes of compensation in excess
of $1 million paid in a year to a covered employee. Once an individual has been determined to be a
covered employee, the deduction limitation applies indefinitely. While Pinterest is not subject to
Section 162(m) under transition rules for newly public companies, in approving the amount and form of
compensation for our named executive officers, the compensation committee considers all elements of
the cost of providing such compensation, including the potential impact of Section 162(m) in the future.
However, the compensation committee believes that our stockholders’ interests are best served by
retaining flexibility to award compensation that may result in non-deductible compensation expense.
Therefore, the compensation committee has the discretion to pay compensation that is not deductible by
virtue of the deduction limit of Section 162(m).
Accounting considerations. In approving the amount and form of compensation for our named
executive officers, the compensation committee considers the impact of FASB ASC Topic 718, which
requires us to measure and recognize the compensation expense for all share-based payment awards
made to our employees and directors, including RSU awards that may be settled for shares of our
Class A and Class B common stock, based on the grant date fair value of these awards.

Compensation Committee Report
The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis contained in this proxy statement. Based on this review and discussion,
the compensation committee has recommended to the board that the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis be included in this proxy statement and incorporated into the company’s 2019 annual report on
Form 10-K.
Members of the Compensation Committee
Michelle Wilson (Chair)
Leslie Kilgore
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Compensation Tables
Summary Compensation
The following table shows the compensation awarded or paid to, or earned by, our named executive officers
for 2019 and 2018, as applicable, in accordance with the SEC’s transition rules for newly public companies.
2019 Summary Compensation Table
All Other
Compensation
($)

Name and Principal Position

Year

Benjamin Silbermann
Co-Founder, President & CEO

2019

197,100

—

45,745,013

2018

197,100

—

—

—

197,100

Evan Sharp
Co-Founder, Chief Creative & Design Officer

2019

330,000

—

45,745,013

—

46,075,013

Françoise Brougher
Chief Operating Officer

2019

309,545

21,352,493

—

21,737,038

Christine Flores
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

2019

345,000

—

—

—

345,000

Todd Morgenfeld
Chief Financial Officer

2019
2018

360,500
360,500

—
—

—
22,028,696

—
—

360,500
22,389,196

(1)

(2)
(3)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)(1)

Salary
($)

75,000(3)

280,000(2)

Total
($)
46,222,113

Reported amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of RSUs granted during the years shown, as computed in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2019 annual report on
Form 10-K for the assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value. These amounts do not reflect the actual economic
value that may be realized from such awards.
Reflects Hart-Scott-Rodino Act filing fees paid on Mr. Silbermann’s behalf in connection with his Pinterest stock ownership.
Reflects a sign-on bonus payable under the terms of Ms. Brougher’s offer letter dated March 2018.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards
The following table shows certain information regarding grants of plan-based awards to our named
executive officers in 2019.
2019 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table
Name
Benjamin Silbermann
Evan Sharp
Françoise Brougher
Christine Flores
Todd Morgenfeld
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Grant
Date
3/21/19
3/21/19
4/4/19
—
—

All Other Stock Awards: Number of
Shares of Stock or Units (#)(1)
2,333,334(3)
2,333,334(3)
1,083,333(4)
—
—

Grant Date Fair Value of Stock
Awards($)(2)
45,745,013
45,745,013
21,352,493
—
—

Reflects RSUs granted during 2019 that will be settled in shares of our common stock once the requisite vesting conditions are
satisfied. RSUs granted prior to our IPO in April 2019 are subject to both a service condition, which is typically satisfied over
four years, and a performance condition, which was deemed satisfied upon the pricing of our IPO. The schedule associated
with the service-based vesting condition varies for each grant of RSUs as described below and is subject to the recipient’s
continued service with the company through each such date. Holders of RSUs do not have any voting, dividend or other
ownership rights in the shares subject to the award unless and until the award vests and the shares are issued.
Reported amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value, as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2019 annual report on Form 10-K for the assumptions used in calculating the
grant date fair value. These amounts do not reflect the actual economic value that may be realized from such awards.
Reflects the ‘‘founders grants’’ to our Co-Founders prior to our IPO. The award provides that the service-based vesting
condition will be satisfied for 5% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period during the five-year period
commencing on April 20, 2019.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for (i) 5% of the total number of RSUs at the end
of each three-month period occurring during the one-year period commencing on March 20, 2019 and ending on March 20,
2020; (ii) 1.25% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period occurring during the two-year period
commencing on March 20, 2020 and ending on March 20, 2022; and (iii) 8.75% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each
three-month period occurring during the two-year period commencing on March 20, 2022 and ending on March 20, 2024
(a total vesting period of five years).
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Outstanding Equity Awards
The following table shows certain information with respect to the outstanding equity awards held by our
named executive officers as of December 31, 2019. The vesting schedule applicable to each outstanding
equity award is described in the footnotes to the table. For information with respect to the vesting
acceleration provisions applicable to the equity awards held by our named executive officers, see
‘‘Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control’’ below.
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal 2019 Year-End Table
Option Awards(1)
Number of Securities Underlying
Unexercised Options
Name

Exercise
Price per Expiration
Unexercisable Share ($)
Date

Market
Value(3) ($)

4/25/23
—

—
2,100,001

—
39,144,019

0.037
0.574
4.416
—

8/1/21
6/20/22
1/16/25
—

—
—
—
2,100,001

—
—
—
39,144,019

—
—

—
—

—
—

750,000
920,834

13,980,000
17,164,346

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

218,748
524,996

4,077,463
9,785,925

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

270,832
1,049,992

5,048,308
19,571,851

Exercisable

Benjamin Silbermann

4/25/13
3/21/19(4)

10,000,835
—

—
—

1.878
—

Evan Sharp

8/1/11
6/20/12
1/16/15
3/21/19(5)

2,126,950
4,252,572
1,756,336
—

—
—
—
—

Françoise Brougher

4/30/18(6)
4/4/19(7)

—
—

Christine Flores

8/8/17(8)
8/1/18(9)

Todd Morgenfeld

2/3/17(10)
8/1/18(11)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

shares or units of stock
that have not vested
Number(2)

Grant Date

(1)

Stock Awards(1)

All of the outstanding equity awards reported in this table were granted under either the 2009 Stock Plan (in the case of
awards granted pre-IPO) or the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (in the case of awards granted since our IPO). Awards granted
under the 2009 Stock Plan will be settled in shares of our Class B common stock. Awards granted under the 2019 Omnibus
Incentive Plan will be settled in shares of our Class A common stock.
Awards granted prior to our IPO in April 2019 had vesting conditions that required satisfaction of both (i) a service-based
vesting condition; and (ii) a liquidity-based vesting condition. The schedule associated with the service-based vesting condition
varies for each grant of RSUs as described below and is subject to the recipient’s continued service with the company through
each such date.
Based on the closing price of our Class A common stock of $18.64 per share as of December 31, 2019.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for 5% of the total number of RSUs at the end of
each three-month period during the five-year period commencing on April 20, 2019 and ending on April 20, 2024.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for 5% of the total number of RSUs at the end of
each three-month period during the five-year period commencing on April 20, 2019 and ending on April 20, 2024.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for (i) 10% of the total number of RSUs at the end
of the one-year period commencing on March 20, 2018 and ending on March 20, 2019; (ii) 5% of the total number of RSUs at
the end of each three-month period occurring during the one-year period commencing on March 20, 2019 and ending on
March 20, 2020; (iii) 7.5% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period occurring during the one-year
commencing on March 20, 2020 and ending on March 20, 2021; and (iv) 10% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each
three-month period occurring during the one-year period commencing on March 20, 2021 and ending on March 20, 2022.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for (i) 5% of the total number of RSUs at the end
of each three-month period occurring during the one-year period commencing on March 20, 2019 and ending on March 20,
2020; (ii) 1.25% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period occurring during the two-year period
commencing on March 20, 2020 and ending on March 20, 2022; and (iii) 8.75% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each
three-month period occurring during the two-year period commencing on March 20, 2022 and ending on March 20, 2024.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for (i) 25% of the total number of RSUs on May 1,
2018; and (ii) 6.25% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period occurring during the three-year period
commencing on May 1, 2018 and ending on May 1, 2021.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for (i) 2.5% of the total number of RSUs at the
end of each three-month period during the two-year period commencing on December 20, 2018 and ending on December 20,
2020; and (ii) 10% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period during the two-year period commencing
on December 20, 2020 and ending on December 20, 2022.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for 6.25% of the total number of RSUs at the end
of each three-month period during the four-year period commencing on November 7, 2016 and ending on November 7, 2020.
The award provides that the service-based vesting condition will be satisfied for (i) 2.5% of the total number of RSUs at the
end of each three-month period occurring during the two-year period commencing on December 20, 2018 and ending on
December 20, 2020; and (ii) 10% of the total number of RSUs at the end of each three-month period occurring during the
two-year period commencing on December 20, 2020 and ending on December 20, 2022.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested
The following table shows information regarding the number and value of shares of common stock
acquired during 2019 by our named executive officers from the vesting of RSUs and exercise of stock
options.
2019 Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table
Option Award Exercises
Name
Benjamin Silbermann
Evan Sharp
Françoise Brougher
Christine Flores
Todd Morgenfeld

Stock Award Vestings

Shares
Acquired (#)

Value Realized ($)(2)

Shares Acquired (#)(1)

Value Realized ($)(3)

399,000
—
—
—
—

7,128,933
—
—
—
—

991,666
566,666
412,499
422,922
929,175

25,390,144
15,123,278
11,077,475
10,958,387
23,642,025

(1)

Includes RSUs for which the time-based vesting condition occurred prior to 2019, but for which the performance vesting
condition tied to the IPO was not met until our IPO in April 2019.

(2)

The value realized on exercise is the difference between the closing price of our Class A common stock on the date of exercise
minus the exercise price.
The value realized on vesting is based on the closing price of our Class A common stock on the vesting date, or if such date
was not a trading day, on the day immediately preceding trading day.

(3)

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control
We have entered into executive severance and change in control agreements with our named executive
officers. The agreements provide cash payments if the executive’s employment is terminated without
cause as well as full acceleration of vesting of outstanding equity awards (including stock options) under
‘‘double-trigger’’ change in control benefits where the executive’s employment is terminated without cause
or the executive resigns for good reason within a specified period before and after a change in control of
the company. These payments and benefits are described in more detail and quantified below. All of the
payments and benefits provided under these agreements are subject to the named executive officer’s
execution of a general release of claims against the company and continued adherence to the terms of a
confidential information and invention assignment agreement with the company.
In addition to the above, the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan provides that in the event of termination upon
death or disability, an employee who holds stock options or his or her beneficiary (in the event of death)
may exercise any outstanding vested stock options at any time as follows: (i) in the event of disability,
during six months following termination; and (ii) in the event of death, during 12 months following death or
if earlier, termination.
Termination without cause not involving a change in control. If a named executive officer is
terminated without cause, the named executive officer would receive: (i) a lump sum cash payment equal
to six months of base salary; and (ii) if the named executive officer is eligible for and elects continued
coverage under COBRA, a lump sum cash payment equal to the cost of six months of company-paid
health insurance continuation coverage.
Involuntary termination involving a change in control. If a named executive officer is terminated
without cause or the named executive officer resigns with good reason, in each case, within 90 days prior
to or one year following a change in control of the company, the named executive officer would receive:
(i) a lump sum cash payment equal to one year of base salary; (ii) if the named executive officer is eligible
for and elects continued coverage under COBRA, a lump sum cash payment equal to the cost of twelve
months of company-paid health insurance continuation coverage; and (iii) full accelerated vesting of all
outstanding equity awards. Separately, upon a change in control of the company, in the event that a
named executive officer’s equity awards are not assumed, substituted or otherwise continued or replaced
with similar equity awards, such awards will vest in full regardless of whether the officer terminates
employment. These payments and acceleration of vesting are subject to a ‘‘best net after-tax’’ provision to
reduce the amounts paid in the event that they would trigger excise tax penalties and loss of deductibility
under Sections 280G and 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code.
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Definitions. For purposes of these agreements:
•

‘‘Cause’’ means any of the following: (i) executive fails to perform his or her duties and
responsibilities; (ii) an act of dishonesty or misrepresentation that would cause serious injury,
including reputational harm, to the company; (iii) executive’s unauthorized use or disclosure of
any proprietary information or trade secrets; (iv) executive commits a material breach of any
written agreement between executive and the company; (v) executive fails to comply with written
policies or rules; (vi) executive willfully refuses to implement or follow a directive from supervisor;
(vii) executive fails to perform the essential job duties associated with the position;
(viii) executive’s intentional violation of any law or regulation; (ix) executive’s conviction of a
felony, another crime involving moral turpitude or any crime (whether or not a felony) against the
company; or (x) executive’s failure to comply with any reasonable investigation or formal
proceeding.

•

‘‘Good Reason’’ means any of the following: (i) a material reduction in executive’s duties in
effect immediately prior to the reduction, but the following are not material reductions: (x) a
change of title alone, (y) any change made due to a Change in Control (as defined below), and
(z) not being nominated to the board; (ii) a change in office location which increases the
executive’s one-way commute by more than 35 miles; or (iii) executive’s base salary is reduced
by more than ten percent.

•

‘‘Change in Control’’ means any of the following: (i) an acquiror owns more than 50% of the
company’s stock; (ii) a merger or business combination; (iii) a majority of the board is replaced
during a 12-month period by directors who are not supported by the existing board; or (iv) an
acquiror acquires all or almost all of the company’s assets. A transaction shall not constitute a
Change in Control if (x) its only purpose is to change the state of the company’s incorporation;
and (y) the conversion of class B common stock into class A common stock resulted in an entity
or person holding more than 50% of the total voting power of the company.

In connection with her departure from the company, Françoise Brougher will receive severance in
accordance with the executive severance and change in control agreement described above.
Estimated payments as of December 31, 2019. The following table presents the estimated payments
that each of our named executive officers would have been entitled to receive under these agreements
assuming that a termination of employment and, where applicable, a change in control of the company
had occurred as of December 31, 2019 and based on the closing price per share of our Class A common
stock on the last trading day of the year ($18.64 on December 31, 2019). Amounts actually received if any
of the named executive officers cease to be employed will vary based on factors such as the timing during
the year of any such event, the company’s stock price, and any changes to our benefit arrangements and
policies. Amounts shown do not include: (i) benefits earned during the term of the named executive
officer’s employment that are available to all benefit-eligible salaried employees; and (ii) the value of
vested equity awards that the named executive officer is entitled to regardless of whether employment is
terminated.
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2019 Potential Termination Payments Table

Benefit

Termination
Without Cause
($)

Termination Without Cause or for
Good Reason in Connection with
Change in Control
($)

Lump sum severance payment(1)
Value of accelerated RSUs(2)
Total
Lump sum severance payment(1)
Value of accelerated RSUs(2)
Total
Lump sum severance payment(1)
Value of accelerated RSUs(2)
Total
Lump sum severance payment(1)
Value of accelerated RSUs(2)
Total
Lump sum severance payment(1)
Value of accelerated RSUs(2)
Total

115,358
—
115,358
181,808
—
181,808
180,231
—
180,231
184,309
—
184,309
195,570
—
195,570

230,715
39,144,019
39,374,734
363,615
39,144,019
39,507,634
360,462
31,144,346
31,504,808
368,618
13,863,388
14,232,006
391,139
24,620,159
25,011,299

Name
Benjamin Silbermann

Evan Sharp

Françoise Brougher

Christine Flores

Todd Morgenfeld

(1)

(2)

Reported amounts are based on the 2019 base salary of each named executive officer and includes the estimated cost of
health insurance continuation coverage (paid in lump sum if the NEO elects such coverage) as of the end of the last fiscal year
and the severance period specified in the Executive Severance & Change in Control Agreement.
Reported amounts represent the number of unvested RSUs as of the end of the last fiscal year multiplied by the closing price
per share of our Class A common stock on the last trading day of the year. This is the same value that would apply in the event
of a change in control of the company where the awards are not assumed or substituted (as described above).

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2019, with respect to the shares of our
common stock that may be issued under our 2009 Stock Plan and 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Plan Category
Plans approved by
security holders(1)
Plans not approved by
security holders
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

Securities to be Issued upon
Exercise of Outstanding
Options, Warrants and
Rights
(#)
113,756,552(2)
—

Weighted-Average Exercise
Price of Outstanding
Options, Warrants and
Rights
($)
2.25(3)
—

Securities Remaining
Available for Future
Issuance under Equity
Compensation Plans
(#)
89,911,091(4)
—

The 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2019
Omnibus Incentive Plan will automatically increase on each January 1, commencing on January 1, 2020 and ending on
(and including) January 1, 2029, in an amount equal to 5% of the total number of shares of Class A and Class B common
stock outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31.
Includes 49,963,207 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs awarded under our 2009 Stock Plan and
56,965,565 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options granted under our 2009 Stock Plan.
Each share of our Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of our Class A common
stock. Each share of our Class B common stock will convert automatically into one share of our Class A common stock upon any
transfer, whether or not for value, except certain transfers to entities, including certain charities and foundations, to the extent the
transferor retains sole dispositive power and exclusive voting control with respect to the shares of Class B common stock, and
certain other transfers described in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Upon the death or permanent incapacity of
each holder of Class B common stock who is a natural person, the Class B common stock held by that person or his or her
permitted estate planning entities will convert automatically into Class A common stock. However, shares of Class B common stock
held by Benjamin Silbermann or his permitted estate planning entities or other permitted transferees will not convert automatically
into Class A common stock until a time that is between 90 and 540 days after his death or permanent incapacity, as determined by
the board of directors. In addition, all shares of Class B common stock will automatically convert into shares of Class A common
stock on (i) the seven-year anniversary of the closing date of this offering, except with respect to shares of Class B common stock
held by any holder that continues to beneficially own at least 50% of the number of shares of Class B common stock that such
holder beneficially owned immediately prior to completion of this offering; and (ii) a date that is between 90 and 540 days, as
determined by the board of directors, after the death or permanent incapacity of Mr. Silbermann. Includes 6,827,780 shares of
Class A common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs awarded under our 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
Excludes RSUs as they have no exercise price.
Reflects shares available for future issuance under the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (excluding shares underlying outstanding
awards).
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OTHER MATTERS
Executive Officers
The following table sets forth information for our executive officers as of April 1, 2020. Our executive
officers are appointed by and serve at the discretion of the board, and each holds office until his or her
successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. There are no
family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.
Name
Benjamin Silbermann
Evan Sharp*
Françoise Brougher
Christine Flores
Todd Morgenfeld

*

Age

Position

37
37
54
45
48

Co-Founder, Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
Co-Founder, Director, Chief Design & Creative Officer
Chief Operating Officer
General Counsel & Corporate Secretary
Chief Financial Officer

* See ‘‘Our Board of Directors’’ for the backgrounds for Messrs. Silbermann and Sharp.

Françoise Brougher has served as our Chief Operating Officer from March 2018 until April 2020. Prior to
joining Pinterest, Ms. Brougher led the business unit at Square, Inc., a mobile financial technology
company, from 2013 to 2017 and served as the Vice President of Small and Medium-Sized Business
Global Sales and Operations at Google, a technology company, from 2009 to 2013. She was Vice
President of the Business Operations Group at Google from 2005 to 2009. Ms. Brougher holds a Masters
in Engineering from Institut Catholique d’Arts et Metiers and a Master of Business Administration from
Harvard Business School.
Christine Flores has served as our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since May 2017. Prior to
joining Pinterest, Ms. Flores served at Google, a technology company, from 2007 to 2017, most recently
as Vice President of Legal. Ms. Flores holds Juris Doctorate and Bachelor of Arts from the University of
Southern California.
Todd Morgenfeld has served as our Chief Financial Officer since November 2016. Prior to joining
Pinterest, he served as Vice President of Finance at Twitter, a social networking company, from 2015 to
2016 and Treasurer and Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and Corporate Financial
Analytics at Hewlett-Packard Company, a multinational information technology company, from 2013 to
2015. He served as an investment partner at Silver Lake, a private equity firm from 2004 to 2013.
He currently serves on the board of Urban Outfitters, Inc. Mr. Morgenfeld holds a Master of Business
Administration from Stanford Graduate School of Business and a Bachelor of Science from the United
States Military Academy, where he graduated first in his class.
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Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock as of March 31, 2020, by: (i) each director and nominee for
director; (ii) each named executive officer; (iii) all current executive officers and directors as a group; and
(iv) each person or group known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Class A
common stock or Class B common stock. We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with
the rules and regulations of the SEC. These rules generally provide that a person is the beneficial owner
of securities if such person has or shares the power to vote (or direct the voting) or to dispose (or direct
the disposition) of such securities or has the right to acquire these powers within 60 days. Unless
otherwise indicated, and subject to community property laws where applicable, based on the information
available to us, the company believes that each of the stockholders named in the table has sole voting
and investment power over the reported shares. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each
stockholder is c/o Pinterest at the company’s address set forth on the first page of this proxy statement.
Applicable percentages are based on 398,929,335 shares of Class A common stock and 182,910,503
shares of Class B common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2020, adjusted as required by SEC rules.
We have deemed shares of our Class B common stock subject to stock options that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2020 to be outstanding and to be beneficially
owned by the person holding the stock option for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of
that person only. We have deemed shares of our Class A common stock and of our Class B common
stock subject to RSUs that are vested (or are expected to become vested within 60 days of March 31,
2020) to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the RSUs for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of that person only.
The Class B common stock is convertible at any time by the holder into shares of Class A common stock
on a share-for-share basis, such that each holder of Class B common stock beneficially owns an
equivalent number of shares of Class A common stock. Percentage of total voting power represents
voting power with respect to all shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock, voting
together as a single class, with each share of our Class A common stock entitled to one vote per share
and each share of our Class B common stock entitled to 20 votes per share. The holders of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a
vote of our stockholders, except as may be otherwise required by law or our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation.
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The information provided in the table is based on our records, information filed with the SEC and
information provided to us, except where otherwise noted.

Name of Beneficial Owner
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Benjamin Silbermann(1)
Evan Sharp(2)
Françoise Brougher(3)
Christine Flores(4)
Todd Morgenfeld(5)
Jeffrey Jordan(6)
Lesley Kilgore(7)
Jeremy Levine(8)
Gokul Rajaram(9)
Fredric Reynolds(10)
Michelle Wilson(11)
All directors and executive officers as a group(12)
Other 5% Stockholders
Entities affiliated with Bessemer Venture Partners(13)
Entities affiliated with Andreessen Horowitz(14)
Paul Sciarra(15)
Entities affiliated with FirstMark(16)
The Vanguard Group(17)
Flossbach von Storch AG(18)
FMR LLC(19)

Class A Common Stock

Class B Common Stock

Shares

% of
Class

Shares

% of
Class

% of Total
Voting
Power

—
—
—
294,872
726,345
131,239
9,671
654,342
1,531
49,671
9,671
1,877,342

—
—
—
—
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

50,246,508
9,774,358
244,362
148,091
81,518
—
6,837
—
—
56,250
100,000
60,698,505

27.47
5.34
*
*
—
—
—
—
—
*
*
33.18

24.77
4.82
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
29.97

—
1,161,760
—
13,322,293
23,674,680
22,022,939
21,835,568

—
*
—
3.34
5.93
5.52
5.47

38,647,781
27,192,626
41,607,697
22,203,819
—
—
—

21.13
14.87
22.75
12.14
—
—
—

19.05
13.43
20.51
11.27
*
*
*

*

Represents beneficial ownership or voting power of less than one percent

(1)

Includes (i) 565,479 shares of Class B common stock held by Benjamin Silbermann; (ii) 40,133,288 shares of Class B
common stock held by Benjamin W. Silbermann and Divya Silbermann, as trustees of the Benjamin and Divya Silbermann
Family Trust (the ‘‘Trust’’); (iii) 9,431,075 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options
held by Mr. Silbermann; and (iv) 116,666 shares of Class B common stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest
within 60 days of March 31, 2020. Mr. Silbermann and Ms. Silbermann have sole voting and dispositive power over the shares
held by the Trust and may therefore be deemed to beneficially own such shares. Does not include 9,960,030 shares of
Class B common stock held by an LLC that is owned by a trust, the beneficiaries of which include certain of Mr. Silbermann’s
immediate family members. Mr. Silbermann does not have dispositive power or voting power over the shares held by the LLC
and, as a result, Mr. Silbermann is deemed not to be a beneficial owner of the shares held by the LLC and such shares are not
included in the table. In addition, Mr. Silbermann holds 1,866,668 unvested RSUs for which Mr. Silbermann does not have the
right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of Class B common stock within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and
therefore are not included in the table.
Includes (i) 1,584,334 shares of Class B common stock held by Evan Sharp; (ii) 4,590,694 shares of Class B common stock
issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options held by Evan Sharp; (iii) 653,845 shares of Class B common stock
issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options held by Evan Howell Sharp and Christina McBride Sharp as Co-Trustees
of The Sharp Irrevocable Remainder Trust; (iv) 758,803 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of
outstanding stock options held by Evan Howell Sharp and Christina McBride Sharp as Co-Trustees of The Sharp Revocable
Trust, (v) 1,157,401 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options held by Evan Howell
Sharp as Trustee of The Evan Howell Sharp 2018 Annuity Trust; (vi) 912,615 shares of Class B common stock issuable upon
exercise of outstanding stock options held by Sharp Family Investments LLC; and (vii) 116,666 shares of Class B common
stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020. In addition, Mr. Sharp holds 1,866,668
unvested RSUs for which Mr. Sharp does not have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of
Class B common stock within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and therefore are not included in the table.
Includes 244,362 shares of Class B common stock held by Françoise Brougher. Ms. Brougher holds 1,566,667 unvested
RSUs for which Ms. Brougher does not have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of Class B
common stock within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and therefore are not included in the table.
Includes (i) 111,633 shares of Class B common stock held by Ms. Flores; (ii) restricted stock awards of 294,872 shares of
Class A common stock granted to Ms. Flores; and (iii) 36,458 shares of Class B common stock issuable in connection with
RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020. Ms. Flores holds 656,245 unvested RSUs for which Ms. Flores does not
have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of Class B common stock within 60 days of March 31,
2020 and therefore are not included in the table.
Includes (i) 13,810 shares of Class B common stock held by Mr. Morgenfeld; (ii) 21,729 shares of Class A common stock held
by Mr. Morgenfeld; (iii) restricted stock awards of 704,616 shares of Class A common stock granted to Mr. Morgenfeld; and
(iv) 67,708 shares of Class B common stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020.
Mr. Morgenfeld also holds 1,156,242 unvested RSUs for which Mr. Morgenfeld does not have the right to acquire beneficial
ownership of the underlying shares of Class B common stock within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and therefore are not included
in the table.

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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(6)

Includes (i) 121,568 shares of Class A common stock held by Jordan Family Revocable Trust; and (ii) 9,671 shares of Class A
common stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020.

(7)

Includes (i) 6,837 shares of Class B common stock held by Ms. Kilgore; and (ii) 9,671 shares of Class A common stock
issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020. In addition, Ms. Kilgore holds
13,676 unvested RSUs for which Ms. Kilgore does not have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares
of Class B common stock within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and therefore are not included in the table.

(8)

Includes (i) 644,671 shares of Class A common stock held by Mr. Levine; and (ii) 9,671 shares of Class A common stock
issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020. Does not include the shares held by the BVP
Entities described in footnote 13 below. Jeremy Levine disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the BVP
Entities, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
Represents 1,531 shares of Class A common stock held by Gokul Rajaram & Tamara Lucero-Rajaram Trustees Rajaram
Family Revocable Trust, of which Mr. Rajaram is a Trustee. Mr. Rajaram holds 19,792 unvested RSUs for which he does not
have the right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days of March 31, 2020 and therefore are not included in the table.
Includes (i) 40,000 shares of Class A common stock held by Mr. Reynolds; (ii) 50,000 shares of Class B common stock held by
Mr. Reynolds; and (iii) 9,671 shares of Class A common stock and 6,250 shares of Class B common stock issuable in
connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020. Mr. Reynolds holds 43,750 unvested RSUs for which
Mr. Reynolds does not have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of Class B common stock within
60 days of March 31, 2020 and therefore are not included in the table.
Includes (i) 93,750 shares of Class B common stock held by Ms. Wilson; and (ii) 9,671 shares of Class A common stock and
6,250 shares of Class B common stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 31, 2020.
Consists of (i) 1,828,987 shares of Class A common stock owned directly and indirectly by our directors and executive officers;
(ii) 42,841,366 shares of Class B common stock owned directly and indirectly by our directors and executive officers;
(iii) 17,504,433 shares of Class B common stock issuable to our executive officers and directors under outstanding stock
options; (iv) 352,706 shares of Class B common stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within 60 days of
March 31, 2020; and (v) 48,355 shares of Class A common stock issuable in connection with RSUs that will vest within
60 days of March 31, 2020. Excludes 6,895,878 unvested RSUs currently held by our executive officers and directors for
which such persons do not have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of Class B common stock
and 19,792 unvested RSUs held by our executive officers and directors for which such persons do not have the right to
acquire beneficial ownership of the underlying shares of Class A common stock, in each case within 60 days of March 31,
2020.
Includes (i) 5,410,710 shares of Class B common stock held of record by Bessemer Venture Partners VII Institutional L.P.
(‘‘BVP VII Inst’’); (ii) 12,367,322 shares of Class B common stock held of record by Bessemer Venture Partners VII L.P.
(‘‘BVP VII’’); and (iii) 20,869,749 shares of Class B common stock held of record by BVP VII Special Opportunity Fund L.P.
(‘‘BVP SOF,’’ and together with BVP VII Inst and BVP VII, the ‘‘BVP Entities’’). Deer VII & Co. L.P. is the general partner of the
BVP Entities. Deer VII & Co. Ltd. is the general partner of Deer VII & Co. L.P. Robert P. Goodman, J. Edmund Colloton,
David Cowan, Jeremy Levine, Byron Deeter and Robert M. Stavis are the directors of Deer VII & Co. Ltd. and hold the voting
and dispositive power for the BVP Entities. Investment and voting decisions with respect to the shares held by the BVP Entities
are made by the directors of Deer VII & Co. Ltd. acting as an investment committee. Jeremy Levine disclaims beneficial
ownership of the securities held by the BVP Entities, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. The address for
each of these entities is c/o Bessemer Venture Partners, 1865 Palmer Avenue, Suite 104, Larchmont, NY 10538.
Includes (i) 1,952,355 shares of Class B common stock held by AH Parallel Fund III, L.P., for itself and as nominee for
AH Parallel Fund III-A, L.P., AH Parallel Fund III-B, L.P. and AH Parallel Fund III-Q, L.P., or collectively, the AH Parallel Fund III
Entities; (ii) 1,791,470 shares of Class B common stock held by AH Parallel Fund, L.P.; (iii) 21,002,561 shares of Class B
common stock held Andreessen Horowitz Fund II, L.P., as nominee for Andreessen Horowitz Fund II, L.P., Andreessen
Horowitz Fund II-A, L.P. and Andreessen Horowitz Fund II-B, L.P., or collectively, the AH Fund II Entities; (iv) 2,446,240 shares
of Class B common stock held by Andreessen Horowitz Fund III, L.P., for itself and as nominee for Andreessen Horowitz Fund
III-A, L.P., Andreessen Horowitz Fund III-B, L.P. and Andreessen Horowitz Fund III-Q, L.P., or collectively, the AH Fund III
Entities; (v) 35,924 shares of Class A common stock received by AH Capital Management, L.L.C. pursuant to pro rata
distributions by the AH Fund II Entities, AH Parallel Fund, the AH Fund III Entities, the AH Parallel Fund III Entities and PinAH,
LLP; (vi) 510,710 shares of Class A common stock received by 1997 Horowitz Family Trust pursuant to pro rata distributions
by the AH Fund II Entities, AH Parallel Fund, the AH Fund III Entities, the AH Parallel Fund III Entities and PinAH, LLP; and
(vii) 615,126 shares of Class A common stock received by LAMA Community Trust pursuant to (a) pro rata distribution by each
of SV Angel II-Q, L.P., SV Angel III, L.P. and SV Angel IV, L.P.; and (b) pro rata distribution by each of SV Angel II-Q, L.P.,
SV Angel III, L.P. and SV Angel IV, L.P. The shares directly held by the AH Parallel Fund III Entities are indirectly held by
AH Equity Partners III (Parallel), L.L.C., or AH EP III Parallel, the general partner of the AH Parallel Fund III Entities, and by the
managing members of AH EP III Parallel. The managing members of AH EP III Parallel are Marc Andreessen and Ben
Horowitz. AH EP III Parallel and its managing members share voting and dispositive power with regard to the securities held
by the AH Parallel Fund III Entities. The shares held directly by the AH Fund II Entities and AH Parallel Fund, L.P., are
indirectly held by AH Equity Partners II, L.L.C., or AH EP II, the general partner of the AH Fund II Entities and AH Parallel
Fund, L.P., and by the managing members of AH EP II. The managing members of AH EP II are Marc Andreessen and
Ben Horowitz. AH EP II and its managing members share voting and dispositive power with regard to the securities held by the
AH Fund II Entities and AH Parallel Fund, L.P. The shares held directly by the AH Fund III Entities are indirectly held by
AH Equity Partners III, L.L.C., or AH EP III, the general partner of the AH Fund III Entities, and by the managing members of
AH EP III. The managing members of AH EP III are Marc Andreessen and Ben Horowitz. AH EP III and its managing members
share voting and dispositive power with regard to the securities held by the AH Fund III Entities. The address for each of these
entities is 2865 Sand Hill Road, Suite 101, Menlo Park, CA 94025. Each of the indirect holders listed above disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares held by the entities affiliated with Andreessen Horowitz except to the extent of his, her or its
pecuniary interest therein.
Based on the Schedule 13G filed with the SEC by Paul Cahill Sciarra on March 3, 2020 and other information provided to us.
Includes (i) 26,902,217 shares of Class B common stock held by Paul Cahill Sciarra, as Trustee of the Sciarra Management
Trust; (ii) 6,412,655 shares of Class B common stock held by U.S. Trust Company of Delaware, as Trustee of the PCS Legacy

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)
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(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

Trust; and (iii) 8,292,825 shares of Class B common stock held by U.S. Trust Company of Delaware, as Trustee for the PCS
Remainder Trust. Mr. Sciarra has voting, investment and dispositive power over the shares held in Sciarra Management Trust
and therefore may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of such shares. Mr. Sciarra does not have voting, investment and
dispositive power over the shares held in the PCS Legacy Trust and the PCS Remainder Trust but may acquire such powers
within 60 days of March 31, 2020. Mr. Sciarra disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares. The address for U.S. Trust
Company of Delaware, as agent for Sciarra Management Trust and as Trustee for both PCS Legacy Trust and PCS
Remainder Trust, is 2951 Centerville Road, Suite 200, Wilmington, DE 19808.
Includes (i) 9,415,722 shares of Class A and 15,692,868 shares of Class B common stock held by FirstMark Capital I, L.P.
(‘‘FMC I’’); (ii) 912,229 shares of Class A common stock and 1,520,380 shares of Class B common stock held by FirstMark
Capital I(P), L.P. (‘‘FMC I(P)’’); (iii) 216,833 shares of Class A common stock and 361,389 shares of Class B common stock
held by FirstMark Capital OF I, L.P. (‘‘FMC OF I’’); and (iv) 2,777,509 shares of Class A common stock and 4,629,182 shares
of Class B common stock held by FirstMark Capital P2, L.P. (‘‘FMC P2’’ and, collectively with FMC I, FMC I(P) and FMC OF I,
the ‘‘FirstMark Entities’’). FirstMark Capital I GP, LLC is the general partner of FMC I, and Richard Heitzmann and Amish Jani
are the managers of FirstMark Capital I GP, LLC as the general partner entity. FirstMark Capital I(P) GP, LLC is the general
partner of FMC I(P), and Richard Heitzmann and Amish Jani are the managers of FirstMark Capital I(P) GP, LLC as the
general partner entity. FirstMark Capital OF I GP, LLC is the general partner of FMC OF I, and Richard Heitzmann and Amish
Jani are the managers of FirstMark Capital OF I GP, LLC as the general partner entity. FirstMark Capital P2 GP, LLC is the
general partner of FMC P2, and Richard Heitzmann and Amish Jani are the managers of FirstMark Capital P2 GP, LLC as the
general partner entity. Each of Mr. Heitzmann and Mr. Jani disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the FirstMark
Entities, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. The address for each of these entities is 100 5th Avenue, 3rd
Floor, New York, NY 10011.
Based on the Schedule 13G filed with the SEC by The Vanguard Group (‘‘Vanguard’’) on February 11, 2020. Vanguard
Fiduciary Trust Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vanguard, is the beneficial owner of 16,687 shares of Class A common
stock as a result of its serving as investment manager of collective trust accounts. Vanguard Investments Australia, Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Vanguard, is the beneficial owner of 119,111 shares of Class A common stock as a result of its
serving as investment manager of Australian investment offerings. Vanguard may be deemed to have sole voting power with
respect to 70,258 shares and shared voting power with respect to 34,890 shares. Vanguard may be deemed to have sole
dispositive power with respect to 23,592,453 shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 82,227 shares. The address
for Vanguard is 100 Vanguard Blvd, Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355.
Based on the Schedule 13G filed with the SEC by Flossbach von Storch AG (‘‘Flossbach AG’’) and Flossbach von Storch
Invest S.A. (‘‘Flossbach SA’’) on February 11, 2020. Flossbach S.A. is the relevant entity for which Flossbach AG may be
considered a parent holding company. Flossbach AG may be deemed to have beneficial ownership over 22,022,939 shares of
Class A common stock and Flossbach SA may be deemed to have beneficial ownership over 20,411,200 shares of Class A
common stock. Flossbach AG may be deemed to have sole voting power with respect to 0 shares and shared voting power
with respect to 20,411,200 shares. Flossbach SA may be deemed to have sole voting power with respect to 0 shares and
shared voting power with respect to 20,411,200 shares. Flossbach AG may be deemed to have sole dispositive power with
respect to 1,611,739 shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 20,411,200 shares. Flossbach SA may be deemed to
have sole dispositive power with respect to 0 shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 20,411,200 shares. The
address for Flossbach AG is Ottoplatz 1, 50679 Cologne, Germany. The address for Flossbach SA is 6 Avenue Marie,
Thérèse, L- 2132 Luxembourg.
Based on the Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 7, 2020 by FMR LLC, Abigail P. Johnson and Fidelity
Contrafund. FMR LLC and Abigail P. Johnson may be deemed to have beneficial ownership over 21,835,568 shares of Class A
common stock and Fidelity Contrafund may be deemed to have beneficial ownership over 16,789,593 shares of Class A
common stock. FMR LLC may be deemed to have sole power to vote 843,091 shares of Class A common stock and sole
power to dispose of 21,835,568 shares of Class A common stock. Abigail P. Johnson may be deemed to have sole power to
dispose of 21,835,568 shares. Fidelity Contrafund may be deemed to have sole power to vote 16,789,593 shares of Class A
common stock. Abigail P. Johnson is a Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of FMR LLC. Members of the
Johnson family, including Abigail P. Johnson, are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting
common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other
Series B shareholders have entered into a shareholders' voting agreement under which all Series B voting common shares will
be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of
voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders' voting agreement, members of the Johnson family may be
deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR LLC. Neither FMR LLC
nor Abigail P. Johnson has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares owned directly by the various investment
companies registered under the Investment Company Act (‘‘Fidelity Funds’’) advised by Fidelity Management & Research
Company (‘‘FMR Co’’), a wholly owned subsidiary of FMR LLC, which power resides with the Fidelity Funds' Boards of
Trustees. FMR Co carries out the voting of the shares under written guidelines established by the Fidelity Funds' Boards of
Trustees. The address of each of FMR LLC, Abigail P. Johnson and Fidelity Contrafund is 245 Summer Street, Boston, MA
02210.
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Related Party Transactions
Policies and procedures. Pursuant to our written related party transaction policy, the audit committee
has the primary responsibility for reviewing and approving or ratifying related party transactions. A related
party includes our directors, executive officers, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our voting securities,
or any member of the immediate family or person sharing the household with the foregoing persons. A
related party transaction is a current or proposed transaction, arrangement or relationship in which our
company was, is or will be a participant and the amount involved exceeds or is expected to exceed
$120,000 in any fiscal year and in which any related party has, had or will have a direct or indirect
material interest.
The audit committee, while reviewing a related party transaction for approval or ratification, will consider
various factors, including the benefit of the transaction to us, the terms of the transaction and whether it is
at arm’s-length and in the ordinary course of our business, the direct or indirect nature of the related
person’s interest in the transaction, the size and expected term of the transaction, and other facts and
circumstances that bear on the materiality of the related party transaction. If advance approval of a
related party transaction is not feasible, the chair of the audit committee may approve the transaction and
such transaction may be ratified by the audit committee in accordance with our written policy.
Other than as described below, since January 1, 2019, we have not entered into any transactions, nor are
there any currently proposed transactions, between us and a related party where the amount involved
exceeds, or would exceed, $120,000, and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect
material interest. We believe the terms of the transactions described below were comparable to terms we
could have obtained in arm’s-length dealings with unrelated third parties.
•

Employment arrangements.
○

○

•

Vikram Bhaskaran, who is the brother-in-law of Benjamin Silbermann, our president and
chief executive officer, is employed by us as Head of Strategic Partnerships, in a
non-executive capacity. His total cash compensation received in 2019 in his role as Global
Head of Vertical Strategy & Marketing, which is comprised of a base salary, bonus and
commission, was $238,267, which was in line with similar roles at the company. Additionally,
we granted Mr. Bhaskaran equity awards covering 9,834 shares during this time on the
same general terms and conditions as applicable to other employees in similar positions.
Ari Simon, who will be employed by an organization wholly owned by Benjamin Silbermann,
our president and chief executive officer, and his wife, will be a fixed term employee of
Pinterest. His compensation for 2020 comprises of a base salary of $240,000, a sign-on
bonus of $150,000 and is entitled to benefits similar to other full-time Pinterest employees.

Limitation of liability and indemnification for directors and officers. Our certificate of
incorporation eliminates the potential personal monetary liability of our directors to us or our
stockholders for breaches of their duties as directors except as otherwise required under
Delaware law. In addition, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws as well as the
indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide for
their indemnification to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, including payment of
expenses in advance of resolution of any such matter. We also maintain standard policies of
insurance under which, subject to the limitations of the policies, coverage is provided (i) to our
directors and officers against loss arising from claims made by reason of breach of duty or other
wrongful acts as a director or officer, including claims relating to public securities matters, and
(ii) to us with respect to payments which we may make to such officers and directors pursuant to
our indemnification obligations or otherwise as a matter of law.

In addition, from time to time, we do business with other companies, including advertisers, affiliated with
certain holders of our capital stock. We also believe that all such arrangements have been entered into in
the ordinary course of business and have been conducted on an arm’s-length basis. For a description of
arrangements with certain holders of our capital stock that were in effect prior to our IPO, including
investor rights agreements, right of first refusal and co-sale agreements, and voting rights agreements,
please refer to our final IPO prospectus, which we filed with the SEC on April 18, 2019.
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Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who own
more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership of such securities. To our knowledge, based solely on a
review of such reports filed with the SEC and written representations that no other reports were required,
during 2019, we believe that all required reports were timely filed, except that:
•

one Form 4 to report a conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares for Todd Morgenfeld was
inadvertently filed late due to administrative error.

•

one Form 3 to report Class B shares held by Paul Sciarra and one Form 4 to report acquisition of
Class A and Class B shares for Paul Sciarra were filed late.

Stockholder Proposals for the 2021 Annual Meeting
Proposals to be included in our proxy statement. Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act,
stockholders may present proper proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement and for consideration at
our 2021 annual meeting. To be eligible, your proposal must be received by our Corporate Secretary at
the company’s address (see the first page of this proxy statement) no later than the close of business on
December 10, 2020, and must otherwise comply with Rule 14a-8. While the board will consider
stockholder proposals that we receive, we reserve the right to omit from our proxy statement stockholder
proposals that do not satisfy applicable SEC rules.
Other proposals and director nominations to be presented at the 2021 annual meeting. Under our
bylaws, in order to nominate a director or bring any other business before the stockholders at the 2021
annual meeting that will not be included in our proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8, you must comply
with the procedures and timing specifically described in our bylaws. Assuming that the 2021 annual
meeting occurs within 30 days before or after the anniversary of the 2020 annual meeting, stockholders
desiring to nominate a director or bring any other business before the stockholders at the 2021 annual
meeting must notify our Corporate Secretary in writing not earlier than January 21, 2021, and not later
than February 20, 2021. Such notice must set forth certain information specified in our bylaws. All
stockholder proposals should be in writing and be submitted to the Corporate Secretary at the company’s
address on the first page of this proxy statement. We advise you to review our bylaws, which set forth the
requirements for the nomination of director candidates and the presentation of proposals by stockholders.
Our bylaws can be found on our website at
https://investor.pinterestinc.com/governance/governance-documents, or you may obtain a copy free of
charge by contacting the Corporate Secretary at the company’s address on the first page of this proxy
statement.
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VOTING AND ANNUAL MEETING INFORMATION
Meeting Information
Why have these proxy materials been made available to me? These materials are available in
connection with the board’s solicitation of proxies to be voted at the annual meeting. The annual meeting
is being held to elect three Class I directors to hold office until the 2023 annual meeting (Proposal 1),
ratify the selection of Ernst & Young as our independent auditor for 2020 (Proposal 2) and approve, in an
advisory vote, the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive
officers (Proposal 3). All stockholders who held shares of our common stock as of the close of business
on the record date, March 25, 2020, are entitled to attend the annual meeting and to vote on the items of
business outlined above. Whether or not you choose to attend the annual meeting, we urge you to vote
your shares online as soon as possible so that your shares are represented at the annual meeting.
How can I attend the meeting? The annual meeting will be held exclusively online at
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/PINS2020 on Thursday, May 21, 2020 at 8:30 a.m. Pacific Time.
We invite all Pinterest stockholders as of the record date to attend the annual meeting. Through the virtual
annual meeting format, you will be able to participate in the annual meeting online, vote your shares
electronically and submit questions. We encourage you to access the annual meeting prior to the start
time, and you should allow ample time to log in to the annual meeting webcast and test your computer
audio system. To log in to the annual meeting, you will need the 16-digit control number included on your
notice of internet availability of proxy materials.
Why a virtual meeting? We have adopted a virtual format to provide a consistent experience to all
stockholders regardless of location, expand stockholder access to the annual meeting, achieve cost
savings for stockholders and Pinterest, and reduce the environmental impact of the annual meeting.
Hosting a virtual annual meeting enables increased stockholder attendance and participation since
stockholders can participate from any geographic location with internet connectivity. We have structured
the virtual format so that it offers the same participation opportunities that would be provided at an
in-person annual meeting. In particular:
•

You can submit questions in advance of and during the annual meeting. Our question and
answer session will include questions submitted both in advance of and live during the annual
meeting. You may submit a question in advance of the annual meeting at www.proxyvote.com or
during the annual meeting at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/PINS2020, in each case by
logging in with your 16-digit control number. We plan to answer as many questions during the
annual meeting as time permits and post answers to all questions submitted that are relevant to
our business on our investor relations website shortly after the annual meeting.

•

Tech support will be available to facilitate your access to the annual meeting. We
encourage you to access the annual meeting before it begins. Online check-in will start shortly
before the annual meeting on May 21, 2020. We will have technicians available to assist you.
If you have difficulty accessing the annual meeting, please follow the instructions at the annual
meeting website to connect with a technician via phone.

Following the annual meeting, we will make available a replay of the entire annual meeting on our
investor relations website (see the first page of this proxy statement).
What constitutes a quorum? A quorum of stockholders is necessary to transact business at the annual
meeting. A quorum exists if the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares
entitled to vote are represented at the annual meeting, either by attending and voting at the annual
meeting or by proxy. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted in determining if there is a quorum.
If there is no quorum, either the chairperson of the annual meeting or the holders of a majority of the
voting power of the shares represented at the annual meeting may adjourn the annual meeting to another
date.
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Voting Information
Who is eligible to vote? Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date are
entitled to vote at the annual meeting. As of the record date, there were 398,784,335 shares of Class A
common stock and 182,910,503 shares of Class B common stock outstanding and entitled to vote.
How many votes per share do I have? Our Class A common stock has one vote per share and our
Class B common stock has twenty votes per share. Our Class A and Class B common stock will vote
together as a single class on all matters to be voted upon at the annual meeting.
How can I vote? Your voting options depend on how you hold your shares. If you are a street-name
holder, you should follow the voting instructions you receive from your broker, bank or other agent. If you
are the stockholder of record, you may vote as follows:
•

At the annual meeting, by following the log in procedures described above and completing the
online form during the annual meeting.

•

Online, by going to www.proxyvote.com and following the prompts.

If you received a paper copy of the proxy materials, you may also vote by mail (by completing, signing
and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it promptly in the envelope provided).
You can vote over the phone or online until 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time on the day before the annual
meeting. If you vote by mail, your proxy or voting instruction card, as applicable, must be received by the
day before the annual meeting. You may still attend and vote at the annual meeting even if you have
already voted by proxy.
How can I change my vote? You can revoke your proxy at any time before the final vote at the annual
meeting. If you are the beneficial owner, please follow the instructions provided by the broker, bank or
other agent through which your shares are held. If you are the stockholder of record, you can change your
vote or revoke your proxy by submitting a subsequent proxy or by sending a timely written notice that you
are revoking your proxy to the Corporate Secretary at the company’s address (see the first page of this
proxy statement). Such notice will be considered timely if it is received by the day before the annual
meeting. You can also change your vote by attending and voting at the annual meeting. Please note that
simply attending the annual meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy.
Who will count the votes? Votes will be tabulated by Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc.
(‘‘Broadridge’’), and the board has appointed Broadridge to serve as our independent inspector of
election.
What if I am a record holder and I do not submit voting instructions? If you complete and submit
your proxy, the persons named as proxies will vote your shares in accordance with your instructions. If
you submit a proxy but do not complete the voting instructions, the persons named as proxies will vote
your shares in accordance with the board’s recommendations below. If you do not submit a proxy or vote
at the annual meeting, your shares will not be voted.
What if I am a street-name holder and I do not submit voting instructions? You may instruct your
broker, bank or other agent on how to vote your shares by following the instructions they provided with the
proxy materials. If you do not do so, the firm has discretion to vote your shares only with respect to
Proposal 2, which is considered a ‘‘routine’’ matter under NYSE rules. Proposals 1 and 3 are not
considered ‘‘routine’’ matters, and the firm that holds your shares will not have discretionary authority to
vote your shares for these proposals if you do not provide voting instructions. This is called a ‘‘broker
non-vote.’’ Therefore, you are encouraged to return your voting instructions so that your shares are voted
at the annual meeting.
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What vote is necessary to approve each proposal and what are the board’s recommendations?
The following table sets forth the voting requirements for each proposal being voted on at the annual
meeting and the board’s recommendations.
Effect of
Proposal

Board
Recommendation

Required
Vote

1.

Election of
directors

For each nominee

Plurality of votes cast
(nominees that receive the
most FOR votes will be
elected)

No effect

Not counted as
entitled to vote
and so no effect

2.

Ratification
of selection
of Ernst &
Young

For

Majority of the voting
power of the shares
represented at the meeting
and entitled to vote on the
matter

Same as a
vote
AGAINST

Not applicable
(brokers have
voting
discretion)

For annual
say-on-pay votes

Majority of the voting power
of the shares represented at
the meeting entitled to vote
on the matter

Same as a
vote AGAINST
all options

Not counted as
entitled to vote
and so no effect

3. Advisory
vote on
frequency of
say-on-pay
votes

Withholding /
Abstentions

Broker NonVotes

What if other business comes before the annual meeting? We do not expect any other business to
properly come before the annual meeting; however, if any other business should properly come before
the annual meeting, the persons named as proxies will vote your shares on such matters in accordance
with their best judgment. Each nominee has consented to be a candidate and to serve if elected. Although
the board has no reason to believe that any nominee will be unavailable to serve as a director, if such an
event should occur, the board may designate a substitute nominee or reduce the size of the board. If the
board designates a substitute nominee, proxies will be voted for such substitute nominee(s).
How can I find out the voting results? We will announce the preliminary voting results at the annual
meeting. Final voting results will be published on a Form 8-K that we expect to file within four business
days after the annual meeting.

Proxy Material Information
Why did I receive a notice in the mail regarding the internet availability of proxy materials instead
of a paper copy of the full set of proxy materials? In accordance with SEC rules, and in order to
expedite our stockholders’ receipt of proxy materials, lower Pinterest’s costs and reduce the
environmental impact of the annual meeting, we are making our proxy materials available to stockholders
primarily over the internet. As a result, we are mailing a notice of the internet availability of the proxy
materials to our stockholders instead of a paper copy of the full set of proxy materials. As explained in the
notice, you can view our proxy materials and vote online by visiting www.proxyvote.com and having
available the 16-digit control number contained in your notice. If you received a notice, you will not receive
a printed copy of the proxy materials unless you request one by following the instructions provided in the
notice.
Who pays the cost of the proxy solicitation? We will pay for the costs of soliciting proxies, including
the preparation, assembly, printing and mailing of the proxy materials. In addition, our directors, officers
and employees may also solicit proxies in person, by telephone, or by other means of communication,
without additional compensation. We may also reimburse brokers, banks, fiduciaries, custodians and
other institutions for their costs in forwarding the proxy materials to the street-name holders of our
common stock.
What if I receive multiple notices or proxy or voting instruction cards? If you received more than
one notice of internet availability or proxy or voting instruction card, your shares may be registered in
more than one name or in different accounts. Please follow the voting instructions on each of the notices,
cards or forms to ensure that all of your shares are voted.
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How can I sign up to receive future proxy materials by e-mail? We encourage stockholders to take
advantage of electronic delivery to help reduce the cost and environmental impact of the annual meeting.
To sign up for electronic delivery, please visit www.proxyvote.com. Also, if you are a beneficial owner, you
may sign up for electronic delivery by contacting your bank, broker or other agent through which you hold
your shares. Once you sign up, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials unless you
request them.
What is householding? SEC rules permits us, with your permission, to send a single set of proxy
materials, including the notice of internet availability, proxy statement and annual report, to any household
at which two or more stockholders reside if we believe they are members of the same family. This rule is
called ‘‘householding’’ and its purpose is to help reduce printing and mailing costs of proxy materials.
To date, we have not instituted this procedure, but may do so in the future. A number of brokerage firms
have instituted householding. If you and members of your household have multiple accounts holding
shares of our common stock, you may have received a householding notification from your broker. Please
contact your broker directly if you have questions, require additional copies of the proxy materials or wish
to revoke your decision to household. These options are available to you at any time. If you receive a
single set of proxy materials as a result of householding by your broker and you would like to receive
separate copies of the notice of internet availability, proxy statement or annual report, you may also
submit a request to our Corporate Secretary by mail or phone at the company’s address or number
(see the first page of this proxy statement), and we will promptly send you the requested materials.
How can I get a paper copy of Pinterest’s annual report? A copy of our 2019 annual report on
Form 10-K is available without charge upon written request to the Corporate Secretary at the company’s
address (see the first page of this proxy statement).
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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which
statements involve substantial risk and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that
they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts and are often characterized by the use of words such as
“believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “projects,” “may,” “intends,” “plans”, “targets”, “forecasts” or “anticipates,” or by
discussions of strategy, plans or intentions. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors that could cause our actual results, performance or
achievements, or industry results, to differ materially from historical results or any future results, performance or
achievements expressed, suggested or implied by such forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

the effect of general economic and political conditions;

•

our financial performance, including revenue, cost of revenue and operating expenses and cash flows;

•

our ability to attract and retain Pinners and their level of engagement;

•

our ability to provide content that is useful and relevant to Pinners’ personal taste and interests;

•

our ability to develop successful new products or improve existing ones;

•

our ability to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation;

•

potential harm caused by compromises in security, including our cybersecurity protections and resources and
costs required to prevent, detect and remediate potential security breaches;

•

potential harm caused by changes in internet search engines’ methodologies, particularly search engine
optimization methodologies and policies;

•

discontinuation, disruptions or outages in third-party single sign-on access;

•

our ability to compete effectively in our industry;

•

our ability to scale our business, including our monetization efforts;

•

our ability to attract and retain advertisers and scale our revenue model;

•

our ability to develop effective products and tools for advertisers, including measurement tools;

•

our ability to expand and monetize our platform internationally;

•

our ability to effectively manage the growth of our business;

•

our lack of operating history and ability to attain and sustain profitability;

•

decisions that reduce short-term revenue or profitability or do not produce the long-term benefits we expect;

•

fluctuations in our operating results;

•

our ability to raise additional capital;

•

our ability to realize anticipated benefits from mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures, strategic partnerships
and other investments;

•

our ability to protect our intellectual property;

•

our ability to receive, process, store, use and share data, and compliance with laws and regulations related to
data privacy and content;

•

current or potential litigation and regulatory actions involving us;

•

our ability to comply with modified or new laws and regulations applying to our business, and potential harm
to our business as a result of those laws and regulations;

•

real or perceived inaccuracies in metrics related to our business;

•

disruption of, degradation in or interference with our use of Amazon Web Services and our infrastructure; and

•

our ability to attract and retain personnel.
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These statements are based on our historical performance and on our current plans, estimates and projections in light
of information currently available to us, and therefore you should not place undue reliance on them. The inclusion of
this forward-looking information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that the future
plans, estimates or expectations contemplated by us will be achieved. Forward-looking statements made in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date on which such statements are made, and we undertake no
obligation to update them in light of new information or future events, except as required by law.
You should carefully consider the above factors, as well as the factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, including under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The factors identified
above should not be construed as an exhaustive list of factors that could affect our future results and should be read
in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this Annual Report. Furthermore, new risks
and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict those events or how they may affect us.
If any of these trends, risks or uncertainties actually occurs or continues, our business, revenue and financial results
could be harmed, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your
investment.
Unless expressly indicated or the context requires otherwise, the terms "Pinterest," "company," "we," "us," and "our" in
this document refer to Pinterest, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and, where appropriate, its wholly owned subsidiaries.
The term "Pinterest" may also refer to our products, regardless of the manner in which they are accessed. For
references to accessing Pinterest on the "web" or via a "website," such terms refer to accessing Pinterest on personal
computers. For references to accessing Pinterest on "mobile," such term refers to accessing Pinterest via a mobile
application or via a mobile-optimized version of our website such as m.pinterest.com, whether on a mobile phone or
tablet.
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LIMITATIONS OF KEY METRICS AND OTHER DATA
The numbers for our key metrics, which include our monthly active users (MAUs) and average revenue per user
(ARPU), are calculated using internal company data based on the activity of user accounts. We define a monthly
active user as an authenticated Pinterest user who visits our website, opens our mobile application or interacts with
Pinterest through one of our browser or site extensions, such as the Save button, at least once during the 30-day
period ending on the date of measurement. We present MAUs based on the number of MAUs measured on the last
day of the current period. We define ARPU as our total revenue in a given geography during a period divided by the
average of the number of MAUs in that geography during the period. We calculate average MAUs based on the
average between the number of MAUs measured on the last day of the current period and the last day prior to the
beginning of the current period. We calculate ARPU by geography based on our estimate of the geography in which
revenue-generating activities occur. While these numbers are based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates
of our user base for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring usage of our
products across large online and mobile populations around the world. In addition, we are continually seeking to
improve our estimates of our user base, and such estimates may change due to improvements or changes in our
methodology.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview
Our mission is to bring everyone the inspiration to create a life they love.
Pinterest is where 335 million people around the world go to get inspiration for their lives. They come to discover ideas
for just about anything you can imagine: daily activities like cooking dinner or deciding what to wear, major
commitments like remodeling a house or training for a marathon, ongoing passions like fly fishing or fashion and
milestone events like planning a wedding or a dream vacation.
We call these people Pinners. We show them visual recommendations, which we call Pins, based on their personal
taste and interests. They then save and organize these recommendations into collections, called boards. Browsing
and saving visual ideas on our service helps Pinners imagine what their future could look like, which helps them go
from inspiration to reality.
Pinterest is the productivity tool for planning your dreams. Dreaming and productivity may seem like polar opposites,
but on Pinterest, inspiration enables action and dreams become reality. Visualizing the future helps bring it to life. In
this way, Pinterest is unique. Most consumer internet companies are either tools (search, ecommerce) or media
(newsfeeds, video, social networks). Pinterest is not a pure media channel; it is a media-rich utility.
Value Proposition for Pinners
Visual Experience. People often don’t have the words to describe what they want, but they know it when they see it.
This is why we made Pinterest a visual experience. Images and video can communicate concepts that are impossible
to describe with words. We believe that Pinterest is the best place on the web for people to get visual inspiration at
scale. Visual searches are becoming more and more common on Pinterest, with hundreds of millions of visual
searches per month. We have invested heavily in computer vision to help people discover possibilities that traditional
text-based search queries cannot offer. The computer vision models we’ve developed “see” the content of each Pin
and optimize billions of related recommendations daily to help people take action on the Pins they’ve found.
Personalization. Pinterest is a personalized, curated environment. Most Pins have been handpicked, saved and
organized over the years by hundreds of millions of Pinners creating billions of boards. As of December 31, 2019, our
Pinners saved 240 billion pins across five billion boards. We call this body of data the Pinterest taste graph. Machine
learning and computer vision help us find patterns in the data. We then understand each individual Pin’s relationship
not just to the Pinner who saved it, but also to the ideas and aesthetics reflected by the names and content of the
boards where it’s been pinned. We believe we can better predict what content will be helpful and relevant because
Pinners tell us how they organize ideas. The Pinterest taste graph is the first-party data asset we use to power our
visual recommendations.
When people organize ideas into collections on Pinterest, they are sharing how they contextualize that idea. When we
scale human curation across hundreds of millions of Pinners saving over 240 billion Pins, we believe our taste graph
and recommendations get exponentially better. The more people use Pinterest, the richer the taste graph gets, and
the more an individual uses Pinterest, the more personalized their home feed becomes.
Designed for Action. People use Pinterest to visualize their future and to make their dreams a reality. Our goal is for
each Pin to link back to a useful source—everything from a product to buy, ingredients for a recipe or instructions to
complete a project. We have built features that encourage Pinners to take action on ideas they see on Pinterest, with
a special focus on making it easy for people to purchase products they discover on our service.
Empowering Environment. Pinners describe Pinterest as an inspiring place where they can focus on themselves,
their interests and their future. This is an important part of our value proposition because people are less likely to
dream about their future when they feel self-conscious, preoccupied with the problems of the day or gripped by a “fear
of missing out.” On Pinterest, people can explore new things, free of much of the judgment that occurs elsewhere
online.
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Value Proposition for Advertisers
Valuable Audience. Pinterest reaches 335 million monthly active users, two-thirds of whom are female. As of
December 2019, our total audience includes 47% of internet users in the United States, according to data from
Comscore based on total unique visitors to our service. This includes eight out of 10 moms, who are often the primary
decision-makers when it comes to buying products and services for their household, as well as more than half of all
U.S. millennials ages 18-34.
The value of Pinterest’s audience to advertisers is driven not merely by the number of Pinners on our platform or their
demographics, but also by the reason they come to Pinterest in the first place. Getting inspiration for your home, your
style or your travel often means that you are actively looking for products and services to buy. Billions of searches
happen on Pinterest every month. Commercial content from brands, retailers and advertisers is central to Pinterest.
This means that relevant ads don’t compete with native content on Pinterest; instead, they are content. The mutually
beneficial alignment between advertisers and Pinners differentiates us from other platforms where ads (even relevant
ads) can be distracting or annoying. We are still in the early stages of building an advertising product suite that fully
taps the value of this alignment between Pinners and advertisers, but we believe it will be a competitive advantage
over the long term.
Inspiration to Action. Pinners use our service to get inspiration for things they want to do and buy in their real lives.
This journey from ideation to action takes them down the entire purchasing process, which we call a “funnel”, so our
advertisers have the opportunity to put relevant promoted content in front of Pinners at every stage of the purchasing
journey—when they are browsing through many possibilities without a clear idea of what they want, when they have
identified and are comparing a handful of options and when they are ready to make a purchase. As a result,
advertisers can achieve a range of awareness and performance objectives on Pinterest.
Empowering Environment. Advertisers are in the business of inspiration. On Pinterest, businesses have the
opportunity to showcase their products and services in an inspiring, creative environment. This is rare on the internet,
where consumers’ digital experiences can be stressful or negative, and brands can get caught in the crossfire. We
believe that the inspirational and constructive feelings that many people experience on Pinterest make our site an
especially effective environment for brands to build an emotional connection with consumers.
Our Pinner Products
Pins
People come to Pinterest because it is filled with billions of great ideas. Each idea is represented by a Pin. Pins can
be created by individual users or by businesses.
When an individual user finds an image or video anywhere on the web and wants to save it, she can use our browser
extension or Save button to create a Pin with that image or video in it. Pinners can also create Pins featuring their own
original work, like a recipe they made or a landscape they photographed. When people click on a Pin, they can learn
more and act on it.
Businesses also create Pins on our platform in the form of both organic content and paid advertisements. We believe
the addition of organic content from merchants adds significant value to the experience of both Pinners and
advertisers. We expect that these Pins will become a larger part of our content in the future.
We have several types of Pins on our platform to inspire people and help them take action, including standard Pins,
product Pins, collections and video Pins. More types of Pins and features will come in the future.
•

Standard Pins: Images used to highlight products, recipes, photos and more.

•

Product Pins: Product Pins make items shoppable with up-to-date pricing, information about availability and
links that go directly to the checkout page of a retailer’s website.

•

Collections: Collections allow Pinners to shop for the individual products they see in the inspiring scenes on
fashion and home decor Pins.

•

Video Pins: Video Pins are short videos on topics like how-to content about cooking, beauty and DIY that help
Pinners more deeply engage by watching an idea come alive.
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Planning
Boards are where Pinners save and organize Pins into collections around a topic. Every new Pin saved by a user
must be saved onto a particular board and is associated with a particular context (such as “bedroom rug ideas,”
“electric bikes” or “healthy kids’ snacks”). Once the Pin has been saved, it exists on the board of the Pinner who saved
it, but it also joins the billions of Pins available for other Pinners to discover and save to their own boards. Pinners
access their boards in their profile and organize them however they prefer.
Pinners can create sections in a board to better organize Pins. For example, a “Quick Weekday Meals” board could
have sections like “breakfast,” “lunch,” “dinner” and “desserts.” A board can be made visible to anyone on Pinterest or
kept private so only the Pinner can see it. As Pinners plan projects, like a home renovation or a wedding, they can
invite others on Pinterest to a shared group board. When a Pinner follows another person on Pinterest, they can
choose to follow a select board or their entire account.
Discovery
People go to Pinterest to discover the best ideas to bring into their lives. They do this by exploring the home feed and
search tools on our service.

•

Home Feed: When people open Pinterest, they see their home feed, which is where they will find Pins that
are relevant to their interests based in part on their recent activity. They will also see Pins from the people,
topics and boards they choose to follow. Every home feed is personalized to reflect the taste and interests of
the Pinner.

•

Search:
◦

Text queries: Pinners can search for Pins, boards, people or hashtags by typing in the search bar.
Pinners who use search typically want to see many relevant possibilities that are personalized for
their individual taste and interests rather than one perfect answer. Often, Pinners start by typing in
something general like “dinner ideas,” then use Pinterest’s built-in search guides (like “weekday” or
“family”) to narrow down the results.

◦

Visual queries: When a Pinner taps on a Pin to learn more about an idea or image, a feed of visually
similar Pins is served beneath the tapped image. These related Pins help Pinners springboard off a
point of inspiration to explore deeper into an interest or narrow in on the perfect idea. Pinners also
search within images by using our Lens tool to select specific objects inside an inspiring scene e.g., a
lamp in a living room scene or a pair of shoes in a street fashion scene. This action automatically
triggers a new search that yields related Pins that are visually similar to the specific object.

Our Advertising Products
Pinners’ desire to discover something they love and make it part of their life is aligned with the motivations of our
advertisers. Products and services often help bring dreams to life. Pinterest can help businesses reach a Pinner from
the moment he starts thinking about what he wants his living room to look like to the moment when he is about to
purchase a couch at his price point. We’ve understood this alignment since our founding, and we’re building an ad
product suite that drives value for our users and advertisers simultaneously.
We offer both brand and performance ads, with performance representing approximately two thirds of our revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2019. Brand revenue is billed when an advertiser optimizes an ad campaign around
“brand” objectives like impressions or video views. Performance revenue is billed when an advertiser optimizes an ad
campaign around “performance” objectives like clicks or conversion events.
Because Pinners travel down the entire purchasing funnel on Pinterest, our ad product suite is used by different
advertisers to meet different objectives, including awareness, consideration and sales.
Awareness Objective.
Pinterest ads appear in the home feed and on search results pages. They echo the visual style of organic Pins and
are fully integrated into the design. A Pinner sees ads as he scrolls through his home feed and search results, looking
for inspiration and ideas.
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Consideration and Sales Objectives.
When a Pinner clicks on an ad, he sees an intermediate screen that gives him a closer view of the ad creative as well
as the option to save the ad to a board. He will also be able to swipe up or click to see the advertiser’s online
presence, where he can pursue deeper consideration (by exploring available products and services or signing-up for
memberships) and potentially transact.
Ad Formats
•

Standard ad: A static image used to showcase content in a simple vertical image format.

•

Video ad: Used by advertisers to capture attention and tell a story with a visually engaging format. We
currently offer three video ad formats: standard video, performance video and max width video.

•

Shopping ad: Similar to a standard ad, used to reach people when they are deciding what to buy. Shopping
ads are exclusive to advertisers who upload their product catalog to Pinterest.

•

Carousel ad: Multiple static or video in one carousel, used by advertisers to showcase more than one image
or video at a time.

Our Advertising System
Ad Auction
All advertisers on Pinterest buy ads through an auction-based system. Our ad auction allows us to serve ads to
Pinners at relevant moments while optimizing business outcomes for advertisers. Our auction system selects the best
ad for each available ad impression, based on the likelihood of a desired action occurring and how much that action is
worth to advertisers. The likelihood of the action occurring depends on a variety of factors, such as targeting
relevance and creative. Today, our advertisers can optimize their campaigns around four different types of user activity
depending on their objectives: impressions ("CPM"), video views ("CPV"), clicks ("CPC"), and conversion events
("oCPM") such as checkout or add to cart.
Targeting
Ad targeting helps businesses reach the millions of people who come to Pinterest to find or shop for products and
services.
Advertisers can target their messages to specific demographics (locations, languages, gender, age), device types,
audiences (such as existing customers or Pinners who recently engaged with their content) and interests or keywords.
Advertisers can also choose whether they want ads to show in Pinners’ search surfaces, home feed or both.
Because ads are content on Pinterest, ad relevance is powered by the same principles that drive organic
recommendations. We are building ad products that will allow advertisers to target ads based on a particular
consumer’s known aesthetic preferences and style. Eventually we expect to be able to leverage the Pinterest taste
graph to match ad creative to a Pinner’s individual taste and interests.
Measurement
Measuring the effectiveness of digital spend is a high priority for our advertisers. Our measurement solutions are
aligned to help advertisers recognize the value of an investment on our platform across a variety of objectives. We
enable our advertisers to meet their awareness, consideration and conversion objectives with a number of first-party
tools to measure campaign effectiveness. We also have leading third-party measurement partners to validate
Pinterest’s performance and measure advertiser results.
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Sales and Marketing
Our Go-to-Market Approach
The Pinterest platform enables a diverse group of advertisers to achieve a wide range of objectives. We serve these
advertisers in customized ways across their size, product needs and measurement objectives. We initially built our
business with large consumer packaged goods ("CPG") and retail advertisers in the United States who typically have
large marketing budgets and had the greatest affinity for our core use cases at that time. We then scaled our sales
force to support these advertisers and grew their spend with us over time while broadening the mix of advertisers
across verticals.
As these advertisers scaled their investment on our platform, we have increased our focus on building the product and
measurement tools required to serve mid-market and unmanaged advertisers. Recently, we have also begun to focus
on expanding our international advertiser base.
Marketing
To date, we have been able to grow our global user base with relatively low marketing costs. User acquisition has
been driven by the strength of our global brand and the utility of our service as well as by unpaid search engine traffic.
We continue to test additional marketing efforts including paid marketing campaigns focused on user and advertiser
acquisition efforts.
Our Technology Innovation
With billions of human-curated ideas, we believe we have one of the largest image-rich data sets ever assembled.
This lets us analyze trends, understand intent and predict consumer behavior. And, we are just scratching the surface
of what is possible. Looking ahead, we are excited about new technical challenges, including fine-grained image
recognition, object-to-object visual search and large-scale visual search infrastructure.
Our Competition
We primarily compete with consumer internet companies that are either tools (search, ecommerce) or media
(newsfeeds, video, social networks). We compete with larger, more established companies such as Amazon,
Facebook (including Instagram), Google, Snap and Twitter. Many of these companies have significantly greater
financial and human resources. We also face competition from smaller companies in one or more high-value verticals,
including Allrecipes, Houzz and Tastemade, that offer users engaging content and commerce opportunities through
similar technology or products to ours. We remain focused on emerging competition as well. We face competition
across almost every aspect of our business, particularly users and engagement, advertising and talent.
Users and Engagement
We compete to attract, engage and retain users and their time and attention. Because our products and those of our
competitors are typically free, we compete based on our brand, product experience, quality, utility and ease of use of
our products.
Advertising
We compete for advertising revenue across a variety of formats. We believe our ability to compete effectively depends
on the effectiveness of our service in reaching users early in the decision-making process, amplifying advertisers’
messages and delivering compelling returns on investment. This is driven by a number of factors, including our reach,
relevance and engagement, as well as our brand and advertising products, delivery and measurement capabilities
and other offerings.
Talent
We compete to attract and retain highly talented individuals, particularly people with expertise in computer vision,
artificial intelligence and machine learning. We believe we compete for these potential employees by providing a work
environment that offers the opportunity to work on challenging, cutting-edge and inspirational products. We also
compete by providing competitive compensation packages that we believe will enable us to attract and retain talent.
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Intellectual Property
Our success is tied in part to our ability to protect our intellectual property and key technological innovations. We rely
on a combination of federal, state and common-law rights in the United States and rights under the laws of other
countries, as well as contractual restrictions, to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We rely
on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, domain names and other intellectual property
rights to help protect our brand and proprietary technologies. In addition, we generally enter into confidentiality and
invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and confidentiality agreements with other third
parties, in order to limit access to, and disclosure and use of, our confidential information and proprietary technology
and to preserve our rights thereto.
As of December 31, 2019, we had over 300 issued patents and pending patent applications in the United States and
foreign countries relating to aspects of our actual or contemplated operations and technologies. We also had over 500
registered trademarks and patent trademark applications in the United States and foreign countries as of December
31, 2019, including our “Pinterest” name and related logos.
We are also dependent on third-party content, technology and intellectual property in connection with our business.
We are presently involved in a number of intellectual property lawsuits, and expect to continue to face allegations from
third parties, including our competitors and “non-practicing entities,” that we have infringed or otherwise violated their
intellectual property rights.
For additional information on risks relating to intellectual property, please see the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “—
Legal Proceedings.”
Government Regulation
We are subject to many U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations that involve matters central to our
business, including laws and regulations that involve data privacy and data protection, intellectual property (including
copyright and patent laws), content regulation, rights of publicity, advertising, marketing, health and safety,
competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, taxation, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and corruption,
economic or other trade prohibitions or sanctions or securities law compliance. Our business may also be affected by
the adoption of any new or existing laws or regulations or changes in laws or regulations that adversely affect the
growth, popularity or use of the internet, or that significantly restrict or impose conditions on our ability to collect, store,
augment, analyze, use and share data or increase consumer notice or consent requirements before a company can
utilize cookies or other tracking technologies. Many relevant laws and regulations are still evolving and may be
interpreted, applied, created or amended in a manner that could harm our business, and new laws and regulations
may be enacted, including in connection with the restriction or prohibition of certain content or business activities. For
example, EU member states are in the process of implementing the EU Copyright Directive, which may impose
significant new burdens on content platforms like us.
We rely on a variety of statutory and common-law frameworks and defenses relevant to the content available on our
service, including the Digital Millennium Copyright Act (“DMCA”), the Communications Decency Act (“CDA”) and the
fair-use doctrine in the United States, and the Electronic Commerce Directive in the European Union. In addition,
there are newly adopted and pending legislations in the European Union that may impose additional obligations or
liability on us associated with content uploaded by users to our platform.
We receive, process, store, use and share data, some of which contains personal information. We are therefore
subject to U.S. federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations regarding data privacy and the collection,
storage, sharing, use, processing, disclosure and protection of personal information and other data from users,
employees or business partners, including the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and the California
Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”). These laws expand the rights of individuals to control how their personal data is
processed, collected, used and shared creates new regulatory and operational requirements for processing personal
data, increases requirements for security and confidentiality and provides for significant penalties for non-compliance.
There are also a number of legislative proposals recently enacted or pending before the U.S. Congress, various state
legislatures and foreign governments concerning content regulation and data protection that could affect us. These
and other laws and regulations that may be enacted, or new interpretation of existing laws and regulations, may
require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs in order to comply.
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Government authorities outside the United States may also seek to restrict access to or block our service, prohibit or
block the hosting of certain content available through our service or impose other restrictions that may affect the
accessibility or usability of our service in that country for a period of time or even indefinitely. For example, access to
our service has been or is currently restricted in whole or in part in China, India, Kazakhstan and Turkey. In addition,
some countries have enacted laws that allow websites to be blocked for hosting certain types of content or may
require websites to remove certain restricted content.
For additional information, see the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “—Legal Proceedings.”
Seasonality
We experience seasonality in user growth, engagement and monetization on our platform. Historically, we have had
lower engagement in the second calendar quarter. Industry advertising spend tends to be strongest in the fourth
quarter, and we observe a similar pattern in our historical advertising revenue. Significant user and monetization
growth has partially offset these trends in historical periods, and thus we expect the impact of seasonality to be more
pronounced in the future.
Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had 2,217 full-time employees.
Corporate Information
We were incorporated in Delaware in October 2008 as Cold Brew Labs Inc. In April 2012, we changed our name to
Pinterest, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 505 Brannan Street, San Francisco, California 94107, and
our telephone number is (415) 762-7100. We completed our initial public offering in April 2019 and our Class A
common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “PINS.” Unless the context requires
otherwise, the words “Pinterest,” “we,” “Company,” “us” and “our” refer to Pinterest, Inc. and our wholly owned
subsidiaries.
Available Information
Our website is located at www.pinterest.com, and our investor relations website is located at http://
investor.pinterestinc.com/. Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, are available, free of charge, on our investor
relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material electronically with or furnish it to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website that contains our SEC filings.
The address of the site is www.sec.gov. We use our http://investor.pinterestinc.com/ and www.pinterest.com websites
as a means of disclosing material nonpublic information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under
Regulation FD.
The contents of our websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K
or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be
inactive textual references only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information set forth in
this Annual Report, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the
other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related
notes, before deciding to invest in our Class A common stock. The occurrence of any of the following risks could harm
our business, reputation, revenue, financial results and prospects. In addition, risks and uncertainties that are not
presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial could also harm our business, revenue, financial
results and prospects. If any of these risks occur, the value of our Class A common stock could decline and you may
lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Related to the Company and our Industry
Our ecosystem of Pinners and advertisers depends on our ability to attract, retain and engage our user base.
If we fail to add new Pinners or retain current Pinners, or if Pinners engage less with us, our business,
revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We must continue to attract, retain and engage our users on our platform, who we call Pinners. Our active Pinners
may not continue to grow, and may decline.
If current and potential Pinners do not perceive their experience with our service to be useful, or the content that we
serve to them to be relevant to their personal taste and interests, we may not be able to attract new Pinners, retain
existing Pinners or maintain or increase the frequency and duration of their engagement. In addition, if our existing
Pinners do not continue to utilize our service or our user base does not continue to grow, we may be required to incur
significantly higher marketing expenses than we currently anticipate to add new Pinners or retain current Pinners.
We anticipate that our active user growth rate will decline over time if the size of our active user base increases or we
achieve higher market penetration rates. If our active user growth rate slows, our financial performance will
increasingly depend on our ability to increase Pinner engagement and our monetization efforts. We also may not be
able to penetrate certain demographics in a meaningful manner to grow the number of Pinners. For example, in the
United States, a substantial majority of our Pinners are women of ages 18-64 according to data from Comscore. We
may not be able to further increase the number of Pinners in this demographic and would need to increase the
number of Pinners in other demographics, such as men and international users, in order to maintain our user growth
rate.
In addition, our products typically require high bandwidth data capabilities, and many Pinners live in countries with
high-end mobile device penetration and high bandwidth capacity cellular networks with large coverage areas.
Therefore, we do not expect to experience rapid user growth or engagement in countries with low smartphone
penetration even if such countries have well-established and high bandwidth capacity cellular networks. We may also
not experience rapid user growth or engagement in countries where, even though smartphone penetration is high,
consumers rely heavily on Wi-Fi due to the lack of sufficient cellular based data network. We have entered into, and
plan to continue to enter into, contracts with data service providers that allow Pinners to access our mobile application
without it counting toward their monthly data allowance, a practice known as “zero rating.” Changes in regulations
could adversely impact our existing and future contracts regarding our access to, and use of, zero-rating offers or
other discounts or data usage for our service.
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Our ability to serve advertisements on our platform, and therefore the value proposition for our advertisers, depends
on the size and engagement of our user base. Our growth efforts are not currently focused on increasing the number
of daily active users, and we do not anticipate that most of our users will become daily active users. Therefore, even if
we are able to increase demand for our advertising products, we may not be able to deliver those advertisements if
we cannot also increase the size and engagement of our user base, which could harm our business, revenue and
financial results.
There are many other factors that could negatively affect user growth, retention and engagement, including if:
•

our competitors mimic our products or product features, causing Pinners to utilize their products instead of, or
more frequently than, our products;

•

we do not provide a compelling Pinner experience because of the decisions we make regarding our products
or the type and frequency of advertisements that we display;

•

our content is not relevant to Pinners’ personal taste and interests;

•

third parties do not permit or continue to permit their content to be displayed on our platform;

•

Pinners have difficulty installing, updating or otherwise accessing our service on mobile devices or web
browsers;

•

there are changes in the amount of time Pinners spend across all applications and platforms, including ours;

•

technical or other problems frustrate the Pinner experience, particularly if those problems prevent us from
delivering our service in a fast and reliable manner;

•

we are unable to address Pinner and advertiser concerns regarding the content, privacy and security of our
service;

•

we are unable to combat spam, harassment, cyberbullying or other hostile, inappropriate, abusive or offensive
content or usage on our products or services;

•

Pinners adopt new technologies where our products or services may be displaced in favor of other products
or services, or may not be featured or otherwise available;

•

third-party initiatives that may enable greater use of our service, including low-cost or discounted data plans,
are discontinued; or

•

the other risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Any decrease in user growth, retention or engagement could render our service less attractive to Pinners or
advertisers, and could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
If we are not able to continue to provide content that is useful and relevant to Pinners’ personal taste and
interests or fail to remove objectionable content or block objectionable practices by advertisers or third
parties, user growth, retention or engagement could decline, which could result in the loss of advertisers and
revenue.
Our success depends on our ability to provide Pinners with content, including advertisements, that is useful and
relevant to their personal taste and interests. This depends on the content contributed by our users and advertisers
and the manner in which we present that content to Pinners. Pinners engage with content that is relevant to their
country, language and gender preferences as well as their personal intent. We may not correctly identify and serve
content that is useful and relevant to Pinners. Content that is not visually pleasing, is not intuitive or easy to use or is
not in the desired language may not be engaging for Pinners, especially in non-U.S. markets. If Pinners do not believe
that we offer content that is useful and relevant to their personal taste and interests, user growth, retention or
engagement may decline, which could result in the loss of advertisers and revenue.
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Some of the actions that we may take to make our content more useful and relevant may reduce traffic that we drive
from our platform to the websites of third parties, which may reduce their willingness to contribute or continue
availability of their content on our service. We endeavor to keep divisive, disturbing or unsafe content off our service.
We do this by deleting or hiding certain types of content, even if this content would be permitted on other platforms,
which could result in decrease in user growth, retention or engagement. We apply significant judgment in making
these determinations and may be unsuccessful in our efforts to remove this content on a timely basis, which could
also result in a decrease in user growth, retention or engagement. Further, if we fail to identify and keep off our service
advertisers who offer poor quality goods, we may lose Pinner confidence.
We regularly monitor how our advertising affects Pinners’ experiences to ensure we do not deliver too many
advertisements or irrelevant advertisements to Pinners. Therefore we may decide to change the number of
advertisements or eliminate certain types of advertisements to ensure Pinners’ satisfaction in the service. We may
make changes to our platform based on feedback provided by Pinners or advertisers. These decisions may not
produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case user growth, retention and engagement, our
relationships with advertisers, and our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
Current and future data privacy laws and regulations, including the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and
California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”) which became effective January 2020, or new interpretations of
existing laws and regulations, may limit our ability to collect and use data, which may impact our ability to effectively
deliver relevant content. These laws and regulations may also impact our ability to expand advertising on our platform,
as they may impede our ability to deliver targeted advertising and accurately measure our ad performance.
Additionally, even if not prohibited by data privacy laws and regulations, we may elect not to collect certain types of
data if we believe doing so would be inconsistent with our Pinners’ expectations, if the source is unreliable or for any
other reason. Similarly, the increase in media attention about online privacy and data protection may motivate Pinners
to take certain actions to protect their privacy. Pinners may elect not to allow data sharing for a number of reasons,
such as data privacy concerns. This could impact our ability to deliver relevant content aligned with Pinners’ personal
taste and interests. Additionally, the impact of these developments may disproportionately affect our business in
comparison to certain peers in the technology sector that, by virtue of the scope and breadth of their operations or
user base, have greater access to user data.
Substantially all our revenue is generated from advertising, and a decline in user growth, retention or engagement as
a result of our inability to provide relevant and useful content to Pinners, and therefore our inability to serve the
volume of advertisements desired by our advertisers, may deter new advertisers from using our platform or cause
current advertisers to reduce their spending with us or cease doing business with us altogether, which could harm our
business, revenue and financial results.
If we do not develop successful new products or improve existing ones, our business may suffer. We may
also invest in new products that fail to attract or retain Pinners or generate revenue.
Our ability to grow, retain and engage our user base and therefore increase our revenue depends on our ability to
successfully enhance our existing products and create new products, both independently and in conjunction with
platform developers or other third parties, and to do so quickly. We may introduce significant changes to our existing
products or develop and introduce new and unproven products with which we have little or no prior development or
operating experience. Our focus on innovation and experimentation could result in unintended outcomes or decisions
that are poorly received by Pinners. If new or enhanced products fail to engage our Pinners, we may fail to generate
sufficient revenue, operating margin or other value to justify our investments, any of which could harm our business,
revenue and financial results. We also may develop new products that increase Pinner engagement and costs that
are not intended to increase revenue.
Further, our products often require Pinners to learn new behaviors that may not always be intuitive to them. To the
extent that new Pinners are less willing to invest the time to learn to use our products, or if we are unable to make our
products easier to learn to use, our user growth, retention or engagement could be affected, and our business,
revenue and financial results could be harmed.
Our business depends on a strong brand and reputation, and if we are unable to maintain and enhance our
brand and reputation, our ability to expand our user and advertiser base will be impaired and our business,
revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We believe that our brand identity and reputation has significantly contributed to the success of our business. We also
believe that maintaining and enhancing the “Pinterest” brand and reputation is critical to retaining and growing our
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user and advertiser base. Maintaining and enhancing our brand and reputation depends largely on our continued
ability to provide high-quality, relevant, reliable, trustworthy and innovative products, which may require substantial
investment and may not be successful. We may need to introduce new products or updates to existing products that
require Pinners to agree to new terms of service that Pinners do not like, which may negatively affect our brand and
reputation. Additionally, advertisements or actions of our advertisers may affect our brand and reputation if Pinners do
not think the advertisements help them accomplish their objectives, view the advertisements as intrusive, annoying or
misleading or have poor experiences with our advertisers.
Our brand and reputation may also be negatively affected by the content or actions of Pinners that are deemed to be
hostile or inappropriate to other Pinners, by the actions of Pinners acting under false or inauthentic identities, by the
use of our products or services to disseminate information that is deemed to be misleading, or by the use of our
service for illicit, illegal or objectionable ends. We also may fail to respond expeditiously to the sharing of illegal, illicit
or objectionable content on our service or objectionable practices by advertisers, or to otherwise address Pinner
concerns, which could erode confidence in our brand and damage our reputation. We expect that our ability to identify
and respond to this content in a timely manner may decrease as the number of Pinners grows, as the amount of
content on the platform increases or as we expand our product and service offerings, such as video. Any
governmental or regulatory inquiry, investigation or action, including based on the appearance of illegal, illicit or
objectionable content on our platform, our business practices, or failure to comply with laws and regulations, could
damage our brand and reputation, regardless of the outcome.
We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, media, legislative, governmental, regulatory, investor
and other third-party scrutiny of our decisions. Any scrutiny, inquiry, investigation or action, including regarding our
data privacy, copyright, content or other practices, product changes, product quality, litigation or regulatory action or
regarding the actions of our employees, Pinners or advertisers or other issues, may harm our brand and reputation. In
addition, scrutiny of other companies in our industry, including of their impact on user “screen time” or their content
policies or data privacy practices, could also have a negative impact on our brand and reputation. These concerns,
whether actual or unfounded, may also deter Pinners or advertisers from using our service.
If we fail to promote and maintain the “Pinterest” brand or preserve our reputation, or if we incur excessive expenses
in this effort, our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
If our security is compromised, or Pinners or advertisers believe our security has been compromised, we
could lose the trust of Pinners and advertisers who may use our service less or may stop using our service
altogether, which could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
Our efforts to protect the information that Pinners and advertisers have shared with us may be unsuccessful due to
the actions of third parties, software bugs or other technical malfunctions, cyberattacks, employee error or
malfeasance, hacking, viruses or other factors. In addition, third parties may attempt to induce our employees or
Pinners to disclose information to gain access to our data, advertisers' data or Pinners’ data. Further, because the
login credentials or passwords employed by Pinners to access our service may be similar to or the same as the ones
that they use in connection with other platforms or websites, a breach in the security of those platforms or websites
can allow third parties to gain unauthorized access to Pinners’ accounts on our service. If any of the events described
above occur, our information or Pinners’ or advertisers' information could be accessed or disclosed improperly. If a
third party gains unauthorized access to our service, they may amongst other things that could negatively affect our
products and our business, post malicious spam and other content on our platform using a Pinner’s or advertiser’s
account.
Some third parties, including advertisers, may store information that we share with them on their networks. If these
third parties fail to implement adequate data-security practices or fail to comply with our terms and policies, Pinners’
data may be improperly accessed, used or disclosed. Even if these third parties take all the necessary precautions,
their networks may still suffer a breach, which could compromise Pinners' data.
Any incidents where Pinners’, advertisers or our information is accessed without authorization or is improperly used,
or incidents that violate our privacy policy, terms of service or other policies, or the perception that an incident has
occurred, could damage our brand and reputation, adversely impact our competitive position and result in significant
costs. We may need to notify government authorities or affected Pinners regarding security incidents, and government
authorities or affected Pinners or advertisers could initiate legal or regulatory action against us over those incidents,
which could cause us to incur significant expense and liability or result in orders or consent decrees forcing us to
modify our business practices. Maintaining the trust of Pinners and advertisers is important to sustain user growth,

16

retention and engagement, and we may incur significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent any security incidents.
Concerns over our data privacy practices, whether actual or unfounded, could subject us to negative publicity and
damage our brand and reputation and deter Pinners and advertisers from using our service. Any of these occurrences
could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We depend in part on internet search engines to direct traffic and refer new Pinners to our service. If search
engines’ methodologies and policies are modified or enforced in ways we do not anticipate, or if our search
results page rankings decline for other reasons, traffic to our service or user growth, retention or
engagement could decline, any of which could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We depend in part on internet search engines, such as Bing, Google, Yahoo! and Yandex, to direct a significant
amount of traffic to our service. For example, when a Pinner types a query into a search engine, we may receive
traffic and acquire new Pinners when those search results include Pins, boards, Pinners and other features of our
service that cause the Pinner to click on the Pinterest result or create a Pinterest account. These actions increase
user growth due to signups of new Pinners and increase retention and engagement of existing Pinners.
Our ability to maintain and increase the number of visitors directed to our service from search engines is not within our
control. Search engines, such as Google, may modify their search algorithms (including what content they index) and
policies or enforce those policies in ways that are detrimental to us, that we are not able to predict or without prior
notice. When that occurs, we expect to experience declines or de-indexing in the organic search ranking of certain
Pinterest search results, leading to a decrease in traffic to our service, new user signups and existing user retention
and engagement. We have experienced declines in traffic and user growth as a result of these changes in the past,
and anticipate fluctuations as a result of such actions in the future. For example, in the first quarter of 2018, Google
de-indexed our keyword landing pages, which negatively impacted traffic and user growth in the quarters that
followed. Our ability to appeal these actions is limited, and we may not be able to revise our search engine
optimization (“SEO”) strategies to recover the loss in traffic or user growth resulting from such actions. Changes in
policies or their enforcement may not apply in the same manner to our competitors, or our competitors’ SEO
strategies may be more successful than ours. In addition, some of these search engines are owned by companies
that compete with various aspects of our business. When email platforms, such as Google, change their policies
related to the placement of our emails in Pinners' inboxes, it can affect the open and click rate of our emails. Such
changes have led to and may lead to a decrease in traffic to our service, new user signups and existing user retention
and engagement. To offset the impact on our user growth, we would need to increase our investment in other growth
strategies, such as paid marketing or other initiatives that drive user acquisition, which may cost more and be less
effective. Any significant reduction in the number of Pinners directed to our website or mobile application from search
engines or email could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We allow users to authenticate with our service through third-party login providers. If these third parties
discontinue these tools or experience a breach or outage in their platform or web browser developers make
changes that restrict the use of these tools, user growth or engagement could decline, and our business,
revenue and financial results could be harmed.
A significant number of Pinners access their accounts on our service using a third party login provider such as
Facebook or Google. If security on those platforms is compromised, if Pinners are locked out from their accounts on
those platforms or if those platforms experience an outage or otherwise institute policies that prevent Pinners from
accessing their accounts on our service through those logins, Pinners may be unable to access our service. In
addition, third-party log-in providers may institute policies that restrict us from communicating with Pinners. As a
result, user growth, retention and engagement on our service could be adversely affected, even if for a temporary
period. For example, in the second quarter of 2018, Facebook changed its login authentication systems, which
negatively impacted our user growth and engagement in that period. Additionally, if Facebook or Google discontinue
their identity services or experience an outage, then we may lose and be unable to recover users previously using this
function, and our user growth or engagement could decline. Any of these events could harm our business, revenue
and financial results.
In addition, third-party login providers, such as Apple, Microsoft or Google, have implemented and/or may implement
changes and restrictions in browser or device functionality including by limiting the use of cookies, or that limit our
ability to communicate with or understand the identity of our Pinners. Any of these events could harm our business,
revenue and financial results.
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If we are unable to compete effectively for users, our business, revenue and financial results could be
harmed.
We face significant competition to attract, retain and engage users and for their time and attention. We primarily
compete with consumer internet companies that are either tools (search, ecommerce) or media (newsfeeds, video,
social networks).
We compete with larger, more established companies such as Amazon, Facebook (including Instagram), Google,
Snap and Twitter, which provide their users with a variety of online products, services, content (including video) and
advertising offerings, including web search engines, social networks and other means of discovering, using or
acquiring goods and services. Many of these competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater
financial, technical, research, marketing and other resources and larger user bases than we do. These competitors
also have access to larger volumes of data and platforms that are used on a more frequent basis than ours, which
may enable them to better understand their user base and develop and deliver more relevant content.
Our competitors have previously and may continue to develop technology, products, services or interfaces that are
similar to our existing and future products quickly and at scale, or that achieve greater market acceptance than our
products. Some of our competitors also operate existing products that have significant market power in certain market
sectors and could use that market power to advance their own products or services that compete with ours. For
example, Amazon, Google and Snap have introduced shopping platforms, each with camera search functionality,
Google has developed a series of features on Google Image Search that are similar to those of our service, including
shoppable ads and a version of boards, called “Collections,” and Instagram and other platforms allow users to
bookmark and save images and other content and create collections. These competitors may engage in more
extensive research and development efforts and undertake more extensive marketing campaigns, which may allow
them to build larger, more engaged user bases than we have. Also, some of our existing or potential competitors
operate products or services from which we currently derive substantial value, such as search engines and email, and
those competitors could reduce or eliminate the value we receive.
We also face competition from smaller companies in one or more high-value verticals, including Allrecipes, Houzz and
Tastemade, that offer users engaging content and commerce opportunities through similar technology, products,
features or services to ours. In addition, emerging startups may be able to innovate and provide technology, products,
services or features similar to ours or before us.
Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in
user preferences. Barriers to entry in our industry are low, and our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to
prevent competitors from launching comparable products or services.
In emerging international markets, where mobile devices often lack large storage capabilities, we may also compete
with other applications for the limited space available on a user’s mobile device.
We believe that our ability to compete for users depends upon many factors both within and beyond our control,
including:
•

the usefulness, novelty, performance and reliability of our service compared to those of our competitors;

•

the timing and market acceptance of our products, including the developments and enhancements to those
products, offered by us or our competitors;

•

our brand strength relative to our competitors; and

•

the other risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

If we are unable to compete effectively for users, our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
If we are unable to compete effectively for advertisers, our business, revenue and financial results could be
harmed.
We face significant competition for advertising revenue across a variety of formats. To compete effectively, we must
enable our advertisers to easily create content and buy, forecast, optimize and measure the performance of
advertising on our platform. In order to grow our revenue and improve our operating results, we must increase our
share of advertising spend relative to our competitors, many of which are larger companies that offer more traditional
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and widely accepted advertising products, as well as more robust tools to measure the effectiveness of advertising
campaigns.
Some of our larger competitors have substantially broader product or service offerings and leverage their relationships
based on other products or services to gain additional share of advertising spend. They have large distributed sales
forces and an increasing amount of control over mobile distribution channels. These competitors’ economies of scale
allow them to have access to larger volumes of data and platforms that are used on a more frequent basis than ours,
which may enable them to better understand their user base and develop and deliver more targeted advertising. They
may not need to rely on third-party data, including data provided by advertisers, in order to effectively target the
campaigns of advertisers, which could make their advertising products more attractive to advertisers than ours if thirdparty data ceases to be available to us, whether because of regulatory changes, privacy concerns or other reasons. If
we are unable to provide our advertisers with the ability to effectively target their advertising campaigns, or if our
advertisers do not believe that our value proposition is as compelling as those of our competitors, we may not be able
to attract new advertisers or retain existing ones, and our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We believe that our ability to compete for advertisers, depends upon many factors both within and beyond our control,
including:
•

sales, marketing, customer service and support efforts;

•

first- and third-party data available to us relative to our competitors;

•

ease of use, performance, price and reliability of solutions developed either by us or our competitors;

•

the attractiveness and volume of our product and service offerings (including measurement tools) compared
to those of our competitors;

•

the strength of our advertiser relationships and offerings compared to those of our competitors;

•

the ease with which our advertising products fit into existing advertiser budgets compared to those of our
competitors; and

•

the other risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

If we are unable to compete effectively for advertisers, our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We are in the early stages of our monetization efforts and there is no assurance we will be able to scale our
business for future growth.
We are in the early stages of our monetization efforts and are still growing and scaling our revenue model. Our growth
strategy depends on, among other things, attracting more advertisers (including serving more mid-market and
unmanaged advertisers and expanding our sales efforts to reach advertisers in additional international markets),
scaling our business with existing advertisers and expanding our advertising product offerings, such as self-serve
tools. There is no assurance that this revenue model will continue to be successful or that we will generate increasing
revenue. We do not know if we can sustain the current growth rate of our revenue. To sustain or increase our revenue,
we must obtain new advertisers, encourage existing advertisers to maintain or increase their advertising spend on our
platform, expand the number of markets where we offer advertising and increase the breadth and functionality of our
advertising offerings, including new advertising formats and measurement tools.
In order to obtain new advertisers and further our relationship with current advertisers, we must increase the size of
our user base or the engagement of our users. There is no assurance that our user growth or engagement strategy
will continue to be successful or that we will increase the number of users on our service.
In addition, to scale the growth of our ad platform, we will have to successfully develop and target ad products based
on Pinners’ personal taste and interests, which will require broad and diverse Pinner data. If we are unable to do this
with the data, technology and resources available to us, we may need to consider alternatives, such as partnerships,
to grow our business. If we choose not to pursue these partnerships, or if these partnerships are unsuccessful, our
business may prove less scalable, and our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
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We generate substantially all of our revenue from advertising. The failure to attract new advertisers, the loss
of advertisers or a reduction in how much they spend could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
Substantially all of our revenue is generated from third-party advertising, a trend that we expect to continue. Most
advertisers do not have long-term advertising commitments with us. Many of our advertisers only recently started
working with us and spend a relatively small portion of their overall advertising budget with us. In order to increase the
number of advertisers and increase the portion of the advertising budget that our existing advertisers spend with us,
we must invest in new tools and expand our sales force, and there can be no assurance that those efforts will be
successful. In addition, advertisers may view some of our products or our platform as experimental and may devote
only a small portion of their advertising spend to our platform until we develop measurement tools that demonstrate
the effectiveness of our platform. In addition, many advertisers do not have advertising creative content in a format
that would be successful on our platform and may be unable or unwilling to devote the technical or financial resources
required to develop content for our platform. Advertisers will not do, or continue to do, business with us if they do not
believe that our advertisements are effective in meeting their campaign goals, if we cannot measure the effectiveness
of our advertising products or if they do not believe that their investment in advertising with us will generate a
competitive return relative to other alternatives.
A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from a small number of advertisers, and is currently concentrated in
certain verticals, particularly CPG and retail. We either contract directly with advertisers or with advertising agencies
on behalf of advertisers. Many of these advertising agencies are owned by large media corporations that exercise
varying degrees of control over the agencies. Our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed by the loss
of, or a deterioration in our relationship with, any of our largest advertisers or with any advertising agencies or the
large media corporations that control them.
Our advertising revenue could be harmed by many other factors, including:
•

changes in the price of advertisements;

•

our inability to create new products that sustain or increase the value of our advertisements;

•

our inability to meet advertiser demand on our platform if we cannot increase the size and engagement of our
user base;

•

our inability to find the right balance between brand and performance advertising and provide the right
products and platform to support the pricing and demand needed for each of the advertisers;

•

changes in Pinner demographics that make us less attractive to advertisers;

•

our inability to make our ads more relevant and effective;

•

any decision to serve contextually relevant advertisements when the price of relevant advertisements may be
lower than other advertisements that we could show Pinners that are less relevant;

•

the availability, accuracy and utility of our analytics and measurement solutions that demonstrate the value of
our advertisements, or our ability to further improve such tools;

•

changes to our data privacy practices (including as a result of changes to laws or regulations or third-party
policies) that affect the type or manner of advertising that we are able to provide;

•

our inability to collect and share data which new or existing advertisers find useful;

•

competitive developments or advertiser perception of the value of our products;

•

product changes or advertising inventory management decisions we make that change the type, size or
frequency of advertisements on our platform;

•

Pinners that upload content or take other actions that are deemed to be hostile, inappropriate, illicit,
objectionable, illegal or otherwise not consistent with our advertisers’ brand;

•

the impact of invalid clicks or click fraud on our advertisements;

•

the failure of our advertising auction mechanism to target and price ads effectively;

•

difficulty and frustration from advertisers who may need to reformat or change their advertisements to comply
with our guidelines or experience challenges uploading and conforming their advertisements with our system
requirements;

•

the macroeconomic climate and the status of the advertising industry in general; and
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•

the other risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

These and other factors could reduce the amount that advertisers spend on our platform, or cause advertisers to stop
advertising with us altogether. Any of these events could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
Our ability to attract and retain advertisers depends on the development of tools to accurately measure the
effectiveness of advertisements on our platform.
Most advertisers rely on tools that measure the effectiveness of their ad campaigns in order to allocate their
advertising spend among various formats and platforms. If we are unable to measure the effectiveness of advertising
on our platform or we are unable to convince advertisers that our platform should be part of a larger advertising
budget, our ability to increase the demand and pricing of our advertising products and maintain or scale our revenue
may be limited. Our tools may be less developed than those of other platforms with which we compete for advertising
spend. Therefore, our ability to develop and offer tools that accurately measure the effectiveness of a campaign on
our platform is critical to our ability to attract new advertisers and retain, and increase spend from, our existing
advertisers.
Developing and improving these tools may require significant time and resources and additional investment, and in
some cases we may rely on third parties to provide data and technology needed to provide certain measurement data
to our advertisers. If we cannot continue to develop and improve our advertising tools in a timely fashion, those tools
are not reliable, or the measurement results are inconsistent with advertiser goals, our advertising revenue could be
adversely affected.
Many existing advertiser tools that measure the effectiveness of advertising do not account for the role of advertising
early in a Pinner's decision-making process, which is when many Pinners come to our service. Instead, these tools
measure the last ad or content that was exposed to the Pinner that gets credit for influencing any Pinner’s purchase or
action. As a result, we may not be able to demonstrate and measure for our advertisers the value of engaging with a
Pinner during the early intent phase.
In addition, web and mobile browser developers, such as Apple, Microsoft or Google, have implemented and may
continue to implement changes in browser or device functionality that impair our ability to measure and improve the
effectiveness of advertising on our platform. Such changes include, limiting the use of first-party and third-party
cookies and related tracking technologies and changes to click attribution technologies that limit the ability to collect
information that allows us to attribute user actions on advertisers’ websites to the effectiveness of advertising
campaigns run on our platform. For example, Apple launched its Intelligent Tracking Prevention (“ITP”) feature in its
Safari browser. ITP blocks some or all third-party cookies by default on mobile and desktop and ITP has become
increasingly restrictive over time. Apple's related Privacy-Preserving Ad Click attribution (PPAC), intended to preserve
some of the functionality lost with ITP, would limit cross-site and cross-device attribution, prevent measurement
outside a narrowly-defined attribution window, and prevent ad re-targeting and optimization. Similarly, Google recently
announced that it plans to stop supporting third-party cookies in its Google Chrome browser. These restrictions make
it more difficult for us to provide the most relevant ads to our Pinners, measure the effectiveness of, and to re-target
and optimize, advertising on our platform. Developers may release additional technology that further inhibits our ability
to collect data that allows us to measure the effectiveness of advertising on our platform. Any other restriction,
whether by law, regulation, policy (including third party policies) or otherwise, on our ability to collect and share data
which our advertisers find useful, our ability to use or benefit from tracking and measurement technologies, including
cookies, or that further reduce our ability to measure the effectiveness of advertising on our platform would impede
our ability to attract, grow and retain advertisers. Advertisers and other third parties who provide data that helps us
deliver personalized, relevant advertising may restrict or stop sharing this data. If they stop sharing this data with us, it
may not be possible for us to collect this data within the product or from another source.
We rely heavily on our ability to collect and share data and metrics for our advertisers to help new and existing
advertisers understand the performance of advertising campaigns. If advertisers do not perceive our metrics to be
accurate representations of our user base and user engagement, or if we discover inaccuracies in our metrics, they
may be less willing to allocate their budgets or resources to our platform, which could harm our business, revenue and
financial results.
We may not be able to develop effective products and tools for advertisers.
Growth in our advertising revenue depends on our ability to continue to develop and offer effective products and tools
for advertisers. New ad formats that take up more space on our platform may result in fewer impressions, which could
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adversely affect our revenue. As the advertising market generates and develops new concepts and technology, we
may incur additional costs to implement more effective products and tools. Continuing to develop and improve these
products and tools may require significant time and resources and additional investment. If we cannot continue to
develop and improve our advertising products and tools in a timely fashion, or if our advertising products and tools are
not well received by advertisers, our advertising revenue could be adversely affected.
We may not succeed in further expanding and monetizing our platform internationally and may be subject to
increased international business and economic risks.
We plan to continue expanding our business operations outside the United States and offering content and advertising
to Pinners and advertisers in other languages and countries. We plan to continue to enter new international markets
where we have limited or no experience in deploying our service or selling advertisements. In order to expand
successfully, we need to offer content and products that are customized and relevant to local Pinners and advertisers,
which requires significant investment of time and resources. We may launch our advertising platform in countries
where we do not have sales staffing in place, where market perception of our service and ad platform may be low or
where our audience size in a given market may be low relative to advertiser expectations, all or any of which could
limit our ability to monetize those countries. As we expand into new international markets, we may not yet understand
the full scope of Pinners’ personal taste and interests, demographics and culture in those markets, as well as
advertiser expectations, target audiences and return on advertising spend. This may cause us to expand into markets
before we are able to offer a service and advertising platform that has been sufficiently localized for those markets or
where those markets lack the necessary demand and infrastructure for long-term adoption of our service. For
example, we may experience challenges adapting our content and search tools to be localized for new markets, or
establishing sufficient high quality advertising inventory to deliver relevant localized experiences in new markets. This
may cause us to limit our expansion or decrease our operations in international markets, including discontinuing
advertising in those markets or not monetizing those markets at all, which could harm our reputation and business,
revenue and financial results. If the advertising market does not scale sufficiently or we are unsuccessful in deploying
or managing our operations in these markets, our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We are subject to a variety of risks inherent in doing business internationally, and our exposure to these risks will
increase as we continue to expand our operations, user base and advertiser base globally. These risks include:
•

political, social and economic instability;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and restrictions on currency conversions;

•

higher levels of credit risk and payment fraud;

•

enhanced difficulties of integrating any foreign acquisitions;

•

reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing global operations and the increased travel, infrastructure and legal
compliance costs associated with multiple international locations and subsidiaries;

•

different regulations and practices with respect to employee/employer relationships, existence of workers’
councils and labor unions, and other challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences,
making it harder to do business in certain international jurisdictions;

•

increasing labor costs due to high wage inflation in certain international jurisdictions;

•

compliance with statutory requirements relating to our equity;

•

regulations that might add difficulties in repatriating cash earned outside the United States and otherwise
prevent us from freely moving cash;

•

import and export controls and restrictions and changes in trade regulations;

•

compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar laws in other
jurisdictions;

•

compliance with GDPR and similar data privacy and data protection laws;

•

compliance with laws that might restrict content or advertising or require us to provide user information,
including confidential information, to local authorities;

•

compliance with multiple tax jurisdictions and management of tax impact of global operations; and

•

the other risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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If we are unable to expand internationally and manage the complexity of global operations successfully, our business,
revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We cannot assure you that we will effectively manage the growth of our business.
We have experienced rapid growth and demand for our service since inception. The growth and expansion of our
business and product offerings and the increase in full-time employees place significant challenges on our
management, operational and financial resources, including managing multiple relationships with Pinners, advertisers,
technology licensors and other third parties. If we continue to grow our operations or the number of our third-party
relationships, our technology systems, procedures or internal controls may not be adequate.
As our organization continues to grow in number of employees and offices and we are required to implement more
complex organizational management structures, we may also find it increasingly difficult to preserve our corporate
culture, including our ability to quickly develop and launch new and innovative products and adequately oversee
employees and business functions. Our inability to effectively manage growth of our organization may harm our
business, revenue and financial results.
We have a limited operating history and, as a result, our past results may not be indicative of future operating
performance.
We have a limited operating history with the current scale of our business, which makes it difficult to forecast our
future results. You should not rely on our past results of operations as indicators of future performance. You should
consider and evaluate our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainty frequently encountered by companies like
ours.
We have incurred operating losses in the past, anticipate increasing our costs and operating expenses,
expect to incur operating losses in the future and may never achieve or maintain profitability.
For all annual periods of our operating history we have experienced net losses and negative cash flows from
operations. We generated net losses of $1,361.4 million and $63.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $2,206.7 million. We have not
achieved profitability, and we may not realize sufficient revenue to achieve profitability in future periods.
We also anticipate that our operating expenses will increase substantially in the foreseeable future if we continue to
expand our operations domestically and internationally, enhance our product offerings, broaden our Pinner and
advertiser base, expand our marketing channels, hire additional employees and develop our technology. These efforts
may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue
sufficiently to offset these higher expenses. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, operating delays or other
unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. We have significant unrecognized share-based
compensation expense, which we expect to recognize over the next several years. For more information, see
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Notes to Financial
Statements" In addition, we have entered into certain non-cancelable commitments that limit our ability to reduce our
cost and expenses in the future. For more information, see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" and "Notes to Financial Statements". Any failure to increase our revenue as we
implement initiatives to grow our business could prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability on either a
quarterly or annual basis.
We may make decisions consistent with our mission and values that may reduce our short- or medium-term
operating results.
Our mission—to bring everyone the inspiration to create a life they love—and company values are integral to
everything we do. We frequently make decisions regarding our business and service in accordance with our mission
and values that may reduce our short- or medium-term operating results if we believe those decisions will improve the
experiences of Pinners, advertisers, employees or our community, and therefore benefit our business. For example,
we may choose to remove content that we have determined does not create an inspiring experience for Pinners or
revise our policies in ways that decrease Pinner engagement. Also, we decided to extend certain GDPR rights, such
as rights of access, correction and deletion, to all of our Pinners worldwide, as opposed to only those in Europe.
These decisions may not be consistent with the expectations of investors and any longer-term benefits may not
materialize within the time frame we expect or at all, which could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
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Our operating results are likely to fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes them difficult to predict.
Our quarterly operating results are tied to certain key business metrics that have fluctuated in the past and are likely
to fluctuate in the future, which makes them difficult to predict. Our operating results depend on numerous factors,
many of which are outside of our control, including:
•

our ability to generate revenue from our service;

•

our ability to improve or maintain gross margins;

•

the number and relevancy of advertisements shown to Pinners;

•

the manner in which Pinners engage with different products, where certain products may generate different
amounts of revenue;

•

downward pressure on the pricing of our advertisements;

•

the timing, cost of and mix of new and existing marketing and promotional efforts as we grow and expand our
operations to remain competitive;

•

seasonal fluctuations in spending by our advertisers, product usage by Pinners and growth rates for Pinners
and engagement, each of which may change as our product offerings evolve or our business grows;

•

seasonal fluctuations in internet usage generally;

•

the success of technologies designed to block the display of ads;

•

development and introduction of new product offerings by us or our competitors;

•

the ability of our third-party providers to scale effectively and provide the necessary technical infrastructure for
our service on a timely basis;

•

system failures, disruptions, breaches of security or data privacy or internet downtime, whether on our service
or on those of third parties;

•

the inaccessibility of our service due to third-party actions;

•

changes in measurement of our metrics;

•

costs associated with the technical infrastructure used to operate our business, including hosting services;

•

fluctuations in the amount of share-based compensation expense;

•

our ability to anticipate and adapt to the changing internet business or macroeconomic conditions; and

•

the other risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We receive, process, store, use and share data, some of which contains personal information, which subjects
us to complex and evolving governmental regulation and other legal obligations related to data privacy, data
protection and other matters, which are subject to change and uncertain interpretation.
We receive, process, store, use and share data, some of which contains personal information. There are numerous
federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations regarding matters central to our business, data privacy and the
collection, storing, sharing, use, processing, disclosure and protection of personal information and other data from
Pinners, employees and business partners, the scope of which are regularly changing, subject to uncertain and
differing interpretations and may be inconsistent among countries or conflict with other rules.
The application and interpretation of these laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly
evolving industry in which we operate, and as the focus on data privacy and data protection increases globally, we
are, and will continue to be, subject to varied and evolving data privacy and data protection laws. We are subject to
GDPR which expands the rights of individuals to control how their personal data is processed, includes restrictions on
the use of personal data of children, creates new regulatory and operational requirements for processing personal
data (in particular in case of a data breach), increases requirements for security and confidentiality, restricts transfers
of data outside of the European Economic Area and provides for significant penalties for non-compliance, including
fines of up to 4% of global annual turnover for the preceding financial year or €20 million (whichever is higher) for the
most serious infringements. In June 2018, the State of California enacted the CCPA, which came into effect on
January 1, 2020. The CCPA requires companies that process information on California residents to make new
disclosures to consumers about their data collection, use and sharing practices, allows consumers to opt out of
certain data sharing with third parties and provides a new cause of action for data breaches. It remains unclear how
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the CCPA will be interpreted. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission and many state attorneys general are
interpreting federal and state consumer protection laws to impose standards for the online collection, use,
dissemination and security of data. The burdens imposed by these and other laws and regulations that may be
enacted, or new interpretations of existing laws and regulations, may require us to modify our data processing
practices and policies and to incur substantial costs in order to comply and may disproportionately affect our business
in comparison to our peers that have greater resources. These laws and regulations may also impact our ability to
expand advertising on our platform internationally, as they may impede our ability to deliver targeted advertising and
accurately measure our ad performance.
Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy policies, data privacy-related obligations to Pinners or
other third parties, or our data privacy-related legal obligations, or any compromise of security that results in the
unauthorized release or transfer of personally identifiable information or other user data, or other failure to comply with
these laws and regulations, or regulatory scrutiny, may result in governmental enforcement actions or litigation that
could expose our business to substantial financial penalties, or other monetary or non-monetary relief, negative
publicity, loss of confidence in our products, decline in Pinner or advertiser growth or damage to our brand and
reputation. Companies in the technology industry have recently experienced increased regulatory scrutiny relating to
data privacy and data protection, and we may become subject to enhanced scrutiny and enforcement actions from
regulators to ensure compliance with data privacy and data protection laws and regulations. The GDPR, CCPA and
other such laws and regulations impose new and burdensome obligations, and include substantial uncertainty as to
their interpretation, and we may face challenges in addressing their requirements, which could result in fines or
penalties, lead us to change our data privacy policies and practices and limit our ability to deliver personalized
advertising. Public statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or others could also cause Pinners to lose
trust in us, which could result in declines in user growth, retention or engagement and have an adverse effect on our
brand, reputation and business. Additionally, if third parties that we work with, such as advertisers, service providers or
developers, violate applicable laws or our policies, these violations may also put Pinners’ information at risk and could
in turn have an adverse effect on our business, revenue and financial results.
Any significant change to applicable laws, regulations or industry practices, or to interpretations of existing laws and
regulations, regarding the use or disclosure of Pinners’ data, or regarding the manner in which we obtain express or
implied consent from Pinners for the use and disclosure of such data, could require us to modify our products,
possibly in a material manner, and may limit our ability to develop new products that make use of the data that
Pinners voluntarily share. There currently are a number of proposals pending before federal, state and foreign
legislative and regulatory bodies. For example, the European Union is contemplating the adoption of the “ePrivacy
Regulation” that would govern data privacy and the protection of personal data in electronic communications, in
particular for direct marketing purposes. In addition, some countries are considering or have passed legislation
implementing data protection requirements or requiring local storage and processing of data or similar requirements
that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our service, particularly as we expand our operations
internationally.
Pinner metrics and other estimates are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived
inaccuracies in those metrics could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We regularly review metrics, including the number of our active users and other measures to evaluate growth trends,
measure our performance and make strategic decisions. These metrics are calculated using internal company data
and have not been validated by an independent third party. While these numbers are based on what we currently
believe to be reasonable estimates for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in
measuring how our products are used across large populations globally. Our metrics calculations may be inaccurate,
and we may not be able to identify those inaccuracies. In the past, we have relied on other metrics that measure
different activities, such as saving a Pin, clicking and other activities, as indicators of user growth and engagement.
We have in the past implemented, and may from time to time in the future implement, new methodologies for
calculating these metrics which may result in the metrics from prior periods changing, decreasing or not being
comparable to prior periods. For example, in the second quarter of 2018, we implemented our current methodology
for tracking active users. We have restated our active user data for periods from the fourth quarter of 2016 to the first
quarter of 2018 based on the information that was available to us under the prior methodology in a way that we
believe is comparable to the current methodology. However, we were not able to restate active users for periods prior
to the fourth quarter of 2016 based on the data available to us from those periods. As a result, active user information
for the first, second and third quarters of 2016 are based on the prior methodology, although we believe the
differences are not material. Our prior methodology for measuring active users relied on different signals depending
on the platform where the user activity was measured—iOS, Android, web and mobile web—and inferred user activity
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in a way that required removal of certain data that would not indicate active use, such as background system
requests. Our metrics may also differ from estimates published by third parties or from similarly titled metrics of our
competitors due to differences in methodology or data used.
Our MAU metrics may also be impacted by false or spam accounts in existence on our service. We regularly
deactivate spam accounts that violate our terms of service, and exclude these users from the calculation of our MAU
metrics; however, we may not succeed in identifying and removing all spam accounts from our service. Users are not
prohibited from having more than one account on our service, and we treat multiple accounts held by a single person
as multiple users for purposes of calculating our active users.
In addition, some of our Pinner demographic data may be incomplete or inaccurate. For example, because Pinners
self-report their date of birth, our age-demographic data may differ from Pinners’ actual ages, or be unavailable. We
receive age-demographic data for a portion of those Pinners from other third-party accounts that Pinners chose to
authenticate with on our service, such as Facebook and Google, but there can be no assurance that those platforms
will continue to give us permission to access that data or that the data we receive from those third parties is accurate.
In addition, our data regarding the geographic location of Pinners and revenue by user geography is estimated based
on a number of factors, which may not always accurately reflect the actual location and may be different depending on
the metric we are calculating. If our metrics provide us with incorrect or incomplete information about Pinners and their
behavior, we may make inaccurate conclusions about our business.
Technologies have been developed that can block the display of our ads, which could harm our business,
revenue and financial results.
Technologies have been developed, and will likely continue to be developed, that can block the display of our ads. We
generate substantially all of our revenue from advertising, and ad blocking technologies may prevent the display of
certain of our ads, which could harm our business, revenue and financial results. Existing ad blocking technologies
that have not been effective on our service may become effective as we make certain product changes, and new ad
blocking technologies may be developed. More users may choose to use products that block or obscure the display of
our ads if we are unable to successfully balance the amount of organic content and paid advertisements, or if users’
attitudes toward advertisements become more negative. Further, regardless of their effectiveness, ad blockers may
generate concern regarding the health of the digital advertising industry, which could reduce the value of digital
advertising and harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We depend on Amazon Web Services for the vast majority of our compute, storage, data transfer and other
services. Any disruption of, degradation in or interference with our use of Amazon Web Services could
negatively affect our operations and harm our business, revenue and financial results.
Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) provides the cloud computing infrastructure we use to host our website, mobile
application and many of the internal tools we use to operate our business. We have a long-term commitment with
AWS. Under the agreement with AWS, in return for negotiated concessions, we currently are required to maintain a
substantial majority of our monthly usage of certain compute, storage, data transfer and other services on AWS. This
addendum is terminable only under certain conditions, including by either party following the other party’s material
breach, which may be the result of circumstances that are beyond our control. A material breach of this addendum by
us, or early termination of the addendum as a result of an acquisition of us by another cloud services provider, could
carry substantial penalties, including liquidated damages. If AWS increases pricing terms, terminates or seeks to
terminate our contractual relationship, establishes more favorable relationships with our competitors, or changes or
interprets its terms of service or policies in a manner that is unfavorable, those actions could harm our business,
revenue and financial results.
Any significant disruption of, limitation of our access to or other interference with our use of AWS would negatively
impact our operations and our business could be harmed. In addition, any transition of the cloud services currently
provided by AWS to another cloud services provider would be difficult to implement and would cause us to incur
significant time and expense and could disrupt or degrade our ability to deliver our products and services. The level of
service provided by AWS could affect the availability or speed of our services. If Pinners or advertisers are not able to
access our service or platform or encounter difficulties in doing so, we may lose Pinners or advertisers and could
harm our business and reputation.
We utilize data center hosting facilities operated by AWS, located in various facilities. In addition, we have
implemented a limited disaster recovery program which does not allow us to serve network traffic from back-up data
center services. An unexpected disruption of services provided by these data centers could hamper our ability to
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handle existing or increased traffic, result in the loss of data or cause our platform to become unavailable, which may
harm our reputation and business.
We must effectively operate with mobile operating systems, web browsers, networks, regulations and
standards, which we do not control. Changes in our products or to those mobile operating systems, web
browsers, networks, regulations or standards may harm Pinner retention, growth and engagement.
Because our service is used on mobile devices and through web browsers, our application must remain interoperable
with popular mobile operating systems and browsers, including Android, Chrome, iOS and Safari. We have no control
over these operating systems and browsers. Any changes to these operating systems, browsers or the online stores
distributing our application that impact the accessibility, speed or functionality of our service or give preferential
treatment to competitive products, could harm usage of our service. Our competitors that control the operating
systems, browsers and online stores that our application runs on, or is distributed through, could make interoperability
of our service with those systems, browsers and stores more difficult. New products introduced by us may take longer
to function with these systems and browsers.
If we are unable to deliver consistent, high-quality Pinner experiences across different devices with different operating
systems, user growth, retention or engagement may decline, which could harm our business, revenue and financial
results.
To deliver high-quality video and other content over mobile cellular networks, our products must work well with a
range of mobile technologies, systems, networks, regulations and standards that we do not control. The adoption of
any laws or regulations that adversely affect the growth, popularity or use of the internet, including laws governing
internet neutrality, could decrease the demand for our products and services and increase our cost of doing business.
For example, in June 2018, the Federal Communications Commission repealed the 2015 “open internet rules,” which
had prohibited broadband internet access service providers in the United States from impeding access to most
content, or otherwise unfairly discriminating against content providers. The impact of this repeal on the way Pinners
access the internet and the way we interact with internet service providers remain uncertain. Other countries also
have rules requiring equal access to internet content. Regulatory changes could limit Pinners’ ability to access our
service or make our service a less attractive alternative to our competitors’ platforms and cause our user growth,
retention or engagement to decline, which could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
If it becomes more difficult for Pinners to access and use our service on their browsers or mobile devices, if Pinners
choose not to access or use our service on their mobile devices, or if Pinners choose to use mobile products that limit
access to our service, user growth, retention and engagement may decline, which could harm our business, revenue
and financial results.
We rely on software, technologies and related services from other parties, and problems in their use, access
or performance could increase our costs and harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We rely on software, technologies and related services from third parties to operate critical functions of our business.
Third-party technologies or services that we utilize may become unavailable due to a variety of reasons, including
outages, interruptions or failure to perform under our agreement. Unexpected delays in their availability or function
can, in turn, affect the use or availability of our service. Further, third-party software and service providers may no
longer provide such software and services on commercially reasonable terms or may fail to properly maintain or
update their software. In such instances, we may be required to seek licenses to software or services from other
parties or to redesign our products to function with new software or services. This could result in delays in the release
of new products until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or developed, and integrated into our platform
and services. Furthermore, we might be forced to limit the features available in our current or future products. These
occurrences, delays and limitations, if they occur, could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
Our business depends on our ability to maintain and scale our technology infrastructure, including speed
and availability of our service.
Our reputation and ability to attract, retain and serve Pinners and advertisers is dependent upon the reliable
performance of our service and our underlying technology infrastructure and content delivery processes. From time to
time, we are subject to interruptions in or disruptions of our systems. If our platform is unavailable when Pinners or
advertisers attempt to access it, if it does not load as quickly as they expect or if their content is not saved, Pinners
may not return to our platform as often in the future, or at all.
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Our advertisers must be able to easily buy, forecast, optimize and measure the performance of ads on a responsive
and stable platform. Advertisers will not continue to do business with us if our technology infrastructure is not reliable.
Our systems may not be adequately designed with the necessary reliability and redundancy to avoid performance
delays or outages that could harm our business. Our systems may not be adequately designed to avoid performance
delays or outages. For example, our engineering teams' broad access to our systems is designed for speed and
release velocity, which increases the risk of disruptive intentional and unintentional (and potentially premature)
updates and changes being made directly to our live platforms and services. As our user and advertiser base and the
volume and types of information shared on our service continue to grow, we will need an increasing amount of
technology infrastructure, including network capacity and computing power, to continue to satisfy the needs of Pinners
and advertisers, which could increase our costs. It is possible that we may fail to effectively scale and grow our
technology infrastructure to accommodate these increased demands, which could harm our business, revenue and
financial results.
In addition, our systems and operations are vulnerable to damage, delays or interruptions from fire, flood, power loss,
telecommunications failure, spikes in usage volume, terrorist attacks, acts of war, earthquakes and similar events. We
are particularly vulnerable to these types of events because our cloud computing infrastructure is currently located in
one geographic region. In addition, the substantial majority of our employees are based in our headquarters located in
San Francisco, California. If there is a catastrophic failure involving our systems or major disruptive event affecting our
headquarters or the San Francisco area in general, we may be unable to operate our service.
A substantial portion of our technology infrastructure is provided by third parties. Any disruption or failure in the
services we receive from these providers could harm our ability to handle existing or increased traffic or cause our
platform to become unavailable, which could harm our business. We exercise little control over these providers and
have limited line of sight into their governance, and any financial or other difficulties these providers face may harm
our business.
The occurrence of any of the foregoing risks could result in damage to our systems and hardware or could cause
them to fail completely, and our insurance may not cover such risks or may be insufficient to compensate us for losses
that may occur. These events may result in distraction of management, loss of revenue and costs from litigation and
enforcement. In addition, they could also result in significant expense to repair or replace damaged facilities and
remedy resultant data loss or corruption. A prolonged interruption in the availability or reduction in the speed or other
functionality of our products could materially harm our reputation and business.
The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other highly qualified
personnel in the future, could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We currently depend on the continued services and performance of our key personnel, including Benjamin
Silbermann and others. Mr. Silbermann’s employment, and the employment of our other key personnel, is at will,
which means they may resign or be terminated for any reason at any time. In addition, much of our key technology
and systems are custom-made for our business by our personnel. The loss of key personnel, including key members
of management as well as our key engineering, design, marketing, sales and product development personnel, could
disrupt our operations and harm our business.
In addition, it is important to our business to attract and retain highly talented personnel, particularly engineers with
expertise in computer vision, artificial intelligence and machine learning. As we grow our business, we may find our
recruiting and retention efforts more challenging because the marketplace for talent is highly competitive. The
incentives provided by our stock option grants, restricted stock grants and restricted stock unit grants, or by other
compensation arrangements, may not be effective to attract and retain employees. We may also be required to
enhance wages, benefits and non-equity incentives. If our company culture changes, we may experience difficulties
attracting and retaining personnel. If we do not succeed in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel or the
financial resources required to do so increase, we may not be able to meet our business objectives, and our business,
revenue and financial results could be harmed.
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Action by governments to restrict access to our service or certain of our products in their countries could
harm our business, revenue and financial results.
Government authorities outside the United States may seek to restrict access to our service if they consider us to be
in violation of their laws or for other reasons, and our service has been restricted by governments in other countries
from time to time. For example, access to our service has been or is currently restricted in whole or in part in China,
India, Kazakhstan and Turkey. Other governments may seek to restrict access to or block our service, prohibit or block
the hosting of certain content available through our service, or impose other restrictions that may affect the
accessibility or usability of our service in that country for a period of time or even indefinitely. For example, some
countries have enacted laws that allow websites to be blocked for hosting certain types of content or may require
websites to remove certain restricted content. It can be challenging to manage the requirements of multiple
jurisdictions governing the type and nature of the content available on our service. If prohibitions or restrictions are
imposed on our service, or if our competitors are able to successfully penetrate new geographic markets or capture a
greater share of existing geographic markets that we cannot access or where we face other restrictions, our user
growth, retention and engagement may be adversely affected, and our business, revenue and financial results could
be harmed.
We may be liable as a result of content or information that is published or made available on our service.
We are subject to many U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations that involve matters central to our
business, including laws and regulations that involve data privacy and protection, intellectual property (including
copyright and patent laws), content regulation, rights of publicity, advertising, marketing, health and safety,
competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, taxation, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and corruption,
economic or other trade prohibitions or sanctions or securities law compliance. We may be sued or face regulatory
action for claims relating to content or information that is published or made available on our service. Our systems,
tools and personnel that help us to proactively detect potentially policy-violating or otherwise inappropriate content
cannot identify all such content on our service, and in many cases this content will appear on our service. This risk
may increase as we develop and increase the use of certain products, such as video, for which identifying such
content is challenging. Additionally, some controversial content may not be banned on our service and, even if it is not
featured in advertisements or recommendations to Pinners, may still appear in search results or be saved on boards.
This risk is enhanced in certain jurisdictions outside of the United States where our protection from liability for content
published on our platform by third parties may be unclear and where we may be less protected under local laws than
we are in the United States. Further, if policy-violating content is found on our service, we may be in violation of the
terms of certain of our key agreements, which may result in termination of the agreement and, in some cases,
payment of damages. We could incur significant costs in investigating and defending such claims and, if we are found
liable, damages. If any of these events occur, our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We rely on a variety of statutory and common-law frameworks and defenses relevant to the content available on our
service, including the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, the Communications Decency Act and the fair-use doctrine in
the United States, and the Electronic Commerce Directive in the European Union. The DMCA limits, but does not
necessarily eliminate, our potential liability for caching, hosting, listing or linking to third-party content that may include
materials that infringe copyrights. The CDA further limits our potential liability for content uploaded onto our service by
third parties. Defenses such as the fair-use doctrine (and related doctrines in other countries) may be available to limit
our potential liability for featuring third-party intellectual property content for purposes such as reporting, commentary
and parody. In the European Union, the Electronic Commerce Directive offers certain limitations on our potential
liability for featuring third-party content. However, each of these statutes and doctrines is subject to uncertain or
evolving judicial interpretation and regulatory and legislative amendments, and we cannot guarantee that such
frameworks and defenses will be available for our protection. Regulators in the United States and in other countries
may introduce new regulatory regimes that increase potential liability for content available on our service, including
liability for misleading or manipulative information, hate speech, privacy, copyrighted content and other types of online
harm. For example, there have been various Congressional efforts to restrict the scope of the protections available to
online platforms under Section 230 of the CDA, and current protections from liability for third-party content in the
United States could decrease or change. Similarly, the EU Directive on Copyright in the Digital Single Market (DSM) to
be implemented by each EU member state by June 2021 could alter the liability scheme for online sharing-content
platforms and impose additional requirements for the content uploaded by their users to protect copyright owners
against unlicensed use of their work. It may require us to build in additional product features or tools that may not be
favorable to our business, add payment obligations or compliance costs. There are also a number of legislative
proposals in the United States, at both the federal and state level, and in the European Union and the U.K., that could
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impose new obligations in areas affecting our business, such as liability for copyright infringement and other online
harm.
We could also face fines or orders restricting or blocking our service in particular countries as a result of content on
our platform. For example, the Network Enforcement Act in Germany imposes significant fines for failures to comply
with certain content removal and disclosure obligations, and other countries, including the U.K., may enact similar
legislation, which would impose penalties for failure to remove certain content. Additionally, the European Union is
currently debating a regulation that would require the removal of terrorist-related content within one hour of being
flagged. If the regulation is passed, the tools we use for certain removal obligations may not work and we may have to
build custom tools.
Any new legislation may be difficult to comply with in a timely and comprehensive fashion and may substantially
increase our costs. These costs could be prohibitively expensive for a company of our size, which could prevent us
from launching a product in a particular market. This could disadvantage us relative to our competitors with more
resources. If the rules, doctrines or currently available defenses change, if international jurisdictions refuse to apply
similar protections that are currently available in the United States or the European Union or if a court were to
disagree with our application of those rules to our service, we could be required to expend significant resources to try
to comply with the new rules or incur liability and our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We could become involved in legal disputes involving intellectual property claims or other disputes that are
expensive to support, and if resolved adversely, could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
We are currently involved in, and may in the future be involved in, actual and threatened legal proceedings, claims,
investigations and government inquiries arising in the ordinary course of our business, including intellectual property,
data privacy and data protection, privacy and other torts, illegal or objectionable content, consumer protection,
securities, employment, contractual rights, civil rights infringement, false or misleading advertising, or other legal
claims relating to content or information that is provided to us or published or made available on our service. Any
proceedings, claims or inquiries involving us, whether successful or not, may be time consuming, result in costly
litigation, unfavorable outcomes, increased costs of business, may require us to change our business practices or
products, require significant amount of management’s time, may harm our reputation or otherwise harm our business
and future financial results.
We are presently involved in and have been subject to actual and threatened litigation with respect to third-party
patents, trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property, and may continue to be subject to intellectual property
litigation and threats thereof. Companies in the internet, technology and media industries own large numbers of
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of
infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. As we face increasing competition, grow our business
and products, and become increasingly high profile, the possibility of receiving a larger number of intellectual property
claims against us grows. In addition, various “non-practicing entities” that own patents and other intellectual property
rights have asserted, and may in the future attempt to assert, intellectual property claims against us to extract value
through licensing or other settlements.
From time to time, we receive letters from patent holders alleging that some of our products infringe their patent rights
and from trademark holders alleging infringement of their trademark rights. We also receive letters from holders of
copyrighted content alleging infringement of their intellectual property rights, including DMCA take-down requests. Our
technologies and content, including the content that Pinners pin to our service, may not be able to withstand such
third-party claims.
With respect to any intellectual property claims, we may have to seek a license to continue using technologies or
engaging in practices found to be in violation of a third party’s rights, which may not be available on reasonable terms
and may significantly increase our operating expenses. A license to continue such technologies or practices may not
be available to us at all and we may be required to discontinue use of such technologies or practices or to develop
alternative non-infringing technologies or practices. The development of alternative non-infringing technologies or
practices could require significant effort and expense or may not be achievable at all. Our business, revenue and
financial results could be harmed as a result.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, the value of our brand and other intangible assets may be
diminished, and our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on a combination of confidentiality, invention assignment and license
agreements with our employees, consultants and other third parties with whom we have relationships, as well as
trademark, copyright, patent and trade secret protection laws, to protect our proprietary rights. We have filed various
applications for certain aspects of our intellectual property in the United States and other countries, and we currently
hold issued patents in multiple jurisdictions. Further, there can be no assurance that each of our patent applications
will result in the issuance of a patent. In addition, any resulting issued patents may have claims narrower than those in
our patent applications. There can be no assurance that each of our trademark applications will result in the issuance
of a trademark or that each resulting trademark registration will be able to be maintained. In the future we may acquire
additional patents or patent portfolios, license patents from third parties or agree to license the use of our patents to
third parties, which could require significant cash expenditures. Additionally, our current and future patents,
trademarks and other intellectual property or other proprietary rights may be contested, circumvented or found
unenforceable or invalid.
However, third parties may knowingly or unknowingly infringe or challenge our proprietary rights. Effective intellectual
property protection may not be available in every country in which we operate or intend to operate our business. We
may not be able to prevent infringement without incurring substantial time and expense, if at all. There can be no
assurance that others will not offer technologies, products, services, features or concepts that are substantially similar
to ours and compete with our business. Similarly, particularly as we expand the scope of our business and the
countries in which we operate, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing, or challenging our use of,
our intellectual property rights, including those used to build and distinguish the “Pinterest” brand. If the protection of
our proprietary rights is inadequate to prevent unauthorized use or appropriation by third parties, the value of our
brand and other intangible assets may be diminished and competitors may be able to more effectively mimic our
technologies, products, services or features or methods of operations. Any of these events could harm our business,
revenue and financial results.
Our use of “open source” software could subject us to possible litigation or could prevent us from offering
products that include open source software or require us to obtain licenses on unfavorable terms.
A portion of the technologies we use incorporates “open source” software, and we may incorporate open source
software in the future. Open source licenses may subject us to certain unfavorable conditions, including requirements
that we offer our products that incorporate the open source software for no cost, that we make publicly available the
source code for any modifications or derivative works we create based upon, incorporating or using the open source
software, or that we license such modifications or derivative works under the terms of the particular open source
license. We also license to others some of our software through open source projects which requires us to make the
source code publicly available, and therefore can affect our ability to protect our intellectual property rights with
respect to that software. If an author or other third party that distributes open source software that we use or license
were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of the applicable license, we could be required to incur
significant legal expenses defending against such allegations and could be subject to significant damages, enjoined
from offering our products that contained the open source software, required to release proprietary source code,
required to obtain licenses from third parties or otherwise required to comply with the unfavorable conditions unless
and until we can re-engineer the product so that it complies with the open source license or does not incorporate the
open source software. Any of the foregoing could disrupt our ability to offer our products and harm our business,
revenue and financial results.
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We may acquire other businesses, which could require significant management attention, disrupt our
business, dilute stockholder value and harm our business, revenue and financial results.
As part of our business strategy, we have made and intend to make acquisitions to add specialized employees and
complementary companies, products or technologies. Our previous and future acquisitions may not achieve our goals,
and we may not realize benefits from acquisitions we make in the future. Any integration process will require
significant time and resources, and we may not be able to manage the process successfully. If we fail to successfully
integrate acquisitions, or the personnel or technologies associated with those acquisitions, the business, revenue and
financial results of the combined company could be harmed. Our acquisition strategy may change over time and
future acquisitions we complete could be viewed negatively by Pinners, advertisers, investors or other parties with
whom we do business. We may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology and accurately forecast
the financial impact of an acquisition, including accounting charges. We may also incur unanticipated liabilities that we
assume as a result of acquiring companies. We may have to pay cash, incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for
any such acquisition, each of which could affect our financial condition or the value of our securities. We would expect
to finance any future acquisitions through a combination of additional issuances of equity, corporate indebtedness,
asset-backed acquisition financing or cash from operations. The sale of equity to finance any such acquisitions could
result in dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations and
could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations. In the
future, we may not be able to find other suitable acquisition candidates, and we may not be able to complete
acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. Our acquisition strategy could require significant management attention,
disrupt our business and harm our business, revenue and financial results.
If we are unable to obtain additional financing, if needed or if we default on our credit obligations, our
operations may be interrupted and our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed.
We may require additional financing to maintain and grow our business. Our ability to obtain financing will depend on,
among other things, our development efforts, business plans, operating performance, investor demand and the
condition of the capital markets at the time we seek financing. We cannot assure you that additional financing will be
available to us on favorable terms when required, or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity,
equity-linked or debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to the rights of our
common stock, and our existing stockholders may experience dilution.
Our revolving credit facility provides our lenders with a first-priority lien against substantially all of our domestic assets,
as well as certain domestic intellectual property, and contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions
that may limit our operational flexibility or otherwise adversely affect our results of operations. It contains a number of
covenants that limit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, pay
dividends, make redemptions and repurchases of stock, make investments, loans and acquisitions, incur liens,
engage in transactions with affiliates, merge or consolidate with other companies, sell material businesses or assets,
or license or transfer certain of our intellectual property. We are also required to maintain certain financial covenants,
including a consolidated total assets covenant and a liquidity covenant. Complying with these covenants may make it
more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy and compete against companies who are not
subject to such restrictions.
If we fail to comply with the covenants under the revolving credit facility, lenders would have a right to, among other
things, terminate the commitments to provide additional loans under the facility, enforce any liens on collateral
securing the obligations under the facility, declare all outstanding loans and accrued interest and fees to be due and
payable and require us to post cash collateral to be held as security for any reimbursement obligations in respect of
any outstanding letters of credit issued under the facility. If any remedies under the facility were exercised, we may
not have sufficient cash or be able to borrow sufficient funds to refinance the debt or sell sufficient assets to repay the
debt, which could immediately materially and adversely affect our business, cash flows, operations and financial
condition. Even if we were able to obtain new financing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms or on terms
that are acceptable to us.
Additionally, our revolving credit facility utilizes LIBOR or various alternative methods set forth in our revolving credit
facility to calculate the amount of accrued interest on any borrowings. Regulators in certain jurisdictions including the
United Kingdom and the United States have announced the desire to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021.
If a published U.S. dollar LIBOR rate is unavailable, the interest rates on our debt indexed to LIBOR will be
determined using one of the alternative methods, any of which could, if the revolver is drawn, result in interest
obligations that are more than the current form, which could have a material adverse effect on our financing costs.
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The interpretation and application of recent U.S. tax legislation or other changes in U.S. or non-U.S. taxation
of our operations could harm our business, revenue and financial results.
The 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) changed how the United States imposes income tax on multinational
corporations in a number of ways. The issuance of additional regulatory or accounting guidance may affect our
analysis of the impact of the new law on us and may harm our operating results and financial condition. Accordingly,
we are still analyzing the Tax Act with our professional advisers. Until that analysis is complete, the full impact of the
new tax law on us during future periods is uncertain, and no assurances can be made on any potential impact.
Additionally, in March 2018, the European Commission released a proposal for a European Council directive on
taxation of specified digital services. The proposal calls for an interim tax on certain revenues from digital activities, as
well as a longer-term regime that creates a taxable presence for digital services and imposes a tax on digital profits.
We do not yet know the impact this proposal will have on our financial results. Some jurisdictions have enacted a tax
on technology companies that generate revenues from the provision of digital services, including France and Italy, and
a number of other jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom, are considering enacting similar digital tax regimes.
These efforts are alongside Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s ongoing work, as part of its
Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) Action Plan, to issue a final report in 2020 that provides a long-term,
multilateral proposal on taxation of the digital economy.
Further changes to the U.S. or non-U.S. taxation of our operations may increase our worldwide effective tax rate,
result in additional taxes or other costs or have other material consequences, which could harm our business,
revenue and financial results.
We may have greater than anticipated tax liabilities, which could harm our business, revenue and financial
results.
We operate in a number of tax jurisdictions globally, including in the United States at the federal, state and local
levels, and in many other countries, and plan to continue to expand the scale of our operations in the future. Thus, we
are subject to review and potential audit by a number of U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax authorities.
Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities.
Further, tax authorities may disagree with tax positions we take and challenge our tax positions. Successful unilateral
or multi-jurisdictional actions by various tax authorities, including in the context of our current or future corporate
operating structure and third-party and intercompany arrangements (including transfer pricing and the manner in
which we develop, value and use our intellectual property), may increase our worldwide effective tax rate, result in
additional taxes or other costs or have other material consequences, which could harm our business and financial
results. In December 2019, we completed an intra-entity asset transfer of certain of our intellectual property rights to
our Irish subsidiary, which resulted in an increase in foreign deferred tax assets. We cannot be certain that this
transfer will not lead to any unanticipated tax consequences which could harm our financial results.
Although we do not currently incur significant tax costs due to our history of operating losses, our tax liabilities may
increase if our profitability increases in the future. In addition, our effective tax rate may change from year to year
based on changes in the mix of activities and income allocated or earned among various jurisdictions, tax laws and
the applicable tax rates in these jurisdictions (including future tax laws that may become material), tax treaties
between countries, our eligibility for benefits under those tax treaties and the valuation of deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Such changes could result in an increase in the effective tax rate applicable to all or a portion of our income,
which would reduce our profitability.
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Our ability to use or benefit from our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be
limited.
As of December 31, 2019, we had federal, California and other state net operating loss carryforwards of
$1,880.8 million, $245.2 million and $599.7 million, respectively. If not utilized, these will begin to expire in 2028, 2028
and 2026, respectively. Utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes, such as research
and development tax credits, may be subject to annual limitations, or could be subject to other limitations on utilization
or benefit due to the ownership change limitations provided by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”), and other similar provisions. Further, the Tax Act changed the federal rules governing
net operating loss carryforwards. For net operating loss carryforwards arising in tax years beginning after
December 31, 2017, the Tax Act limits a taxpayer’s ability to utilize such carryforwards to 80% of taxable income. In
addition, net operating loss carryforwards arising in tax years ending after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward
indefinitely, but carryback is generally prohibited. Net operating loss carryforwards generated before January 1, 2018
will not be subject to the Tax Act’s taxable income limitation and will continue to have a twenty-year carryforward
period. Nevertheless, our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax assets could expire before utilization and
could be subject to limitations, which could harm our business and financial results.
Our financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.
Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the SEC and various bodies formed to
promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could harm
our revenue and financial results, and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement
of a change.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those
stockholders who held our capital stock prior to the completion of our initial public offering ("IPO"), including
our co-founders, executive officers, employees and directors, their affiliates, and all of our other pre-IPO
stockholders (including those unaffiliated with any of our co-founders, executive officers, employees or
directors). This will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters.
Our Class B common stock has twenty votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share.
Because of the 20-to-1 voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holders of our outstanding
Class B hold approximately 92.1% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. Because the holders of our
Class B common stock hold in the aggregate significantly more than a majority of the combined voting power of our
capital stock, such holders (which include all of our pre-IPO stockholders, including those holders unaffiliated with any
of our co-founders, executive officers, employees or directors) control all matters submitted to our stockholders for
approval. The holders of Class B common stock will no longer hold in the aggregate over 50% of the voting power of
our outstanding capital stock once the Class B common stock represents in the aggregate less than approximately
4.76% of our outstanding capital stock.
As a result, for the foreseeable future, holders of our Class B common stock could have significant influence over the
management and affairs of our company and over the outcome of all matters submitted to our stockholders for
approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger, consolidation or
sale of substantially all of our assets, even if their stock holdings were to represent in the aggregate less than 50% of
the outstanding shares of our capital stock. In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition
proposals or offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. These
holders of our Class B common stock may have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you
disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This control may adversely affect the trading price of our Class
A common stock. Despite no longer being employed by us, Paul Sciarra, one of our co-founders, remains able to
exercise significant voting power. If we terminate our other co-founders’ employment, they would also continue to
have the ability to exercise significant voting power to the extent they were to retain their Class B common stock while
our other existing holders disposed of their Class B common stock.
Transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common
stock, except certain transfers to entities, including certain charities and foundations, to the extent the transferor
retains sole dispositive power and exclusive voting control with respect to the shares of Class B common stock, and
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certain other transfers described in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. In addition, all shares of
Class B common stock will automatically convert into shares of Class A common stock on (i) the seven-year
anniversary of the closing date of our IPO, except with respect to shares of Class B common stock held by any holder
that continues to beneficially own at least 50% of the number of shares of Class B common stock that such holder
beneficially owned immediately prior to completion of our IPO, and (ii) a date that is between 90 to 540 days, as
determined by the board of directors, after the death or permanent incapacity of Mr. Silbermann. Conversions of Class
B common stock to Class A common stock have already had and will continue to have the effect, over time, of
increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long
term. If, for example, one or more of our existing stockholders were to retain a significant portion of their holdings of
Class B common stock for an extended period of time while all the other existing stockholders disposed of their Class
B common stock, then those existing stockholders that retain significant holdings (while all the others dispose) could,
in the future, control a majority of the combined voting power of our outstanding capital stock.
Our dual class structure may depress the trading price of our Class A common stock.
We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A
common stock or in adverse publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have
announced restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures in certain of their indexes. S&P
Dow Jones and FTSE Russell have announced changes to their eligibility criteria for inclusion of shares of public
companies on certain indices, including the S&P 500, pursuant to which, companies with multiple classes of shares of
common stock are excluded. In addition, several stockholder advisory firms have announced their opposition to the
use of multiple class structures. As a result, the dual class structure of our common stock may cause stockholder
advisory firms to publish negative commentary about our corporate governance practices or otherwise seek to cause
us to change our capital structure. Any such exclusion from indices or any actions or publications by stockholder
advisory firms critical of our corporate governance practices or capital structure could adversely affect the value and
trading market of our Class A common stock.
An active trading market for our Class A common stock may not be sustained.
Our Class A common is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “PINS.” However, we cannot assure you that an active
trading market for our Class A common stock will be sustained. Accordingly, we cannot assure you of the likelihood
that an active trading market for our Class A common stock will be maintained, the liquidity of any trading market, your
ability to sell your shares of our Class A common stock when desired or the prices that you may obtain for your
shares.
The trading price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your
investment.
The trading price of our Class A common stock is likely to be volatile and could be subject to fluctuations in response
to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your
investment in our Class A common stock since you might be unable to sell your shares at or above the price you paid.
Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our Class A common stock include the following:
•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

•

volatility in the trading prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;

•

changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or
those in our industry in particular;

•

sales, or anticipated sales, of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders, including if
stockholders sell shares of our Class A common stock into the market to cover taxes due upon the settlement
of RSUs or the exercise of stock options, or conversions, or anticipated conversions, of a substantial number
of shares of our Class B common stock by our stockholders;

•

actions by institutional stockholders;

•

failure by industry or securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, downgrade of our Class A common stock
by analysts or provision of a more favorable recommendation of our competitors; failure by analysts to
regularly publish research reports or the publication of an unfavorable or inaccurate report about our
business; changes by analysts of their financial and operating estimates by with respect to our company or
our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
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•

forward-looking financial or operating information or financial projections we may provide to the public, any
changes in that information or projections or our failure to meet projections;

•

any indebtedness we may incur in the future;

•

whether investors or securities analysts view our stock structure unfavorably, particularly our dual class
structure and the significant voting control of holders of our Class B common stock;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new products, features, services, technical innovations,
acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

•

announcements by us or estimates by third parties of actual or anticipated changes in the size of our user
base or level of engagement, or those of our competitors;

•

the public’s perception of the quality and accuracy of our key metrics on our user base and engagement;

•

the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

•

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our user growth, retention, engagement, revenue or other operating
results;

•

actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape
generally;

•

litigation involving us, our industry, or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our
competitors;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, products, services or technologies by us or our
competitors;

•

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;

•

any significant change in our management; and

•

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular
company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This
litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and
resources.
Future offerings of debt or equity securities by us or existing shareholders may adversely affect the market
price of our Class A common stock.
In the future, we may attempt to obtain financing or to further increase our capital resources by issuing additional
capital stock or offering debt or other securities, including commercial paper, medium-term notes, senior or
subordinated notes, debt securities convertible into equity or shares of preferred stock. Future acquisitions could also
require substantial additional capital in excess of cash from operations.
Issuing additional shares of capital stock or other securities, including securities convertible into equity, may dilute the
economic and voting rights of our existing stockholders, reduce the market price of our Class A common stock or both.
Upon liquidation, holders of debt securities and preferred shares, if issued, and lenders with respect to other
borrowings would receive a distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our common stock. Debt
securities convertible into equity could be subject to adjustments in the conversion ratio pursuant to which certain
events may increase the number of equity securities issuable upon conversion. Preferred shares, if issued, could
have a preference with respect to liquidating distributions or a preference with respect to dividend payments that could
limit our ability to pay dividends to the holders of our common stock. Our decision to issue securities in any future
offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, which may adversely affect the
amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. In addition, the large number of shares of our common stock eligible
for public sale or subject to rights requiring us to register them for public sale could depress the market price of our
Class A common stock. The market price of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large
number of shares of our Class A common stock in the market, and the perception that these sales could occur may
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also depress the market price of our Class A common stock. As a result, holders of our Class A common stock bear
the risk that our future offerings or future sales of shares may reduce the market price of our Class A common stock
and dilute their stockholdings in our company.
Additional stock issuances, including in connection with settlement of equity awards, could result in
significant dilution to our stockholders.
Future issuances of shares of our Class A common stock or the conversion of a substantial number of shares of our
Class B common stock to Class A common stock, or the perception that these sales or conversions may occur, could
depress the market price of our Class A common stock and result in significant dilution for holders of our Class A
common stock. We currently have Class B common stock that may be issued upon exercise of outstanding stock
options or upon settlement of outstanding restricted stock units ("RSUs") and shares of Class A common stock that
may be issued upon settlement of outstanding RSUs. For more information, see “Notes to Financial Statements”. We
have 6,128,499,579 shares of authorized but unissued Class A common stock that are currently not reserved for
issuance under our equity incentive plans or charitable giving program. We may issue all of these shares of Class A
common stock without any action or approval by our stockholders, subject to certain exceptions. We also intend to
continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities and may issue Class A common stock or other securities in connection
with these acquisitions. Any common stock issued in connection with our equity incentive plans, acquisitions, the
exercise of outstanding stock options, settlement of RSUs or otherwise would dilute the percentage ownership held by
our Class A common stockholders.
We have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from our IPO and we may not use them effectively.
We cannot specify with any certainty the particular uses of the net proceeds that we received from our IPO. Our
management will have broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds from our IPO, and you will not have the
opportunity as part of your investment decision to assess whether the net proceeds are being used appropriately. The
failure by our management to apply these proceeds effectively could harm our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Pending their use, we may invest our proceeds in a manner that does not produce income or that
loses value. Our investments may not yield a favorable return to our investors and may negatively impact the price of
our Class A common stock.
Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the market
price of our Class A common stock.
Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the
“DGCL”) may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business
combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested
stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the
acquisition of our company more difficult, including the following:
•

our dual class common stock structure, which provides our holders of Class B common stock with the ability
to significantly influence the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly
less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding common stock;

•

our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms and
directors are only able to be removed from office for cause;

•

certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will require the approval of
662⁄3% of the then-outstanding voting power of our capital stock;

•

approval of 662⁄3% of the then-outstanding voting power of our capital stock, voting as a single class, is
required for stockholders to amend or adopt any provision of our bylaws;

•

our stockholders can take action only at a meeting of stockholders and not by written consent;

•

vacancies on our board of directors can be filled only by our board of directors and not by stockholders;

•

no provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws
provides for cumulative voting, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
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•

only our chairman of the board of directors, our chief executive officer, our president or another officer
selected by a majority of the board of directors are authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;

•

certain litigation against us can only be brought in Delaware;

•

nothing in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation precludes future issuances without
stockholder approval of the authorized but unissued shares of our Class A common stock;

•

our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of
which may be established and shares of which may be issued, without the approval of the holders of our
capital stock; and

•

advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring
matters before an annual meeting of stockholders.

These anti-takeover defenses could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our
company. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect
directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions they desire, any of which, under certain
circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common
stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates a state or federal court located within the
State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders,
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors,
officers or employees.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for certain actions involving us or any of our current or former
directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, any state or federal district court in the state of
Delaware), in all cases subject to the court’s having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our securities shall be deemed to have notice of
and consented to this provision. This exclusive forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a
judicial forum of its choosing. If a court were to find the exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could harm our results of operations.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings, and
we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, stockholders must rely on
sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future gains on their
investment. In addition, our revolving credit facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.
The requirements of being a public company have and may continue to strain our resources, divert
management’s attention and may result in more litigation.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of the NYSE and other
applicable securities rules and regulations. Complying with these rules and regulations has increased and will
continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or
costly, and increase demand on our systems and resources, particularly as we transition away from qualifying as an
“emerging growth company,” as defined in section 2(a) of the Securities Act, and become subject to increased
disclosure and other requirements.
As a public company we are required to publicly disclose additional details about our business and financial condition
information, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If
those claims are successful, our business, revenue and financial results could be harmed. Even if the claims do not
result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, the time and resources needed to resolve them could divert our
management’s resources and harm our business, revenue and financial results.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Facilities
Our corporate headquarters is located in San Francisco, California. As of December 31, 2019, we maintained offices
in various locations in the United States and internationally totaling approximately 707,000 square feet, including
approximately 457,000 square feet for our corporate headquarters and in the surrounding areas. We believe that our
facilities are sufficient for our existing needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are currently involved in, and may in the future be involved in, actual and threatened legal proceedings, claims,
investigations and government inquiries arising in the ordinary course of our business, including legal proceedings,
claims, investigations and government inquiries involving intellectual property, data privacy and data protection,
privacy and other torts, illegal or objectionable content, consumer protection, securities, employment, contractual
rights, civil rights infringement, false or misleading advertising, or other legal claims relating to content or information
that is provided to us or published or made available on our service. This risk is enhanced in certain jurisdictions
outside of the United States where our protection from liability for content published on our platform by third parties
may be unclear and where we may be less protected under local laws than we are in the United States.
Although the results of the actual and threatened legal proceedings, claims, investigations and government inquiries
in which we currently are involved cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that there is a reasonable
possibility that the final outcome of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our business or financial
results. Regardless of the final outcome, however, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, harm to our reputation and brand, and other factors.
Item 4 - Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities
Market Information for Common Stock
Our Class A common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, under the
symbol “PINS” and began trading on April 18, 2019. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our
Class A common stock. There is no public trading market for our Class B common stock, par value $0.00001 per
share.
Holders of Record
As of January 31, 2020, there were 77 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock and 120 stockholders of
record of our Class B common stock. The actual number of holders of our Class A and Class B common stock is
greater than the number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares
are held in street name by brokers or other nominees. The number of holders of record presented here also does not
include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock and do not intend to pay any dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of
directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on then existing conditions, including our financial condition,
operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may
deem relevant. In addition, the terms of our revolving credit facility place certain limitations on the amount of dividends
we can pay, even if no amounts are currently outstanding.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
RSU Issuances
From January 1, 2019 through April 23, 2019, we granted to our directors, officers, employees, consultants and other
service providers an aggregate of 29,613,852 RSUs to be settled in shares of our common stock under our 2009
Stock Plan (the "2009 Plan").
Option Exercises
From January 1, 2019 through April 23, 2019, we issued an aggregate of 145,855 shares of our common stock in
connection with the exercise of stock options previously granted to our directors, officers, employees, consultants and
other service providers under our 2009 Plan.
None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public
offering. We believe the offers, sales, and issuances of the above securities were exempt from registration under the
Securities Act (or Regulation D or Regulation S promulgated thereunder) by virtue of Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities
Act because the issuance of securities to the recipients did not involve a public offering, or in reliance on Rule 701
because the transactions were pursuant to compensatory benefit plans or contracts relating to compensation as
provided under such rule. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to
acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof,
and appropriate legends were placed upon the stock certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had
adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about us. The sales of these securities were made
without any general solicitation or advertising.
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Stock Performance Graph
This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise subject to the liabilities under
that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Pinterest, Inc. under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.
The following graph shows a comparison of the cumulative total return for our Class A common stock, the Standard &
Poor's 500 Stock Index (S&P 500 Index) and the Dow Jones Internet Composite Index (DJINET Composite Index). An
investment of $100 and reinvestment of all dividends is assumed to have been made in our Class A common stock
and in each index on April 18, 2019, the date our Class A common stock began trading on the NYSE, and its relative
performance is tracked through December 31, 2019. The graph uses the closing market price on April 18, 2019 of
$24.40 per share as the initial value of our common stock. The stock price performance of the following graph is not
necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Class A Common Stock
On April 23, 2019, we closed our IPO, in which we sold 75,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock at a price to
the public of $19.00 per share. The offer and sale of the shares in our IPO were registered under the Securities Act
pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-230458), which was declared effective by the SEC on
April 17, 2019. We raised $1,368.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions of
$57.0 million and before deducting offering costs of $9.8 million. On April 29, 2019, we issued and sold an additional
11,250,000 shares of Class A common stock at $19.00 per share pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase
additional shares. We received additional net proceeds of $205.2 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions. We utilized a portion of the net proceeds to satisfy our tax withholding and remittance obligations arising
from the settlement of RSUs for which the service condition had been satisfied prior to our IPO and for which the
performance condition was satisfied upon completion of our IPO. We expect to use the remaining net proceeds for
general corporate purposes, including working capital and operating expenses. Additionally, we may use a portion of
the net proceeds to acquire or invest in businesses, products, services or technologies. However, we do not have
agreements or commitments for any material acquisitions or investments at this time. We cannot specify with certainty
the particular uses of the net proceeds that we received from our IPO. Accordingly, we will have broad discretion in
using these proceeds. Pending the use of proceeds from our IPO as described above, we may invest the net
proceeds that we received in our IPO in short-duration fixed income securities, including government and investmentgrade corporate debt securities and money market funds.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
The consolidated statements of operations data for each of the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and
the consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2017 is derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are
not necessarily indicative of our results in any future period.
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue

$

1,142,761

$

755,932

$

472,852

(1)

Costs and expenses :
Cost of revenue

358,903

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

178,664

1,207,059

251,662

207,973

611,590

259,929

162,514

354,075

77,478

61,635

2,531,627

830,653

610,786

(1,388,866)

(74,721)

(137,934)

Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations

241,584

Interest income

30,164

Interest expense and other income (expense), net

(2,137)

(995)

(112)

(1,360,839)

(62,564)

(129,733)

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

13,152

532

8,313

410

311

Net loss

$

(1,361,371) $

(62,974) $

(130,044)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted

$

(3.24) $

(0.50) $

(1.03)

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable
to common stockholders, basic and diluted
Adjusted EBITDA
(1)

420,473

(2)

$

16,706

$

127,091

126,562

(39,003) $

(92,995)

Costs and expenses includes share-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Cost of revenue

$

2018
$

2017
83

$

372

Research and development

867,191

13,155

19,811

Sales and marketing

239,315

784

6,267

General and administrative

239,517

837

Total share-based compensation
(2)

31,758

$

1,377,781

$

14,859

2,354
$

28,804

See “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” below for more information and for a reconciliation of net loss, the most directly comparable financial
measure calculated and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP"), to Adjusted
EBITDA.
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As of December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

$

1,713,345

$

627,813

$

711,628

Working capital

1,891,077

780,925

807,157

Total assets

2,393,317

1,152,731

1,173,045

Total liabilities
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

369,612

281,895

254,110

—

1,465,399

1,465,399

2,023,705
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(594,563)

(546,464)

Non-GAAP Financial Measure
To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with GAAP, we consider Adjusted
EBITDA, a financial measure which is not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP.
We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to exclude depreciation and amortization expense, sharebased compensation expense, interest income, interest expense and other income (expense), net and provision for
income taxes.
We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our operating results and for financial and operational decisionmaking purposes. We believe Adjusted EBITDA helps identify underlying trends in our business that could otherwise
be masked by the effect of the income and expenses that it excludes. We also believe Adjusted EBITDA provides
useful information about our operating results, enhances the overall understanding of our past performance and future
prospects, and allows for greater transparency with respect to key metrics we use for financial and
operational decision-making. We are presenting Adjusted EBITDA to assist investors in seeing our operating results
through the eyes of management, and because we believe that this measure provides an additional tool for investors
to use in comparing our core business operating results over multiple periods with other companies in our industry.
However, our definition of Adjusted EBITDA may not be the same as similarly titled measures used by other
companies.
Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in
accordance with GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of Adjusted EBITDA rather than net loss,
the nearest GAAP equivalent. For example, Adjusted EBITDA excludes:
•

certain recurring, non-cash charges such as depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of acquired
intangible assets, although these assets may have to be replaced in the future; and

•

share-based compensation expense, which has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a
significant recurring expense and an important part of our compensation strategy.

Because of these limitations, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures,
including net loss and our other financial results presented in accordance with GAAP. The following table presents a
reconciliation of net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with
GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
Net Loss

$

Depreciation and amortization

2019
(1,361,371) $
27,791

Share-based compensation

1,377,781

Interest income

(30,164)

Interest expense and other (income) expense, net

2,137

Provision for income taxes
$

44

16,706

$

16,135

14,859

28,804

(13,152)

(8,313)
112

410
$

2017
(130,044)

20,859

995

532

Adjusted EBITDA

2018
(62,974)

(39,003)

311
$

(92,995)

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with
our consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks,
uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results could differ materially from these forward-looking statements as a
result of many factors, including those discussed in “Risk Factors” and “Note About Forward-Looking Statements”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operation for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 is presented below. A discussion regarding our financial condition
and results of operations for year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 is
included under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our
prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) on April 18, 2019.
Overview of 2019 Results
Our key financial and operating results as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 are as follows:
•

Revenue was $1,142.8 million, an increase of 51% compared to 2018.

•

Monthly active users ("MAUs") were 335 million, an increase of 26% compared to December 31, 2018.

•

Share-based compensation expense was $1,377.8 million, an increase of $1,362.9 million compared to 2018.

•

Total costs and expenses were $2,531.6 million.

•

Loss from operations was $1,388.9 million.

•

Net loss was $1,361.4 million.

•

Adjusted EBITDA was $16.7 million.

•

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were $1,713.3 million.

•

Headcount was 2,217.

•

We now serve ads in 28 countries, up from seven at December 31, 2018.
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Trends in User Metrics
Monthly Active Users. We define a monthly active user as an authenticated Pinterest user who visits our website,
opens our mobile application or interacts with Pinterest through one of our browser or site extensions, such as the
Save button, at least once during the 30-day period ending on the date of measurement. We present MAUs based on
the number of MAUs measured on the last day of the current period. We calculate average MAUs based on the
average of the number of MAUs measured on the last day of the current period and the last day prior to the beginning
of the current period. MAUs are the primary metric by which we measure the scale of our active user base.
Quarterly Monthly Active Users
(in millions)
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Note: United States and International may not sum to Global due to rounding.

A portion of our MAUs visit Pinterest on a weekly basis. We define a weekly active user (“WAU”) as an authenticated
Pinterest user who visits our website, opens our mobile application or interacts with Pinterest through one of our
browser or site extensions, such as the Save button, at least once during the seven-day period ending on the date of
measurement. We actively monitor the relationship of WAUs to MAUs, which has stayed relatively consistent over
time. As of December 31, 2019, the proportion of WAUs to MAUs was 57%.
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We have experienced significant growth in our global MAUs over the last several years. In particular, our international
MAUs have grown significantly as a result of our focus on localizing content in international markets. We expect our
international user growth to continue to outpace U.S. user growth in the near term.
Trends in Monetization Metrics
Revenue. We calculate revenue by user geography based on our estimate of the geography in which ad impressions
are delivered. The geography of our users affects our revenue and financial results because we currently only
monetize certain countries and currencies and because we monetize different geographies at different average rates.
Our revenue in the United States is higher primarily due to our decision to focus our earliest monetization efforts there
and also due to the relative size and maturity of the U.S. digital advertising market.
Quarterly Revenue
(in millions)
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Note: Revenue by geography in the charts above is geographically apportioned based on our estimate of the geographic location of our users when
they perform a revenue-generating activity. This allocation differs from our disclosure of revenue disaggregated by geography in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements where revenue is geographically apportioned based on our customers’ billing addresses. United States and
International may not sum to Global and quarterly amounts may not sum to annual due to rounding.
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Average Revenue per User (“ARPU”). We measure monetization of our platform through our average revenue per
user metric. We define ARPU as our total revenue in a given geography during a period divided by average MAUs in
that geography during the period. We calculate ARPU by geography based on our estimate of the geography in which
revenue-generating activities occur. We present ARPU on a U.S. and international basis because we currently
monetize users in different geographies at different average rates. U.S. ARPU is higher primarily due to our decision
to focus our earliest monetization efforts there and also due to the relative size and maturity of the U.S. digital
advertising market.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, global ARPU was $3.81, which represents an increase of 21% compared to
the year ended December 31, 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019, U.S. ARPU was $12.07 and
international ARPU was $0.54, which represent increases of 34% and 115%, respectively, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018.
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Factors Affecting Our Performance
Growth in MAUs. User growth trends, which are reflected in the number of MAUs, are a key factor that affects our
revenue and financial results. As our user base and the quality of engagement of our users grow, we believe the
potential to increase our revenue grows.
We are focused on increasing the ways Pinners use and get value from our platform and on expanding our user base,
with an emphasis on international markets.
We may face challenges enhancing the quality of engagement and increasing the size of our user base, including
competition from alternative products and services, saturation of existing markets, difficulties scaling in international
markets, a lack of sufficiently relevant content available on Pinterest, actions by external parties (such as changes in
search engine methodologies and policies and disruptions in single sign-on access) or changes in regulations (which
require changes to our products in a manner that negatively impacts our user growth, retention and engagement). We
expect revenue growth will be driven more by the quality of user engagement and higher monetization of users than
by sheer growth of users. To the extent our user growth slows, our revenue growth will become increasingly
dependent on our ability to increase the quality of user engagement.
Growth in Monetization. Monetization trends, which are reflected in ARPU, are a key factor that affects our revenue
and financial results.
We are in the early stages of our monetization efforts. We are focused on increasingly serving more mid-market and
unmanaged advertisers and expanding our sales efforts to reach advertisers in additional international markets, with
an initial focus on Western Europe and other select markets to follow. We are working on building more self-serve
tools to help our mid-market and unmanaged advertisers with ad creation, campaign scaling and measurement.
There are many variables that impact ARPU, including the number of ad impressions shown on our platform and the
price per ad, which depends on a number of factors including the engagement of our audience and the quality of that
engagement, the number and diversity of advertisers, our ability and decision to serve contextually relevant
advertisements, the amount of advertising spend, an advertiser’s objectives, ad performance and the effectiveness of
our advertising products and our ability to measure that effectiveness for our advertisers, as well as the effect of
geographic differences on each of these factors. Due to our decision to focus our earliest monetization efforts in the
United States, we have less experience monetizing international markets and therefore may experience challenges
scaling and monetizing these markets due to differences in Pinners' taste and interests and advertisers' expectations.
The international advertising market is also smaller and less mature than the U.S. digital advertising market.
We use MAUs and ARPU to assess the growth and health of the overall business and believe that these metrics best
reflect our ability to attract, retain, engage and monetize our users, and thereby drive revenue.
Investment in Technology. We make investments in technology that we believe will enhance Pinner and advertiser
experiences. Key investment areas for our platform include machine learning, computer vision and our
recommendation engine. We also invest heavily in our advertising products, including our self-serve platform and firstand third-party measurement tools. Our ability to grow our user base, attract new advertisers and increase our
revenue will depend, in part, on our ability to continue innovating in visual search and discovery and our ability to
successfully launch new products for Pinners and advertisers. We plan to continue making significant investments in
research and development and may develop products for Pinners that cannot be monetized immediately, if ever.
Investment in Talent. Our business relies on our ability to attract and retain talent. As of December 31, 2019, we had
2,217 full-time employees, an increase of 23% compared to December 31, 2018.
Competition. We face significant competition in almost every aspect of our business. We primarily compete with
consumer internet companies that are either tools (search, ecommerce) or media (newsfeeds, video, social networks).
We also compete for advertising revenue across a variety of formats. Some of our competitors have greater financial
resources and substantially larger user bases. These competitors’ economies of scale allow them to have access to
larger volumes of data and platforms that are used on a more frequent basis than ours, which may enable them to
better understand their user base and develop and deliver more targeted advertising. We must compete effectively for
users and advertisers in order to grow our business and increase our revenue. We believe that our ability to compete
for users depends on a number of factors, including the quality of our users’ experience on our service and on other
platforms. We believe that our ability to compete effectively for advertisers depends on a number of factors, including
our ability to offer attractive advertising products with robust targeting and measurement tools.
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Seasonality. We experience seasonality in user growth, engagement and monetization on our platform. Historically,
we have had lower engagement in the second calendar quarter. Industry advertising spend tends to be strongest in
the fourth quarter, and we observe a similar pattern in our historical advertising revenue. Significant user and
monetization growth has partially offset these trends in historical periods, and thus we expect the impact of
seasonality to be more pronounced in the future.
Share-Based Compensation. We began granting restricted stock units ("RSUs") in March 2015. We measure RSUs
based on the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date.
RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan are subject to both a service condition, which is typically satisfied over four years,
and a performance condition, which was deemed satisfied upon the pricing of our IPO. We did not record any sharebased compensation expense for our RSUs prior to our IPO because the performance condition had not yet been
satisfied. Upon pricing our IPO, we recorded cumulative share-based compensation expense using the accelerated
attribution method for those RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan for which the service condition had been satisfied at
that date. We will record the remaining unrecognized share-based compensation expense over the remainder of the
requisite service period.
RSUs granted under our 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2019 Plan") are subject only to a service condition, which
is typically satisfied over four years. We record share-based compensation expense for these RSUs on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period.
As of December 31, 2019, we had $635.1 million of unrecognized share-based compensation expense, which we
expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.
For more information about the factors impacting our performance, see “Risk Factors.”
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Components of Results of Operations
Revenue. We generate revenue by delivering ads on our website and mobile application. Advertisers purchase ads
directly with us or through their relationships with advertising agencies. We recognize revenue only after transferring
control of promised goods or services to customers, which occurs when a user clicks on an ad contracted on a cost
per click ("CPC") basis, views an ad contracted on a cost per thousand impressions ("CPM") basis or views a video ad
contracted on a cost per view ("CPV") basis.
Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue consists primarily of expenses associated with the delivery of our service,
including the cost of hosting our website and mobile application. Cost of revenue also includes personnel-related
expense, including salaries, benefits and share-based compensation for employees on our operations teams,
payments associated with partner arrangements, credit card and other transaction processing fees, and allocated
facilities and other supporting overhead costs.
Research and Development. Research and development consists primarily of personnel-related expense, including
salaries, benefits and share-based compensation for our engineers and other employees engaged in the research
and development of our products, and allocated facilities and other supporting overhead costs.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing consists primarily of personnel-related expense, including salaries,
commissions, benefits and share-based compensation for our employees engaged in sales, sales support, marketing,
business development and customer service functions, advertising and promotional expenditures, professional
services and allocated facilities and other supporting overhead costs. Our marketing efforts also include user- and
advertiser-focused marketing expenditures.
General and Administrative. General and administrative consists primarily of personnel-related expense, including
salaries, benefits and share-based compensation for our employees engaged in finance, legal, human resources and
other administrative functions, professional services, including outside legal and accounting services, and allocated
facilities and other supporting overhead costs.
Other Income (Expense), Net. Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest earned on our cash
equivalents and marketable securities.
Provision for Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions,
U.S. federal and state income taxes adjusted for discrete items.
Adjusted EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to exclude depreciation and amortization
expense, share-based compensation expense, interest and other income (expense), net and provision for (benefit
from) income taxes. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” for more information and for a reconciliation of net loss, the
most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA.

51

Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our consolidated statements of operations data (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Revenue

$

Costs and expenses

2018

1,142,761

$

2017

755,932

$

472,852

(1)

:

Cost of revenue

358,903

241,584

178,664

1,207,059

251,662

207,973

Sales and marketing

611,590

259,929

162,514

General and administrative

354,075

77,478

61,635

2,531,627

830,653

610,786

(1,388,866)

(74,721)

(137,934)

Research and development

Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income

30,164

Interest expense and other income (expense), net

(2,137)

(995)

(112)

(1,360,839)

(62,564)

(129,733)

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

532

Net loss
Adjusted EBITDA
(1)

13,152

(2)

8,313

410

311

$

(1,361,371) $

(62,974) $

(130,044)

$

16,706

(39,003) $

(92,995)

$

Includes share-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Cost of revenue

$

2018
$

2017
83

$

372

Research and development

867,191

13,155

19,811

Sales and marketing

239,315

784

6,267

General and administrative

239,517

837

Total share-based compensation
(2)

31,758

$

1,377,781

$

14,859

2,354
$

28,804

See “Selected Financial Data—Non-GAAP Financial Measure” for more information and for a reconciliation of net loss, the most directly
comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA.
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The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data (as a percentage of revenue):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Revenue

2018

100 %

2017

100 %

100 %

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense and other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes

31

32

38

106

33

44

54

34

34

31

10

13

222

110

129

(122)

(10)

(29)

3

2

2

—

—

—

(8)

(27)

—

—

(119)

Provision for income taxes

—

Net loss

(119)%

(8)%

(28)%

Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Revenue

$

2018

(in thousands)
1,142,761 $
755,932

% change
51 %

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $386.8 million compared to the year ended December
31, 2018. Revenue based on our estimate of the geographic location of our users increased by 43% in the United
States to $1,025.5 million and by 187% internationally to $117.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, U.S. revenue growth was driven by a 34% increase in U.S. ARPU supported
by a 8% increase in U.S. MAUs, and international revenue growth was driven by a 115% increase in international
ARPU supported by a 35% increase in international MAUs. ARPU growth in the U.S. and internationally was driven by
higher monetization of both of those user bases largely due to an increase in advertising demand from new and
existing advertisers on our platform, which resulted in an increase in the number of advertisements served. The
increase in advertising demand resulted in an increase in the price of U.S. advertisements, while the price of
international advertisements decreased due to our continued expansion into new countries. However, the impact of
pricing changes was not significant in the U.S. or internationally.
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Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Cost of revenue

$

2018

% change

(in thousands)
358,903 $
241,584

Percentage of revenue

31 %

49 %

32 %

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $117.3 million compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to higher absolute hosting costs due to user growth and a $31.7
million increase in share-based compensation expense recorded following our IPO.
Research and Development
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

% change

(in thousands)
Research and development

$

Percentage of revenue

1,207,059

$

251,662

106 %

380 %

33 %

Research and development for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $955.4 million compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to a $854.0 million increase in share-based compensation
expense following our IPO and a 23% increase in average headcount, which drove higher personnel and facilitiesrelated expenses.
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

% change

(in thousands)
Sales and marketing

$

611,590

Percentage of revenue

$

259,929

54 %

135 %

34 %

Sales and marketing for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $351.7 million compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to a $238.5 million increase in share-based compensation
expense following our IPO and a 34% increase in average headcount, which drove higher personnel and facilitiesrelated expenses, as well as higher marketing expenses.
General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,
2019
General and administrative

$

Percentage of revenue

2018

(in thousands)
354,075 $
31 %

% change

77,478

357 %

10 %

General and administrative for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $276.6 million compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to a $238.7 million increase in share-based compensation
expense following our IPO and a 24% increase in average headcount, which drove higher personnel and facilitiesrelated expenses.

54

Other Income (Expense), Net
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Interest income

$

Interest expense and other income (expense)

2018

(in thousands)
30,164 $

13,152

(2,137)

Other income (expense), net

$

28,027

% change

(995)
$

12,157

129 %
(115)%
131 %

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $15.9 million compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to higher returns on our marketable securities as a result
of higher interest rates and higher invested balances following our investment of the proceeds of our IPO.
Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Provision for income taxes

$

2018

(in thousands)
532 $

% change
410

30 %

Provision for income taxes was primarily due to profits generated by our foreign subsidiaries.
Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDA
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Net loss

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

2018

(in thousands)
(1,361,371) $
(62,974)
16,706

$

(39,003)

% change
(2,062)%
143 %

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $1,361.4 million, as compared to $63.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. Adjusted EBITDA was $16.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to
$(39.0) million for the year ended December 31, 2018, due to the factors described above. See “Selected Financial
Data—Non-GAAP Financial Measure” for more information and for a reconciliation of net loss, the most directly
comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA.

55

Quarterly Results of Operations Data
The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated results of operations for each of the eight quarters
in the period ended December 31, 2019. Our unaudited quarterly results of operations have been prepared on the
same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements, and we believe they reflect all normal recurring
adjustments necessary for the fair statement of our results of operations for these periods. This information should be
read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Our historical operating data may not be indicative of our future performance.
Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2019

Sep. 30,
2019

$ 399,898

$ 279,703

96,274

83,520

105,415

73,694

68,308

Research and
development

165,033

167,703

801,879

72,444

Sales and marketing

127,537

110,740

296,919

54,241

51,450

Total costs and expenses

443,085

Income (loss) from
operations

(43,187)

Revenue

Jun. 30,
(1)
2019

Jun. 30,
2018

Mar. 31,
2018

$ 161,192

$ 131,359

63,649

57,974

51,653

66,470

63,541

61,604

60,047

76,394

72,285

66,722

65,148

55,774

224,179

24,205

22,061

18,716

17,834

18,867

413,413

1,428,392

246,737

229,124

212,628

202,560

186,341

(133,710)

(1,167,143)

(44,826)

44,060

(22,431)

(41,368)

(54,982)

4,059

3,780

3,547

3,187

2,638

$

Mar. 31,
2019

Dec. 31,
2018

Sep. 30,
2018

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
261,249 $ 201,911 $ 273,184 $ 190,197

(2)

Costs and expenses :
Cost of revenue

General and
administrative

Interest income

8,141

Interest expense and
other income (expense),
net
Income (loss) before
provision for income taxes

8,127

(133)

(1,056)

(448)

(500)

(35,179)

(124,929)

(1,159,464)

(41,267)

Provision for (benefit
from) income taxes
Net income (loss)

9,837

539

(197)

37

(621)
47,219

153

—

—

—

(18,802)

203

$ (35,718) $(124,732) $(1,159,501) $ (41,420) $ 47,016

Less: Net income
allocated to
participating
(3)
securities

82

—

(214)

(242)

(38,395)

(52,586)

72

12

123

$ (18,874) $ (38,407) $ (52,709)

(47,016)

—

—

—

Net income (loss)
attributable to common
stockholders

$ (35,718) $(124,732) $(1,159,501) $ (41,420) $

—

$ (18,874) $ (38,407) $ (52,709)

Net income (loss) per
share attributable to
common stockholders,
basic and diluted

$

—

$

Adjusted EBITDA

(4)

(0.06) $

$ 77,308

$

(0.23) $
3,871

$

(2.62) $

(0.33) $

(26,037) $ (38,436) $ 51,682

(0.15) $

(0.30) $

(0.42)

$ (13,426) $ (31,898) $ (45,361)

(1)

Upon pricing our IPO, the performance condition for RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan was deemed satisfied, and we recorded cumulative
share-based compensation expense for those RSUs for which the service condition had been satisfied at that date. For the three months
ended June 30, 2019, we recorded total share-based compensation expense of $1,134.6 million.

(2)

Includes share-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2019
Cost of revenue

$

2,018

Sep. 30,
2019
$

1,568

Jun. 30,
2019
$

28,157

Mar. 31,
2019
$

15

Dec. 31,
2018
$

15

Sep. 30,
2018
$

16

Jun. 30,
2018
$

20

Mar. 31,
2018
$

32

Research and development

73,030

83,539

709,996

626

2,113

3,380

3,608

4,054

Sales and marketing

15,915

21,243

202,128

29

3

188

352

241

General and administrative
Total share-based compensation

21,237

23,938

194,318

$ 112,200

$ 130,288

$ 1,134,599

56

24
$

694

47
$

2,178

304
$

3,888

(21)
$

3,959

507
$

4,834

(3)
(4)

Represents assumed noncumulative dividends on undistributed earnings that, if declared, would have been distributed to holders of our
redeemable convertible preferred stock.
The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2019

Sep. 30,
2019

Jun. 30,
2019

Mar. 31,
2019

Dec. 31,
2018

Sep. 30,
2018

Jun. 30,
2018

Mar. 31,
2018

Reconciliation of Net Income
(Loss) to Adjusted EBITDA
Net Income (Loss)

$

(35,718) $ (124,732) $ (1,159,501) $ (41,420) $ 47,016

Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation

7,293

6,507

5,696

5,444

5,117

5,511

4,787

112,200

130,288

1,134,599

694

2,178

3,888

3,959

4,834

(3,780)

(3,547)

(3,187)

(2,638)

Interest income

(8,141)

Interest expense and other
(income) expense, net

(9,837)
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Provision for (benefit from)
income taxes
Adjusted EBITDA

$ (18,874) $ (38,407) $ (52,709)

8,295

1,056

539
$

77,308

(8,127)

(197)
$

3,871

$

(4,059)

448

500

621

37

153

203

(26,037) $ (38,436) $ 51,682

(82)

214

242

72

12

123

$ (13,426) $ (31,898) $ (45,361)

The following table sets forth the components of our unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations for
each of the periods presented (as a percentage of revenue):
Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2019
Revenue

100 %

Sep. 30,
2019
100 %

Jun. 30,
2019
100 %

Mar. 31,
2019
100 %

Dec. 31,
2018
100 %

Sep. 30,
2018
100 %

Jun. 30,
2018
100 %

Mar. 31,
2018
100 %

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue

24

30

40

36

25

33

36

39

Research and development

41

60

307

36

24

33

38

46

Sales and marketing

32

40

114

38

26

35

40

42

General and administrative

14

18

86

12

8

10

11

14

111

148

547

122

84

112

126

142

(11)

(48)

(447)

(22)

16

(12)

(26)

(42)

Total costs and expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income

2

4

3

2

1

2

2

2

Interest expense and other
income (expense), net

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Income (loss) before provision
for income taxes

(9)

(45)

(20)

17

(10)

(24)

(40)

Provision for (benefit from)
income taxes

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Net Income (loss)

(9)%

(45)%

(444)
—
(444)%

57

(21)%

17 %

(10)%

(24)%

(40)%

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have historically financed our operations primarily through sales of our stock and payments received from our
customers. Our primary uses of cash are personnel-related costs and the cost of hosting our website and mobile
application. As of December 31, 2019, we had $1,713.3 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities.
Our cash equivalents and marketable securities are primarily invested in short-duration fixed income securities,
including government and investment-grade corporate debt securities and money market funds. As of December 31,
2019, $21.7 million of our cash and cash equivalents was held by our foreign subsidiaries.
In November 2018, we entered into a five-year $500.0 million revolving credit facility with an accordion option which, if
exercised, would allow us to increase the aggregate commitments by the greater of $100.0 million and 10% of our
consolidated total assets, provided we are able to secure additional lender commitments and satisfy certain other
conditions. Interest on any borrowings under the revolving credit facility accrues at either LIBOR plus 1.50% or at an
alternative base rate plus 0.50%, at our election, and we are required to pay an annual commitment fee that accrues
at 0.15% per annum on the unused portion of the aggregate commitments under the revolving credit facility.
The revolving credit facility also allows us to issue letters of credit, which reduce the amount we can borrow. We are
required to pay a fee that accrues at 1.50% per annum on the average aggregate daily maximum amount available to
be drawn under any outstanding letters of credit.
The revolving credit facility contains customary conditions to borrowing, events of default and covenants, including
covenants that restrict our ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make distributions to holders of our stock or the
stock of our subsidiaries, make investments or engage in transactions with our affiliates. The revolving credit facility
also contains two financial maintenance covenants: a consolidated total assets covenant and a minimum liquidity
balance of $350.0 million, which includes any available borrowing capacity. The obligations under the revolving credit
facility are secured by liens on substantially all of our domestic assets, including certain domestic intellectual property
assets. We are in compliance with all covenants and there were no amounts outstanding under this facility as of
December 31, 2019.
On April 23, 2019, we closed our IPO in which we issued and sold 75,000,000 shares of Class A common stock
at $19.00 per share. We received net proceeds of $1,368.0 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and before deducting offering costs of $9.8 million. We utilized a portion of the net proceeds from this
offering to pay approximately $302.7 million to satisfy the tax withholding and remittance obligations related to the
settlement of RSUs.
On April 29, 2019, we issued and sold an additional 11,250,000 shares of Class A common stock at $19.00 per share
pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received additional net proceeds of $205.2
million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions.
We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and amounts available under our revolving
credit facility will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs over at least the next 12
months, though we may require additional capital resources in the future.
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, our net cash flows were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

657

Investing activities

$

(586,501) $

Financing activities

$

58

1,128,198

$
$

(60,369) $
114,063

$

(2,216) $

(102,913)
(57,250)
150,264

Operating Activities
Cash flows from operating activities consist of our net loss adjusted for certain non-cash reconciling items, such as
share-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, and changes in our operating assets and
liabilities. Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $61.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a decrease in our net loss after adjusting for noncash reconciling items.
Investing Activities
Cash flows from investing activities consist of capital expenditures for improvements to new and existing office
spaces. We also actively manage our operating cash and cash equivalent balances and invest excess cash in shortduration marketable securities, sales and maturities of which we use to fund our ongoing working capital
requirements. Net cash used in investing activities increased by $700.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to increased purchases of marketable securities and
less proceeds from maturities of marketable securities.
Financing Activities
Cash flows from financing activities consist of net proceeds from our IPO, tax withholdings on release of RSUs and
proceeds from the exercise of stock options. Net cash provided by financing activities increased by $1,130.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to net proceeds
from our IPO, offset by tax withholdings on release of RSUs.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2019.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2019 (in
thousands):
Total
Operating leases

$

Purchase commitments
Total

276,757 $

2020

448,073 $

2023-2024

56,807 $

83,245 $

—

—

56,807 $

83,245 $

171,316
$

2021-2022

26,895 $
171,316
198,211 $

Thereafter
109,810
—
109,810

In May 2017, we amended the enterprise agreement governing our use of services from AWS with an addendum.
Under the agreement, as amended by the addendum, we agreed that a substantial majority of our monthly usage of
certain compute, storage, data transfer and other services must be provided under the addendum, and we are
required to purchase at least $750.0 million of cloud services, which we primarily use for compute, storage and data
transfer services, from AWS through July 2023. If we fail to meet the contractual commitment, we are required to pay
the difference, except in limited circumstances, such as termination due to acquisition of us by another cloud services
provider (which would result in an obligation to pay liquidated damages under the addendum), but we are not
otherwise subject to annual purchase commitments during the remainder of the six-year term of the addendum. The
addendum restricts our ability to terminate the agreement until the minimum spend commitment is satisfied, other than
termination only under certain additional conditions (such as the other party’s material breach or acquisition of us by
another cloud services provider). As of December 31, 2019, the remaining contractual commitment was $171.3
million, which we expect to meet during the term of the addendum primarily through our use of AWS cloud services.
In March 2019, we entered into a lease for approximately 490,000 square feet of office space to be constructed near
our current headquarters campus in San Francisco, California. The estimated commencement and expiration dates
are in 2022 and 2033, respectively. We may terminate the lease prior to commencement if certain contingencies are
not satisfied. We will be subject to total non-cancelable minimum lease payments of approximately $420.0 million,
which is excluded from the table above, if these contingencies are met, and we will record a right-of-use asset and
related lease liability of no more than that amount at lease commencement using our incremental borrowing rate at
that date.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Preparing our consolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses as well as related disclosures. Because these estimates and judgments may change from
period to period, actual results could differ materially, which may negatively affect our financial condition or results of
operations. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and various other assumptions that we
consider reasonable, and we evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. We refer to such
estimates and judgments, discussed further below, as critical accounting policies and estimates.
Refer to Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for further information on our other significant accounting
policies.
Revenue Recognition
We generate revenue by delivering ads on our website and mobile application. We recognize revenue only after
transferring control of promised goods or services to customers, which occurs when a user clicks on an ad contracted
on a CPC basis, views an ad contracted on a CPM basis or views a video ad contracted on a CPV basis. We typically
bill customers on a CPC, CPM or CPV basis, and our payment terms vary by customer type and location. The term
between billing and payment due dates is not significant.
We occasionally offer customers free ad inventory and revenue is recognized only after satisfying our contractual
performance obligations. When contracts with our customers contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate
the overall transaction price, which is the amount of consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
promised goods or services, to each of the distinct performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling
prices. We generally determine standalone selling prices based on the effective price charged per contracted click,
impression or view, and we do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations because the original
expected duration of our contracts is generally less than one year.
Share-Based Compensation
We have granted RSUs since March 2015. We measure RSUs based on the fair market value of our common stock
on the grant date.
RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan are subject to both a service condition, which is typically satisfied over four years,
and a performance condition, which was deemed satisfied upon the pricing of our IPO. We did not record any sharebased compensation expense for our RSUs prior to our IPO because the performance condition had not yet been
satisfied. Following the closing of our IPO, we recorded cumulative share-based compensation expense using the
accelerated attribution method for those RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan for which the service condition had been
satisfied at that date. We will record the remaining unrecognized share-based compensation expense over the
remainder of the requisite service period.
RSUs granted under our 2019 Plan are subject to a service condition only, which is typically satisfied over four years.
We recognize share-based compensation expense on these RSUs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period.
Valuation of Common Stock and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants
Until our IPO, we determined the fair value of our common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
using the most observable inputs available to us, including recent sales of our stock as well as income and market
valuation approaches. The income approach estimates the value of our business based on the future cash flows we
expect to generate discounted to their present value using an appropriate discount rate to reflect the risk of achieving
the expected cash flows. The market approach estimates the value of our business by applying valuation multiples
derived from the observed valuation multiples of comparable public companies to our expected financial results.
We used the Probability Weighted Expected Return Method ("PWERM") to allocate the value of our business among
our outstanding stock and share-based awards. We applied the PWERM by first defining the range of potential future
liquidity outcomes for our business, such as an IPO, and then allocating its value to our outstanding stock and sharebased awards based on the relative probability that each outcome will occur. We used the Option Pricing Method to
allocate the value of our business to our outstanding stock and share-based awards under the non-IPO outcome we
considered within the PWERM.
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Applying these valuation and allocation approaches involved the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions that
are highly complex and subjective, such as those regarding our expected future revenue, expenses, and cash flows,
discount rates, valuation multiples, the selection of comparable public companies, and the probability of future events.
Changes in any or all of these estimates and assumptions, or the relationships between these assumptions, impacted
our valuation as of each valuation date and may have a material impact on the valuation of our common stock and
redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants.
Following our IPO, there is an active market for our Class A common stock and the warrants to purchase shares of
our preferred stock were net exercised, so we no longer apply these valuation and allocation approaches.
Leases and Operating Lease Incremental Borrowing Rate
We lease office space under operating leases with expiration dates through 2033. We determine whether an
arrangement constitutes a lease and record lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on our consolidated balance
sheets at lease commencement. We measure lease liabilities based on the present value of the total lease payments
not yet paid discounted based on the more readily determinable of the rate implicit in the lease or our incremental
borrowing rate, which is the estimated rate we would be required to pay for a collateralized borrowing equal to the
total lease payments over the term of the lease. We estimate our incremental borrowing rate based on an analysis of
publicly traded debt securities of companies with credit and financial profiles similar to our own. We measure right-ofuse assets based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted for (i) payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date, (ii) initial direct costs we incur and (iii) tenant incentives under the lease. We begin recognizing
rent expense when the lessor makes the underlying asset available to us, we do not assume renewals or early
terminations unless we are reasonably certain to exercise these options at commencement, and we do not allocate
consideration between lease and non-lease components.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for recent accounting pronouncements.

61

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks, including changes in foreign currency exchange and interest rates, in the ordinary
course of our business.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, and the functional currency of our subsidiaries is either their local currency or
the U.S. dollar, depending on the circumstances. While the majority of our revenue and operating expenses are
denominated in U.S. dollars, we have foreign currency risks related to our revenue and operating expenses
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. We have experienced and will continue to experience
fluctuations in our net loss as a result of transaction gains or losses related to revaluing certain current asset and
current liability balances denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the subsidiaries in which they
are recorded. To date, these fluctuations have not been material. We have not engaged in hedging activities relating
to our foreign currency exchange risk, although we may do so in the future. We do not believe a 10% increase or
decrease in the relative value of the U.S. dollar would have materially affected our consolidated financial statements
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2019, we held cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $1,713.3 million. Our cash
equivalents and marketable securities primarily consist of short-duration fixed income securities, including government
and investment-grade corporate debt securities and money market funds, and our investment policy is meant to
preserve capital and maintain liquidity. Changes in interest rates affect the interest income we earn on our cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities and the fair value of our cash equivalents and marketable securities. A
hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have decreased the market value of our cash equivalents
and marketable securities by $5.8 million and $3.2 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

62

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
PINTEREST, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The supplementary financial information required by this Item 8, is included in Part II, Item 7 under the caption
"Quarterly Results of Operations Data," which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Pinterest, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Pinterest, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2019 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform,
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
San Francisco, CA
February 6, 2020
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PINTEREST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)
December 31,
2019

2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Marketable securities

649,666

$

122,509

1,063,679

505,304

316,367

221,932

37,522

39,607

2,067,234

889,352

91,992

81,512

Operating lease right-of-use assets

188,251

145,203

Goodwill and intangible assets, net

14,576

14,071

Restricted cash

25,339

11,724

5,925

10,869

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,851 and $3,097 as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net

Other assets
Total assets

$

2,393,317

$

1,152,731

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

34,334

$

22,169

141,823

86,258

176,157

108,427

173,392

151,395

Other liabilities

20,063

22,073

Total liabilities

369,612

281,895

—

1,465,399

—

1

Commitments and contingencies
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; no shares authorized, issued
or outstanding as of December 31, 2019; 928,676 shares authorized, 308,373 shares issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2018; aggregate liquidation preference of $1,466,902
as of December 31, 2018
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.00001 par value, no shares authorized, issued or outstanding as of
December 31, 2019; 1,932,500 shares authorized, 127,298 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Class A common stock, $0.00001 par value, 6,666,667 shares authorized, 360,850
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019; Class B common stock,
$0.00001 par value, 1,333,333 shares authorized, 209,054 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2019; no shares authorized, issued or outstanding as
of December 31, 2018 for either class
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

6

—

4,229,778

252,212

647

Accumulated deficit

(1,421)

(2,206,726)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

(845,355)

2,023,705

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

$

2,393,317

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(594,563)
$

1,152,731

PINTEREST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2019
Revenue

$

2018

1,142,761

$

2017

755,932

$

472,852

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations

358,903

241,584

178,664

1,207,059

251,662

207,973

611,590

259,929

162,514

354,075

77,478

61,635

2,531,627

830,653

610,786

(1,388,866)

(74,721)

(137,934)

Interest income

30,164

Interest expense and other income (expense), net

(2,137)

(995)

(112)

(1,360,839)

(62,564)

(129,733)

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

532

13,152

410

8,313

311

Net loss

$

(1,361,371) $

(62,974) $

(130,044)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted

$

(3.24) $

(0.50) $

(1.03)

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted

420,473

127,091

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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126,562

PINTEREST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Net loss

$

2018

2017

(1,361,371) $

(62,974) $

(130,044)

2,057

(443)

(302)

11

(212)

79

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale marketable
securities
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment
Comprehensive loss

$

(1,359,303) $

(63,629) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(130,267)

68

—
—
—
—
—

Issuance of common stock for cash upon exercise of stock
options, net

Vesting of early exercised stock options

Share-based compensation

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

(308,373)

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock and
redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants to common
stock in connection with initial public offering

—

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,465,399)

—

—

$1,465,399

—

—

—

—

$1,465,399

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

149,784

—

$1,315,615

Amount

569,904

—

—

—

19,650

86,250

308,622

—

28,084

127,298

—

—

—

527

126,771

—

—

—

—

215

93

30

—

—

126,433

Shares

$

$

$

$

6

—

—

—

—

1

3

—

1

1

—

—

—

—

1

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1

Amount

Common Stock

—

—

1,377,781

41,344

1,563,382

1,470,074

(475,015)

—

252,212

—

—

14,859

671

236,682

—

—

28,804

331

551

1,227

1,239

—

—

204,530

$ 4,229,778

$

$

$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$

$

$

$

647

—

2,068

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

(1,421) $

—

(655)

—

—

(766) $

—

(223)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,206,726) $

(1,361,371)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(845,355) $

(62,974)

—

—

—

(782,381) $

(130,044)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
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2,023,705

(1,361,371)

2,068

1,377,781

41,344

1,563,383

1,470,077

(475,015)

1

(594,563)

(62,974)

(655)

14,859

671

(546,464)

(130,044)

(223)

28,804

331

551

1,227

1,239

—

(63)

(448,286)

Stockholders’
Equity
(Deficit)

(652,274) $

Accumulated
Deficit

(543) $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

—

—

Share-based compensation

Balance as of December 31, 2019

—
—

Issuance of common stock for cash upon exercise of stock
options, net

—

—

Shares repurchased for tax withholdings on release of restricted
stock units

Issuance of common stock in connection with initial public offering
net of underwriters' discounts and commissions and offering
costs

—

Release of restricted stock units

—
—

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss
308,373

—

Share-based compensation

Balance as of December 31, 2018

—

Issuance of common stock for cash upon exercise of stock
options, net

308,373

—

Issuance of common stock related to purchase of intangible assets

Balance as of December 31, 2017

—

6,965

—

301,408

Issuance of common stock related to acquisitions, net

Issuance of Series H redeemable convertible preferred stock for
cash of $150,000 at $21.537276 per share, net of issuance
costs of $216

Cumulative effect of adoption of ASC 842

Balance as of December 31, 2016

Shares

Redeemable
Convertible Preferred
Stock

PINTEREST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

PINTEREST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Operating activities
Net loss

$

(1,361,371) $

(62,974) $

(130,044)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Other

27,791

20,859

16,135

1,377,781

14,859

28,804

(3,990)

1,027

653

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(94,224)

(86,094)

(47,833)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts receivable

7,161

18,142

(1,345)

Operating lease right-of-use assets

32,378

18,492

8,611

Accounts payable

11,636

6,533

11,969

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

31,890

26,336

20,596

Operating lease liabilities

(28,395)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

657

(17,549)

(10,459)

(60,369)

(102,913)

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment and intangible assets
Purchases of marketable securities

(33,783)

(22,194)

(41,192)

(1,075,875)

(518,711)

(515,165)

Sales of marketable securities

162,198

94,381

199,600

Maturities of marketable securities

360,959

561,087

298,512

Other investing activities

—

(500)

(586,501)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

995

114,063

(57,250)

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance
costs

—

Proceeds from initial public offering, net of underwriters' discounts and commissions
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings on release of restricted stock units

—

1,573,200

—

—

41,344

671

480

—

—

(475,015)

Fees paid for revolving credit facility

—

Payment of deferred offering costs and other financing activities

(2,552)

—

(335)

—

1,128,198

(2,216)

150,264

99

(157)

(11,331)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

542,453

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period

145

51,321

135,290

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period

149,784

(9,754)

83,969

93,723

$

677,743

$

135,290

$

83,969

$

4,772

$

1,884

$

9,659

Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $

76,387

$

11,416

$

101,307

649,666

$

122,509

$

71,468

Supplemental cash flow information
Accrued property and equipment

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to consolidated balance sheets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

2,738

1,057

851

25,339

11,724

11,650

677,743

$

135,290

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
Pinterest was incorporated in Delaware in 2008 and is headquartered in San Francisco, California. Pinterest is a
visual discovery engine that people around the globe use to find the inspiration to create a life they love. We generate
revenue by delivering ads on our website and mobile application.
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
We prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States ("GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pinterest, Inc.
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. We have eliminated all intercompany balances and transactions.
Reclassifications
We have reclassified certain amounts in prior periods to conform with current presentation.
Initial Public Offering
On April 23, 2019, we closed our initial public offering ("IPO") in which we issued and sold 75,000,000 shares of Class
A common stock at $19.00 per share. We received net proceeds of $1,368.0 million after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions and before deducting offering costs of $9.8 million. Immediately prior to the completion of
our IPO, all shares of our outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible preferred
stock warrants converted into 308,621,636 shares of Class B common stock on a one-for-one basis, and immediately
thereafter but still prior to the completion of our IPO, all of our outstanding common stock were reclassified into
456,213,756 shares of Class B common stock on a one-for-one basis.
On April 29, 2019, we issued and sold an additional 11,250,000 shares of Class A common stock at $19.00 per share
pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received additional net proceeds of $205.2
million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions.
Upon pricing our IPO, the performance condition for restricted stock units ("RSUs") granted under our 2009 Stock
Plan (the "2009 Plan") was deemed satisfied, and we recorded cumulative share-based compensation expense for
those RSUs for which the service condition had been satisfied at that date. For the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, we recorded total share-based compensation expense of $1,377.8 million, $14.9 million and
$28.8 million, respectively.
Stock Split
On March 28, 2019, we effected a 1-for-3 reverse split of our capital stock. We have adjusted all share and per share
amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes to reflect the reverse stock split.
Use of Estimates
Preparing our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base
these estimates and judgments on historical experience and various other assumptions that we consider reasonable.
GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions in several areas, including the fair values of financial
instruments, assets acquired and liabilities assumed through business combinations, common stock prior to our IPO,
share-based awards, and contingencies as well as the collectability of our accounts receivable, the useful lives of our
intangible assets and property and equipment, the incremental borrowing rate we use to determine our operating
lease liabilities, and revenue recognition, among others. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates and
judgments.
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Segments
We operate as a single operating segment. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer, who
reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about our
revenue, for purposes of making operating decisions, assessing financial performance and allocating resources.
Revenue Recognition
We generate revenue by delivering ads on our website and mobile application. We recognize revenue only after
transferring control of promised goods or services to customers, which occurs when a user clicks on an ad contracted
on a cost per click (“CPC”) basis, views an ad contracted on a cost per thousand impressions (“CPM”) basis or views
a video ad contracted on a cost per view ("CPV") basis. We typically bill customers on a CPC, CPM or CPV basis, and
our payment terms vary by customer type and location. The term between billing and payment due dates is not
significant.
We occasionally offer customers free ad inventory and revenue is recognized only after satisfying our contractual
performance obligations. When contracts with our customers contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate
the overall transaction price, which is the amount of consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
promised goods or services, to each of the distinct performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling
prices. We generally determine standalone selling prices based on the effective price charged per contracted click,
impression or view and we do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations because the original
expected duration of our contracts is generally less than one year.
We record sales commissions in sales and marketing expense as incurred because we would amortize these over a
period of less than one year.
Deferred revenue was not material as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of expenses associated with the delivery of our service, including the cost of
hosting our website and mobile application. Cost of revenue also includes personnel-related expense, including
salaries, benefits and share-based compensation, for employees on our operations teams, payments associated with
partner arrangements, credit card and other transaction processing fees, and allocated facilities and other supporting
overhead costs.
Share-Based Compensation
RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan are subject to both a service condition, which is typically satisfied over four years,
and a performance condition, which was deemed satisfied upon the pricing of our IPO. We did not record any sharebased compensation expense for our RSUs prior to our IPO because the performance condition had not yet been
satisfied. Upon pricing our IPO, we recorded cumulative share-based compensation expense using the accelerated
attribution method for those RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan for which the service condition had been satisfied at
that date. We will record the remaining unrecognized share-based compensation expense over the remainder of the
requisite service period.
RSUs granted under our 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2019 Plan") are subject only to a service condition, which
is typically satisfied over four years. We record share-based compensation expense for these RSUs on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period.
We measure RSUs based on the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date, and we account for
forfeitures as they occur.
Valuation of Common Stock and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants
Until our IPO, we determined the fair value of our common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
using the most observable inputs available to us, including recent sales of our stock as well as income and market
valuation approaches. The income approach estimates the value of our business based on the future cash flows we
expect to generate discounted to their present value using an appropriate discount rate to reflect the risk of achieving

71

PINTEREST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
the expected cash flows. The market approach estimates the value of our business by applying valuation multiples
derived from the observed valuation multiples of comparable public companies to our expected financial results.
We used the Probability Weighted Expected Return Method ("PWERM") to allocate the value of our business among
our outstanding stock and share-based awards. We applied the PWERM by first defining the range of potential future
liquidity outcomes for our business, such as an IPO, and then allocating its value to our outstanding stock and sharebased awards based on the relative probability that each outcome will occur. We used the Option Pricing Method to
allocate the value of our business to our outstanding stock and share-based awards under the non-IPO outcome we
considered within the PWERM.
Applying these valuation and allocation approaches involved the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions that
are highly complex and subjective, such as those regarding our expected future revenue, expenses, and cash flows,
discount rates, valuation multiples, the selection of comparable public companies, and the probability of future events.
Changes in any or all of these estimates and assumptions, or the relationships between these assumptions, impacted
our valuation as of each valuation date and may have a material impact on the valuation of our common stock and
redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants.
Following our IPO, there is an active market for our Class A common stock and the warrants to purchase shares of
our redeemable convertible preferred stock are no longer outstanding so we no longer apply these valuation and
allocation approaches.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for
temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted
statutory tax rates in effect for the years in which we expect the differences to reverse. We establish valuation
allowances to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts we believe it is more likely than not we will be able to realize.
We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax positions when we believe it is more likely than not that the tax position
is sustainable on examination by tax authorities based on its technical merits. We recognize taxes on Global
Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") as a current period expense when incurred.
Advertising Expenses
We record advertising expenses as incurred and include these in sales and marketing in the consolidated statements
of operations. Advertising expenses were $55.0 million, $19.2 million and $13.7 million for the years ended December
31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Marketable Securities
We invest in highly liquid corporate debt securities, U.S. treasury securities, asset-backed securities, U.S. government
agency securities, money market funds and certificates of deposit. We classify marketable investments with stated
maturities of ninety days or less from the date of purchase as cash equivalents and those with stated maturities
greater than ninety days from the date of purchase as marketable securities.
We classify our marketable securities as available-for-sale investments in our current assets because they are
available for use to support current operations. We carry our marketable investments at fair value and record
unrealized gains or losses, net of taxes, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity
(deficit). We determine realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable investments using a specific identification
method and record these and any other-than-temporary impairments in interest expense and other income (expense),
net.
Restricted Cash
Our restricted cash primarily consists of certificates of deposit underlying secured letters of credit issued in connection
with our operating leases. Restrictions typically lapse at the end of the lease term, and we classify restricted cash as
current or non-current based on the remaining term of the restriction.
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Fair Value Measurements
We account for certain assets and liabilities at fair value, which is the amount we believe market participants would
receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction. We categorize these assets and liabilities
into the three levels below based on the degree to which the inputs we use to measure their fair values are
observable in active markets. We use the most observable inputs available to us when measuring fair value.
•

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

•

Level 2: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted
prices for identical assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or inputs that are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data or other means

•

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities

Accounts Receivable and Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Credits
We record accounts receivable at the original invoiced amount. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for
any receivables we may be unable to collect. We estimate uncollectible receivables based on our receivables’ age,
our customers’ credit quality and current economic conditions, among other factors that may affect our customers’
ability to pay. We also maintain an allowance for sales credits, which we determine based on historical credits issued
to customers. We include the allowances for doubtful accounts and sales credits in accounts receivable, net in the
consolidated balance sheets.
Property and Equipment
We carry property and equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation and calculate depreciation using the straightline method over our assets’ estimated useful lives, which are generally:
Property and Equipment

Useful Life

Computer and network equipment

3 years

Furniture and fixtures

4 years

Leasehold improvements

Lesser of estimated useful life or remaining lease term

Leases and Operating Lease Incremental Borrowing Rate
We lease office space under operating leases with expiration dates through 2033. We determine whether an
arrangement constitutes a lease and record lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on our consolidated balance
sheets at lease commencement. We measure lease liabilities based on the present value of the total lease payments
not yet paid discounted based on the more readily determinable of the rate implicit in the lease or our incremental
borrowing rate, which is the estimated rate we would be required to pay for a collateralized borrowing equal to the
total lease payments over the term of the lease. We estimate our incremental borrowing rate based on an analysis of
publicly traded debt securities of companies with credit and financial profiles similar to our own. We measure right-ofuse assets based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted for (i) payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date, (ii) initial direct costs we incur and (iii) tenant incentives under the lease. We begin recognizing
rent expense when the lessor makes the underlying asset available to us, we do not assume renewals or early
terminations unless we are reasonably certain to exercise these options at commencement, and we do not allocate
consideration between lease and non-lease components.
For short-term leases, we record rent expense in our consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis
over the lease term and record variable lease payments as incurred.
Business Combinations
We include the results of operations of businesses that we acquire in our consolidated financial statements beginning
on their respective acquisition dates. We allocate the fair value of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. When the fair value of the purchase consideration
exceeds the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, we record the excess as goodwill.
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Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Intangible Assets
We record definite-lived intangible assets at fair value less accumulated amortization. We calculate amortization using
the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives of up to ten years.
We review our property and equipment and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that an asset’s carrying value may not be recoverable. We measure recoverability by comparing an asset’s
carrying value to the future undiscounted cash flows that we expect it to generate. If this test indicates that the asset’s
carrying value is not recoverable, we record an impairment charge to reduce the asset’s carrying value to its fair
value. We did not record material property and equipment or intangible asset impairments during the periods
presented.
We review goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if current circumstances or events indicate that
the fair value of our single reporting unit may be less than its carrying value. We did not record any goodwill
impairment during the periods presented.
Website Development Costs
We capitalize costs to develop our website and mobile application when preliminary development efforts are
successfully completed, management has authorized and committed project funding, and it is probable that the
project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. Due to the iterative process by which we perform
upgrades and the relatively short duration of our development projects, development costs meeting our capitalization
criteria were not material during the periods presented.
Loss Contingencies
We are involved in various lawsuits, claims and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. We record a
liability for these when we believe it is probable that we have incurred a loss and can reasonably estimate the loss.
We regularly evaluate current information to determine whether we should adjust a recorded liability or record a new
one.
Foreign Currency
The functional currency of our international subsidiaries is generally their local currency. We translate these
subsidiaries’ financial statements into U.S. dollars using month-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and
average exchange rates for revenue and costs and expenses. We record translation gains and losses in accumulated
other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity (deficit). We record foreign exchange gains and losses in interest
expense and other income (expense), net. Our net foreign exchange gains and losses were not material for the
periods presented.
Concentration of Business Risk
We have an agreement with Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) to provide the cloud computing infrastructure we use to
host our website, mobile application and many of the internal tools we use to operate our business. We are currently
required to maintain a substantial majority of our monthly usage of certain compute, storage, data transfer and other
services on AWS. Any transition of the cloud services currently provided by AWS to another cloud services provider
would be difficult to implement and would cause us to incur significant time and expense.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that may potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of cash, cash
equivalents, marketable securities and restricted cash. Our investment policy is meant to preserve capital and
maintain liquidity. The policy limits our marketable investments to investment-grade securities and limits our credit
exposure by limiting our concentration in any one corporate issuer or sector and by establishing a minimum credit
rating for marketable investments we purchase. Although we deposit cash and marketable investments with multiple
financial institutions, our deposits may exceed insurable limits.
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One customer accounted for 10% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 and another accounted for
10% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017. No customer accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Our accounts receivable are generally unsecured. We monitor our customers’ credit quality on an ongoing basis and
maintain reserves for estimated credit losses. Bad debt expense was not material for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for
financial assets not held at fair value. ASU 2016-13 replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model with a
forward-looking expected credit loss model which will result in earlier recognition of credit losses. We will adopt ASU
2016-13 effective January 1, 2020 and do not expect adoption to materially affect our consolidated financial
statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for
Income Taxes, which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general
principles for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 will be effective for us beginning January 1, 2021, and early adoption is
permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our consolidated financial statements.
2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2019
Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash

$

323,194

Money market funds

214,413

Commercial paper

105,359
3,792

Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit

$

—

$

—

—

$

323,194

—

214,413

1

(6)

105,354

—

(1)

3,791

2,914

—

—

649,672

1

(7)

649,666

Corporate bonds

449,496

981

(44)

450,433

U.S. treasury securities

201,561

88

(9)

201,640

Commercial paper

196,304

31

(7)

196,328

Asset-backed securities

114,425

188

(14)

114,599

Total cash and cash equivalents

2,914

Marketable securities:

Certificates of deposit
Total marketable securities
Total

$

75

100,647

38

(6)

100,679

1,062,433

1,326

(80)

1,063,679

(87) $

1,713,345

1,712,105

$

1,327

$
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December 31, 2018
Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash

$

Money market funds
Commercial paper
Total cash and cash equivalents

48,238

$

—

$

—

$

48,238

785

—

—

785

73,492

—

(6)

73,486

122,515

—

(6)

122,509

204,826

115

(771)

204,170

36,003

—

(82)

35,921

Marketable securities:
Corporate bonds
U.S. treasury securities
Commercial paper
Asset-backed securities
Certificates of deposit
Total marketable securities
Total

90,207

4

(15)

90,196

107,382

6

(730)

106,658

68,343

26

(10)

68,359

(1,608)

505,304

(1,614) $

627,813

506,761
$

629,276

151
$

151

$

Gross unrealized losses for marketable securities that had been in an unrealized loss position for greater than 12
consecutive months were not material as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. We evaluated all available evidence and
concluded that our marketable securities are not other than temporarily impaired as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
The fair value of our marketable securities by contractual maturity is as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2019
Due in one year or less

$

768,347

$

1,063,679

Due after one to five years

295,332

Total

Net realized gains and losses from sales of available-for-sale securities were not material for any period presented.
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3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair values of the financial instruments we measure at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (in
thousands):
December 31, 2019
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds

$

214,413

$

—

$

—

$

214,413

Commercial paper

—

105,354

—

105,354

Corporate bonds

—

3,791

—

3,791

Certificates of deposit

—

2,914

—

2,914

—

450,433

—

450,433

201,640

—

—

201,640

Commercial paper

—

196,328

—

196,328

Asset-backed securities

—

114,599

—

114,599

Certificates of deposit

—

100,679

—

100,679

—

2,738

—

2,738

Marketable securities:
Corporate bonds
U.S. treasury securities

Prepaid expenses and other current assets:
Certificates of deposit
Restricted cash:
Certificates of deposit

$

—

$

25,339

$

—

$

25,339

December 31, 2018
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds

$

Commercial paper

785

$

—

$

—

$

785

—

73,486

—

73,486

Marketable securities:
Corporate bonds

—

204,170

—

204,170

35,921

—

—

35,921

Commercial paper

—

90,196

—

90,196

Asset-backed securities

—

106,658

—

106,658

Certificates of deposit

—

68,359

—

68,359

—

1,057

—

1,057

—

11,724

—

11,724

U.S. treasury securities

Prepaid expenses and other current assets:
Certificates of deposit
Restricted cash:
Certificates of deposit
Other liabilities:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants

$

77

—

$

—

$

4,934

$

4,934
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We classify our marketable securities within Level 1 or Level 2 because we determine their fair values using quoted
market prices or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing market observable inputs.
We classify our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants within Level 3 because we determine their fair values
using significant unobservable inputs, including the fair value of our redeemable convertible preferred stock, which we
determine in the same manner as our common stock. Refer to our significant accounting policies in Note 1 for
additional information.
We record changes in the fair value of our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants in interest expense and
other income (expense), net. These amounts were not material for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017.
4. Other Balance Sheet Components
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2019
Leasehold improvements

$

2018

109,807

$

93,843

Furniture and fixtures

22,353

18,529

Computer and network equipment

22,963

19,606

155,123

131,978

(73,270)

(51,249)

Total property and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Construction in progress

10,139

Property and equipment, net

$

91,992

783
$

81,512

Depreciation expense was $26.3 million, $20.1 million and $14.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2019
Accrued hosting expenses

$

27,322

2018
$

19,288

Accrued compensation

26,574

18,192

Operating lease liabilities

46,527

20,538

Other accrued expenses

41,400

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net
Goodwill was unchanged during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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Intangible assets, net consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2019
Gross Carrying
Amount
Acquired patents

$

9,037

$

13,422

Acquired technology and other intangibles
Total intangible assets, net

Accumulated
Amortization
$

(1,370) $

$

(5,751) $

4,385

WeightedAverage Useful
(1)
Life

Net Carrying
Amount
7,667

9.1 years

4

1.5 years

(4,381)

7,671

December 31, 2018
Gross Carrying
Amount
Acquired patents

$

Acquired technology and other intangibles
Total intangible assets, net
(1)

7,038

Accumulated
Amortization
$

4,385
$

11,423

(465) $
(3,792)

$

(4,257) $

Net Carrying
Amount

WeightedAverage Useful
(1)
Life

6,573

9.4 years

593

1.5 years

7,166

Based on the weighted-average useful life established as of acquisition date.

Amortization expense was $1.5 million, $0.7 million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively. Estimated future amortization expense as of December 31, 2019, is as follows (in thousands):
Intangible Asset
Amortization
2020

$

1,013

2021

1,009

2022

1,009

2023

1,009

2024

1,009

Thereafter

2,622

Total

$

79

7,671
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6. Commitments and Contingencies
As of December 31, 2019, our non-cancelable contractual commitments are as follows (in thousands):
Purchase
Commitments
2020

$

2021

—

Operating
Leases
$

56,807

Total
Commitments
$

56,807

—

47,623

2022

—

35,622

35,622

2023

171,316

14,953

186,269

2024

—

11,942

11,942

Thereafter

—

Total

$

171,316

47,623

109,810
$

276,757

109,810
$

448,073

Purchase Commitments
In May 2017, we amended the enterprise agreement governing our use of cloud computing infrastructure provided by
AWS with an addendum. Under the agreement, as amended by the addendum, we are currently required to purchase
at least $750.0 million (the contract commitment) of cloud services from AWS through July 2023 and were required to
purchase at least $125.0 million (the initial commitment) of the contract commitment through June 2018. Except in
limited circumstances, such as termination due to acquisition of us by another cloud services provider (which would
result in an obligation to pay liquidated damages under the addendum, we are required to pay the difference if we fail
to meet either commitment, but we are not otherwise subject to annual purchase commitments during the remainder
of the six-year term of the addendum. As of December 31, 2019, we have fulfilled our initial commitment and our
remaining contract commitment is $171.3 million. We expect to meet our remaining commitment.
Operating Leases
In March 2019, we entered into a lease for approximately 490,000 square feet of office space to be constructed near
our current headquarters campus in San Francisco, California. The estimated commencement and expiration dates
are in 2022 and 2033, respectively. We may terminate the lease prior to commencement if certain contingencies are
not satisfied. We will be subject to total non-cancelable minimum lease payments of approximately $420.0 million,
which is excluded from the table above, if these contingencies are met, and if the lease commences we will record a
right-of-use asset and related lease liability of no more than that amount at lease commencement using our
incremental borrowing rate at that date.
Legal Matters
We are involved in various lawsuits, claims and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. While the
results of legal matters are inherently uncertain, we do not believe the ultimate resolution of these matters, either
individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.
Revolving Credit Facility
In November 2018, we entered into a five-year $500.0 million revolving credit facility with an accordion option which, if
exercised, would allow us to increase the aggregate commitments by the greater of $100.0 million and 10% of our
consolidated total assets, provided we are able to secure additional lender commitments and satisfy certain other
conditions. Interest on any borrowings under the revolving credit facility accrues at either LIBOR plus 1.50% or at an
alternative base rate plus 0.50%, at our election, and we are required to pay an annual commitment fee that accrues
at 0.15% per annum on the unused portion of the aggregate commitments under the revolving credit facility.
The revolving credit facility also allows us to issue letters of credit, which reduce the amount we can borrow. We are
required to pay a fee that accrues at 1.50% per annum on the average aggregate daily maximum amount available to
be drawn under any outstanding letters of credit.
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The revolving credit facility contains customary conditions to borrowing, events of default and covenants, including
covenants that restrict our ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make distributions to holders of our stock or the
stock of our subsidiaries, make investments or engage in transactions with our affiliates. The revolving credit facility
also contains two financial maintenance covenants: a consolidated total assets covenant and a minimum liquidity
balance of $350.0 million, which includes any available borrowing capacity. The obligations under the revolving credit
facility are secured by liens on substantially all of our domestic assets, including certain domestic intellectual property
assets.
Our total borrowing capacity under the revolving credit facility is $500.0 million as of December 31, 2019. We have not
issued any letters of credit against the revolving credit facility and are in compliance with all covenants under the
revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2019.
Letters of Credit
We had $25.5 million and $10.6 million of secured letters of credit outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. These primarily relate to our office space leases and are fully collateralized by certificates of deposit
which we record in prepaid expenses and other current assets or restricted cash in our consolidated balance sheets
based on the term of the remaining restriction.
7. Leases
We have entered into various non-cancelable office space operating leases with original lease periods expiring
between 2020 and 2033. These do not contain material variable rent payments, residual value guarantees, covenants
or other restrictions. Operating lease costs for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, are as follows (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Lease cost:
Operating lease cost

$

Short-term lease cost

40,257

$

3,456

Total

$

43,713

27,469

$

16,632

2,765
$

30,234

2,739
$

19,371

The weighted-average remaining term of our operating leases was 8.1 years and 10.7 years and the weightedaverage discount rate used to measure the present value of our operating lease liabilities was 4.6% and 5.1% as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Maturities of our operating lease liabilities, which do not include short-term leases, as of December 31, 2019, are as
follows (in thousands):
Operating Leases
2020

$

55,700

2021

47,623

2022

35,622

2023

14,953

2024

11,942

Thereafter

109,810

Total lease payments

275,650

Less imputed interest

(55,730)

Total operating lease liabilities

$

219,920

Cash payments included in the measurement of our operating lease liabilities were $38.4 million, $26.2 million and
$15.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

81

PINTEREST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of December 31, 2019, we have $420.0 million of undiscounted future payments under an operating lease that has
not yet commenced, which are excluded from the table above. See Note 6 for additional information. As of December
31, 2019, we have not entered into any other material leases that have not yet commenced.
8. Share-Based Compensation
Equity Incentive Plan
In June 2009, our board of directors adopted and approved our 2009 Plan, which provides for the issuance of stock
options, restricted stock and RSUs to qualified employees, directors and consultants. Stock options granted under our
2009 Stock Plan have a maximum life of 10 years and an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market value of
our common stock on the date of grant. RSUs granted under our 2009 Plan have a maximum life of seven years. No
shares of our common stock were reserved for future issuance under our 2009 Plan as of December 31, 2019.
Our 2019 Plan became effective upon closing of our IPO and succeeds our 2009 Plan. Our 2019 Plan provides for the
issuance of stock options, restricted stock, RSUs and other equity- or cash-based awards to qualified employees,
directors and consultants. Stock options granted under our 2019 Plan have a maximum life of 10 years and an
exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. 89,911,091
shares of our Class A common stock were reserved for future issuance under our 2019 Plan as of December 31,
2019.
The number of shares of our Class A common stock available for issuance under the 2019 Plan will be increased by
the number of shares of our Class B common stock subject to awards outstanding under our 2009 Plan as of the
closing of our IPO that would, but for the terms of the 2019 Plan, have returned to the share reserves of the 2009 Plan
pursuant to the terms of such awards, including as the result of forfeiture, repurchase, expiration or retention by us in
order to satisfy an award’s exercise price or tax withholding obligations. In addition, the number of shares of our
Class A common stock reserved for issuance under our 2019 Plan will automatically increase on the first day of each
fiscal year, commencing on January 1, 2020 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2029, in an amount equal to
5% of the total number of shares of our Class A common stock and our Class B common stock outstanding on the last
day of the calendar month before the date of each automatic increase, or a lesser number of shares determined by
our board of directors.
Stock Option Activity
Stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2019, was as follows (in thousands, except per share
amounts):
Stock Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage Exercise
Price

Shares

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
(1)
Value

(in years)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Exercised
Forfeited

76,635 $

2.22

(19,650)

2.10

4.5

$

1,285,338

(19)

4.06

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019

56,966 $

2.25

3.5

$

933,299

Exercisable as of December 31, 2019

56,943 $

2.26

3.5

$

932,968

(1)

We calculate intrinsic value based on the difference between the exercise price of in-the-money-stock options and the fair value of our
common stock as of the respective balance sheet date.

The total grant-date fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
was $2.2 million, $18.6 million and $37.1 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, was $425.1 million, $5.9 million and $3.7 million,
respectively.
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Restricted Stock Unit Activity
RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2019, was as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Restricted Stock Units Outstanding
Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Shares
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018

77,882 $

17.79

36,526

20.91

Released

(50,161)

17.53

Forfeited

(7,456)

16.55

56,791 $

20.19

Granted

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019

Share-Based Compensation
Share-based compensation expense during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, was as follows (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Cost of revenue

$

31,758

2018
$

2017
83

$

372

Research and development

867,191

13,155

19,811

Sales and marketing

239,315

784

6,267

General and administrative

239,517

Total share-based compensation

$

1,377,781

837
$

14,859

2,354
$

28,804

As of December 31, 2019, we had $635.1 million of unrecognized share-based compensation expense, which we
expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.
9. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Immediately prior to the completion of our IPO, all shares of our outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock
converted into 308,372,983 shares of Class B common stock on a one-for-one basis. There were no shares of
redeemable convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019.
Prior to the completion of our IPO, the holders of our redeemable convertible preferred stock had the following
preferences and privileges:
Dividends
The holders of Seed 1, Seed 2, Series A-1, Series A-2, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, Series G and
Series H redeemable convertible preferred stock were entitled to receive non-cumulative dividends, out of any assets
legally available therefore, prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of any dividend on the common stock
at the rate of $0.00096, $0.00216, $0.00924, $0.01356, $0.057408, $0.373368, $0.518838, $0.6974736, $0.8152884,
$1.7229822 and $1.7229822 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, subdivisions,
recapitalizations, or the like) per annum on each outstanding share, when, as, and if declared by the board of
directors. We have never declared or paid a dividend.
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Liquidation Preferences
In the event of any deemed liquidation event or a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of
Pinterest, the holders of each series of redeemable convertible preferred stock then outstanding would have been
entitled to be paid out our assets available for distribution to stockholders, before any payment made to the holders of
common stock, an amount per share equal to the greater of (a) the original issue price for such series of redeemable
convertible preferred stock, plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon, or (b) such amount per share as would
have been payable had such shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock been converted into common stock
immediately prior to such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of Pinterest. The original purchase price of Seed 1,
Seed 2, Series A-1, Series A-2, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, Series G and Series H redeemable
convertible preferred stock was $0.012, $0.02724, $0.11568, $0.169968, $0.7175796, $4.667136, $6.48546,
$8.71842, $10.191108, $21.537276 and $21.537276 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
combinations, subdivisions, recapitalizations, or the like).
Unless the holders of our redeemable convertible preferred stock elected otherwise, a deemed liquidation would have
occurred if Pinterest was merged or consolidated into another company in which the stockholders of Pinterest owned
less than a majority of the voting stock of the surviving company, or if substantially all of our assets were sold,
transferred, leased or exclusively licensed.
If, upon any such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of Pinterest, our assets available for distribution to
stockholders had been insufficient to pay the holders of shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock the full
amount to which they were entitled, the holders of shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock would have
shared ratably in any distribution of the assets available for distribution in proportion to the respective amounts that
would have otherwise been payable in respect of the shares held by them upon such distribution if all amounts
payable on the shares were paid in full.
10. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
We present net loss per share attributable to common stockholders in conformity with the two-class method required
for participating securities, and we consider all series of our redeemable convertible preferred stock participating
securities. We have not allocated net loss attributable to common stockholders to our redeemable convertible
preferred stock because the holders of our redeemable convertible preferred stock are not contractually obligated to
share in our losses.
We calculate basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders by dividing net loss attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net
loss per share attributable to common stockholders gives effect to all potential shares of common stock, including
common stock issuable upon conversion of our redeemable convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible
preferred stock warrants, stock options, RSUs and common stock warrants to the extent these are dilutive.
We calculated basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders as follows (in thousands,
except per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Class A

Class B

2018

2017

Common

Common

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$

(459,412) $

(901,959) $

(62,974) $

(130,044)

Denominator:
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted
$

84

141,894
(3.24) $

278,579
(3.24) $

127,091
(0.50) $

126,562
(1.03)
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Basic net loss per share is the same as diluted net loss per share because we reported net losses for all periods
presented. We excluded the following weighted-average potential shares of common stock from our calculation of
diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because these would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

95,469

308,373

305,409

Outstanding stock options

72,999

76,911

78,830

Unvested restricted stock units

69,800

68,795

48,238

Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants

77

158

—

Common stock warrants

—

96

167

Shares subject to repurchase

—

—

40

238,345

454,333

432,684

Total

11. Income Taxes
The components of loss before provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
United States

$

Foreign

2018

(1,266,677) $
(94,162)

Loss before provision for income taxes

$

(1,360,839) $

2017

(31,641) $

(90,906)

(30,923)

(38,827)

(62,564) $

(129,733)

Provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Current:
Federal

$

State
Foreign
Total current tax expense

—

$

—

$

—

—

—

1,677

500

390

—

1,677

500

390

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred tax expense (benefit)

(555)

4

(23)

(76)

4

4

(514)

(98)

(60)

(1,145)

Provision for income taxes

$

532

(90)
$

410

(79)
$

311

The difference between income taxes computed at the statutory federal income tax rate and the provision for income
taxes is attributable to the following (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,
2019
Tax at U.S. statutory rate

$

State income taxes, net of benefit

2018

(285,776) $
(77)

Foreign losses not benefited
Permanent book/tax differences

2017

(13,138) $
4

4

20,932

6,891

13,518

2,453

1,967

127

Share-based compensation

(84,366)

Change in valuation allowance

422,315

15,952

—

—

U.S corporate tax rate reduction
Tax credits

(864)

(74,399)

Other
$

532

646
(50,017)
86,063

(10,460)

(550)
Provision for income taxes

(44,109)

(5,923)

58
$

410

2
$

311

Due to our history of net operating losses and the full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, our
provision for income taxes primarily relates to foreign taxes for the periods presented.
Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2019

2018

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards

$

Research tax credits
Reserves, accruals, and other
Lease obligation
Share-based compensation
Total deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance

416,709

$

120,456

167,489

53,459

15,960

5,379

52,734

41,808

133,067

36,397

785,959

257,499

(737,003)

(216,866)

48,956

40,633

(46,398)

(38,417)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
Prepaid expenses
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$

(1,862)

(2,031)

(48,260)

(40,448)

696

$

185

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act). The Tax Act reduced the U.S. statutory corporate tax rate to 21%, effective January 1,
2018. Consequently, we recorded a decrease to our federal deferred tax assets of $86.1 million, which was fully offset
by a reduction in our valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2017.
In December 2019, we completed an intra-entity asset transfer of certain of our intellectual property rights to an Irish
subsidiary where our international business is headquartered. The transfer resulted in a step-up in the tax basis of the
transferred intellectual property rights and a correlated increase in foreign deferred tax assets. As of December 31,
2019, we believe it is more likely than not that these additional foreign deferred tax assets will not be realized and,
therefore, are offset by a full valuation allowance.
Due to our history of losses we believe it is more likely than not that our U.S. deferred tax assets will not be realized
as of December 31, 2019. Accordingly, we have established a full valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets.
Our valuation allowance increased by $520.1 million and $25.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively, primarily due to U.S. federal and state tax losses and credits incurred during the period.
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As of December 31, 2019, we had federal, California and other state net operating loss carryforwards of $1,880.8
million, $245.2 million and $599.7 million, respectively. If not utilized, these will begin to expire in 2028, 2028 and
2026, respectively. Utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations due to the
ownership change limitations provided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Our
net operating loss carryforwards could expire before utilization if subject to annual limitations.
As of December 31, 2019, we had federal and California research and development credit carryforwards of $151.4
million and $111.3 million, respectively. If not utilized, our federal carryforwards will begin to expire in 2030. Our
California carryforwards do not expire.
Changes in gross unrecognized tax benefits were as follows (in thousands):
Gross Unrecognized
Tax Benefits
Balance as of December 31, 2017

$

30,167

$

38,550

Increases for tax positions of current year

8,383

Balance as of December 31, 2018
Decreases for tax positions of prior years

(50)

Increases for tax positions of current year

90,685

Balance as of December 31, 2019

$

129,185

On June 7, 2019, a three-judge panel from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit overturned the U.S. Tax
Court's decision in Altera Corp. v. Commissioner and upheld the portion of the Treasury regulations under Section 482
of the Internal Revenue Code that requires related parties in a cost-sharing arrangement to share expenses related to
share-based compensation. As a result of this decision, our gross unrecognized tax benefits increased to reflect the
impact of including share-based compensation in cost-sharing arrangements. On July 22, 2019, Altera filed a petition
for a rehearing before the full Ninth Circuit. On November 12th, the Ninth Circuit Court denied Altera’s request for
rehearing. Altera may subsequently appeal to the Supreme Court. We will continue to monitor future developments
and their potential effects on our consolidated financial statements.
Recognizing the $129.2 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits we had as of December 31, 2019 would not affect
our effective tax rate as their recognition would be offset by the reversal of related deferred tax assets, which are
subject to a full valuation allowance. We do not expect our gross unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly
within the next 12 months. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in provision for
income taxes. Accrued interest and penalties are not material as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
We are subject to taxation in the U.S. and various other state and foreign jurisdictions. As we have net operating loss
carry forwards for U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, the statute of limitations is open for all tax years. For material
foreign jurisdictions, the tax years open to examination include the years 2014 and forward.
We have not recognized deferred taxes for the difference between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of
our investment in our foreign subsidiaries because we have the ability and intent to maintain our investments for the
foreseeable future.
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12. Geographical Information
Revenue disaggregated by geography based on our customers’ billing addresses is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
United States

$

1,010,186

$

1,142,761

(1)

International

697,170

$

755,932

132,575

Total revenue
(1)

2018
$

2017
$

443,842

$

472,852

58,762

29,010

No individual country other than the United States exceeded 10% of our total revenue for any period presented.

Property and equipment, net and operating lease right-of-use assets by geography is as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2019
United States

$

(1)

International

2018
$

13,480

Total property and equipment, net and operating lease right-of-use assets
(1)

266,763

$

280,243

222,188
4,527

$

226,715

No individual country other than the United States exceeded 10% of our total property and equipment, net and operating lease right-of-use
assets for any period presented.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer (CEO) and chief financial officer (CFO), has
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that as of December 31,
2019, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are
required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and
reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC),
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d)
under the Exchange Act) during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting,
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints
and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections titled “Proposal 1 - Election of
Directors” and “Other Matters” that will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) within 120 days for the year ended
December 31, 2019.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section titled “Proposal 3 – Advisory Vote on
Say-on-Pay Frequency” that will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section titled “Other Matters” that will be
included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within
120 days for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections titled “Proposal 1 – Election of
Directors” and “Other Matters” that will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections titled “Proposal 2 – Ratification of
Selection of Independent Auditor” that will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under “Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
2. Financial Statement Schedules
The financial statement schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the information
required is presented in the financial statements and notes thereto under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”
3. Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the following Exhibit Index are filed, furnished, or incorporated by reference as part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of the Company.

8-K

001-38872

3.2

April 23, 2019

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.

8-K

001-38872

3.3

April 23, 2019

4.1

Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement
among the Company and certain holders of its
capital stock, dated as of June 2, 2017.

S-1

333-230458

4.2

March 22, 2019

4.2

Description of our Common Stock.

10-K

10.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the
Company and each of its directors and executive
officers.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.1

April 8, 2019

10.2+

Form of Executive Severance & Change in Control
Agreement.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.14

April 8, 2019

10.3

Revolving Credit Agreement, by and among the
Company, the Guarantors and JP Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, dated as of
November 15, 2018.

S-1

333-230458

10.2

March 22, 2019

10.4+

Employment Agreement by and between Cold Brew
Labs Inc. and Benjamin Silbermann, dated as of
July 14, 2009.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.3

March 29, 2019

10.5+

Confidential Information and Invention Assignment
Agreement by and between Cold Brew Labs Inc.
and Benjamin Silbermann, dated as of October 28,
2008.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.4

March 29, 2019

10.6+

Offer Letter and Confidential Agreement and
Invention Assignment Agreement by and between
the Company and Todd Morgenfeld, dated as of
September 19, 2016.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.5

March 29, 2019

10.7+

Offer Letter and Confidential Agreement and
Invention Assignment Agreement by and between
the Company and Lawrence Ripsher, dated as of
April 11, 2017.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.6

March 29, 2019

10.8+

Pinterest, Inc. 2009 Stock Plan, as amended.

S-1

333-230458

10.7

March 22, 2019

10.9+

Pinterest, Inc. 2009 Stock Plan Notice of Stock
Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement by and
between the Company and Benjamin Silbermann,
dated as of April 25, 2013.

S-1

333-230458

10.8

March 22, 2019
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Filed
Herewith

X

10.10+

Form of Pinterest, Inc. 2009 Stock Plan Restricted
Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement

S-1

333-230458

10.9

March 22, 2019

10.11+

Acceleration Addendum to Pinterest, Inc. 2009 Stock
Plan Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and
Agreement by and between the Company and Todd
Morgenfeld, dated as of December 20, 2017.

S-1

333-230458

10.10

March 22, 2019

10.12+

Pinterest, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.11

March 29, 2019

10.13+

Form of Pinterest, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Agreement.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.12

April 8, 2019

10.14+

Form of Pinterest, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Grant Notice and Agreement.

10-K

10.15+

Form of Pinterest, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
Stock Option Grant Notice and Agreement.

10-K

10.16+

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.13

April 8, 2019

10.17+

Form of Executive Severance & Change in Control
Agreement.

S-1/A

333-230458

10.14

April 8, 2019

10.18+

Pinterest, Inc. 2009 Stock Plan Notice of Stock
Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement.

S-8

333-230999

4.3

April 23, 2019

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of Pinterest, Inc.

X

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm.

X

24.1

Power of Attorney.

X

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant
to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1

Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance
document does not appear in the Interactive Data
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document)

X

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document

X

101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document

X

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document

X

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document

X

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document

X

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

X

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

PINTEREST, INC.
Date: February 6, 2020

By: /s/ Todd Morgenfeld
Todd Morgenfeld
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY
The undersigned directors and officers of Pinterest, Inc. hereby constitute and appoint Benjamin Silbermann,
Todd Morgenfeld and Christine Flores, and each of them, any of whom may act without joinder of the other, the
individual’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for the
person and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign this Registration Statement and any
or all amendments, including post-effective amendments to the Registration Statement, including a prospectus or an
amended prospectus therein and any Registration Statement for the same offering that is to be effective upon filing
pursuant to Rule 462 under the Securities Act, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents
in connection therewith to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact
and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact as agents or any of them, or his or her substitute
or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name
/s/ Benjamin Silbermann

Title

Date
February 6, 2020

Benjamin Silbermann

Chairman, Co-Founder, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jeffrey Jordan

Director

February 6, 2020

Director

February 6, 2020

Director

February 6, 2020

Director

February 6, 2020

Jeffrey Jordan
/s/ Leslie J. Kilgore
Leslie J. Kilgore
/s/ Jeremy S. Levine
Jeremy S. Levine
/s/ Evan Sharp
Evan Sharp
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Name

Title

Date

/s/ Michelle Wilson
Michelle Wilson

Director

February 6, 2020

/s/ Fredric G. Reynolds
Fredric G. Reynolds

Director

February 6, 2020

/s/ Todd Morgenfeld
Todd Morgenfeld

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

February 6, 2020

/s/ Tse Li (Lily) Yang
Tse Li (Lily) Yang

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

February 6, 2020

94

BR72352L-0420-COMBO

